Detrital zircon U-Pb fingerprinting of the Appalachian signature: Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing from highlands to deep-sea fans and the persistence of recycled Appalachian-affiliated zircons

By © 2022

Isaac J. Allred

Submitted to the graduate degree program in the Department of Geology and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chair: Dr. Michael D. Blum

Dr. Greg A. Ludvigson

Dr. Noah M. McLean

Dr. Michael H. Taylor

Dr. William C. Johnson

Date Defended: 4 May 2022

The dissertation committee for Isaac J. Allred certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Detrital zircon U-Pb fingerprinting of the Appalachian signature: Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing from highlands to deep-sea fans and the persistence of recycled Appalachian-affiliated zircons

Chair: Dr. Michael D. Blum

Date Approved: 4 May 2022

Abstract

Carboniferous sediment dispersal from the Appalachian orogenic system (eastern United States) has become a topic of widespread interest. However, the actual pathways for continental-scale, east-to-west sediment transfer have not been documented. This study presents detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb ages and Hf isotopic values from the Lower Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group, Johns Valley Shale, and Pottsville Formation of the Ouachita and Black Warrior Basins and DZ U-Pb ages from the Caseyville Formation of the Illinois Basin to delineate the likely sediment-routing systems within the broader context of sediment dispersal across Laurentia.

We interpret results to suggest Alleghenian-sourced sediment and water were routed through at least two paleovalleys within the Appalachian foreland-basin foredeep and backbulge depozones to the Ouachita Basin terminal sink. Clearly circumscribed, southward- or southwestwardoriented paleodrainage areas provide a template of the Appalachian foreland-basin system, and as such the central and southern Appalachians were an unlikely source for the Appalachian signature observed in the western United States at this time. Collectively, the Ouachita Basin represents a terminal sink for sediments derived from much of the eastern and central United States.

After the closure of the Ouachita Basin and the culmination of the Alleghenian orogen, the DZ U-Pb signature of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system, which includes the Grenville (1250–950 Ma) and Appalachian (500–275 Ma) age groups, dominates the Phanerozoic record of North America. An east-to-west, Pennsylvanian to modern, comparison of DZ samples across North America demonstrates a persistent Appalachian signature for samples, including a recycled Appalachian signature in the West. The presence of this Appalachian signature in western Laurentia is clear, but the actual sediment-routing systems responsible for transferring this signal to the West during the Mississippian through early Triassic remain poorly defined. Lower Pennsylvanian deposits proximal to the Appalachian orogen, composed of 50–75% Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ, represent the primary Appalachian signature, but it is unlikely this sediment was routed directly from the central and southern Appalachians to western Laurentia. Instead, this signal may have been derived from the northern Appalachians or perhaps the Ellesmerian orogen. By the Triassic, DZ samples in the West display a primary Appalachian signature and represent rivers sourced from the Ouachita-Marathon highlands.

DZ sampled from Mesozoic fluvial sandstones, such as along the Front Range, indicate drainage reversal due to the rise of the Western Cordillera; yet a persistent Appalachian signature exists in these western-sourced, eastward-flowing systems—a phenomenon that continues to the present. None of these systems are interpreted to be sourced by primary Appalachian or Grenville terranes, suggesting a recycled Appalachian signature. These western samples frequently are composed of >40% Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ, accompanied by western age groups (e.g., Yavapai-Mazatzal and Western Cordillera). Although western drainage reorganization reversed the trajectory of Appalachian-sourced sediment routing, WC DZ are typically dwarfed by the recycled Appalachian signal and underrepresented across the continent. The persistent Appalachian signature, originally sourced by the concatenation of two supercontinent orogen terranes, continues to be the dominant contributor in the DZ record of North America.

Acknowledgments

I thank the University of Kansas (KU) Madison and Lila Self Graduate Fellowship (SGF) for financial and professional development support during my Ph.D. program. Because of the generosity of Madison and Lila Self, I received vital support for my family, including two children born in Lawrence, Kansas. I also acknowledge the remarkable SGF Professional Development Award, which facilitated attendance at conferences and meetings in Houston, Laramie, Washington (D.C.), New Orleans, Salt Lake City, Phoenix, and Hamilton (New Zealand). I am grateful for the remarkable SGF coverage of KU tuition and fees, which enabled world-class training in locations as varied as the Andes of Argentina, the Grand Canyon, and the Bahamas. I want to thank the SGF Director, Dr. Stefani Buchwitz, for her support during my experience at the University of Kansas.

I thank Dr. Michael Blum for his mentorship. He is a gifted teacher, and I am inspired by his empirically based approach to teaching. I have been fortunate to have many good professors over the years, but few excelled at teaching like Dr. Blum. I also admire Dr. Blum's writing and I am grateful that my writing could also improve under his guidance. I acknowledge Dr. Blum's role during important field training in Arkansas, Colorado, Utah, Mississippi, and Louisiana. Although my first project did not work out, I am grateful that Dr. Blum accompanied me to Nova Scotia and Newfoundland for preliminary research.

I am grateful for the U.S. Department of Education Foreign Language and Area Studies (FLAS, Chinese) Fellowship that paid for tuition during the 2020-2021 academic year. In like manner, I greatly appreciate significant financial support from the KU Department of Geology, including scholarships during the final year of my Ph.D., as well as research awards and travel awards. I also thank the Indiana Geological and Water Survey for support during manuscript preparation.

My wife, Andrea, is phenomenal. She has been the primary caretaker of our children during my Ph.D. program. She carried our family through an arduous pandemic including periods of isolation, loneliness, and fatigue, which all were compounded by young children bottled up in a small apartment. Her selflessness is noted, her longsuffering admired, and her patience appreciated. Thank you so much, Andrea.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	v
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin (southeastern U.S.) and	nd
barriers to transcontinental sediment transport sourced from the Appalachian orogen based on	L
detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis	2
Abstract	3
Introduction	5
Geological Background	6
General Stratigraphic Framework	8
Previous Work on Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing	9
Methods	. 12
Detrital Zircon U-Pb Analysis	. 12
Detrital Zircon Hf Isotopic Analysis	. 14
Kernel Density Estimate Visualization and Multi-Dimensional Scaling Analysis	. 15
Results	. 16
DZ U-Pb Age Distributions	. 16
Youngest DZ U-Pb Ages from Jackfork Group Samples	. 17
Detrital Zircon Hf Isotopic Data	. 18
Discussion	. 19
Provenance of Pennsylvanian Ouachita Basin Deepwater Deposits	. 19
Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing	. 23
Comparison with DZ U-Pb Data from Pennsylvanian Stratigraphic Units of Eastern	
Laurentia	. 25
Prospects for Large-Scale East-to-West Transcontinental Sediment Transfer	. 27
Conclusion	. 30
Acknowledgements	. 31
Figures	. 32
Tables	. 47
References	. 49
Supplemental Material	. 67
Chapter 3: Demarcation of Early Pennsylvanian paleovalleys within depozones of the	
Appalachian foreland-basin system based on detrital-zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis	. 68
Abstract	. 69
Introduction	. 71
Tectonic Template and Previous Work	. 72
Previous Work on Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing	. 73
The Caseyville Formation of the Illinois Basin	. 75
Hf Isotopes from the Eastern Interior	. 77
The Pottsville Formation of the Black Warrior Basin	. 77
Methods	. 79

DZ U-Pb and Hf Analysis	
Petrographic Analysis	
Results	
Caseyville Formation DZ U-Pb Age Distributions	
Pottsville Formation DZ U-Pb Age Distributions and Hf Isotopic Data	
Petrographic Analyses	
Discussion	
DZ U-Pb Provenance Analysis of Pottsville and Caseyville Formations	
Hf Isotopic Values from the Pottsville Formation	
Petrography of the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Grou	ıp 89
The Appalachian Foreland-Basin System and a Template for Sediment Routing	
Scaling Relationships in Early Pennsylvanian Fluvial Systems and Source-to-Sink	
Sedimentology	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	
Figures	
Tables	
Supplemental Materials	
References	
Chapter 4: There and Back Again: Recycling of the Appalachian Signature in DZ U-Pb	Records
of Phanerozoic North America	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Routing of the Appalachian Signal to the Western Laurentian Margin	
Eastward Return and Recycling of the Appalachian Signature	
Discussion and Conclusions	
Figures	
Supplemental Materials	
References	
Chapter 5: Summary	
References	
Appendix.	
Supplemental Material Tables	
Chapter 2	
Chapter 3	
Unapter 4	

List of Figures

- Figure 2-1 Major basins and structures of Early Pennsylvanian eastern Laurentia
- Figure 2-2 General Upper Mississippian and Lower Pennsylvanian lithological correlation
- Figure 2-3 Map showing Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale outcrops and sample locations
- Figure 2-4 Examples of outcrop locations for detrital zircon sample collection
- Figure 2-5 Contribution of different sources to the composite detrital zircon U-Pb record of Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale samples

Figure 2-6 Normalized kernel density estimates (KDE)

- Figure 2-7 Contribution of different sources to sample clusters A and B in multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) plot
- Figure 2-8 Hafnium evolution diagram showing results from the Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale
- Figure 2-9 Aggregate concordant Late Mississippian and Pennsylvanian detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb ages from Pennsylvanian-age stratigraphic units of eastern North America
- Figure 2-10 Schematic map of three interpreted fluvial routing systems for the two deep-sea fans of the Ouachita Basin
- Figure 2-11 Location maps and MDS plots of selected Lower Pennsylvanian DZ samples from the eastern and central United States

Figure 3-1 Map of major basins and structures of Early Pennsylvanian eastern Laurentia

Figure 3-2 Stratigraphic correlation chart showing general Upper Mississippian and Lower Pennsylvanian lithological correlations between the Ouachita Basin, Arkoma shelf, Illinois Basin, Black Warrior Basin, and Appalachian Basin Figure 3-3 Map of detrital zircon and petrographic sample locations and outcrops of the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Group

Figure 3-4 Photographs of outcrops for detrital zircon samples

Figure 3-5 Pie diagrams showing the contribution of different source terranes

- Figure 3-6 Normalized kernel density estimates for detrital zircon samples collected from the lower Pennsylvanian Caseyville and Pottsville Formations
- Figure 3-7 Hf evolution diagram showing results from the lower Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation
- Figure 3-8 Ternary Qt-F-L diagram for samples from the Lower Pennsylvanian Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Group
- Figure 3-9 Map of select Lower Pennsylvanian DZ sample locations and MDS plot of samples

Figure 3-Supplemental Material A. Map of detrital zircon and petrographic sample locations

Figure 3-Supplemental Material B. Ternary Qt-F-L diagram for petrographic samples

- Figure 4-1 Continental-scale sediment routing interpretations for Middle Pennsylvanian time and base map of North American basement age provinces
- Figure 4-2 Map of North America showing DZ samples that exemplify the late Paleozoic-early Mesozoic westward propagation of the Appalachian signature and the subsequent return to the East
- Figure 4-3 Pie charts that show percentages of age groups for units from the Pennsylvanian to the Holocene, arranged by relative geography of North America (West to East)

Figure 4-4 Normalized kernel density estimates for samples from the West (A) and East (B)

Figure 4-Supplemental Material A. Multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) plot for select DZ samples from western and central North America

List of Tables

Table 2-1 Sources for detrital zircon age groups in Lower Pennsylvanian Ouachita deep-sea fan deposits

Table 2-2 Detrital zircon sample location information

Table 2-3 Summary of ϵ_{Hf} values for specific U-Pb age groups

Table 2-4 Mean EHf values from the Ouachita, Appalachian, Illinois, and Forest City Basins

Table 3-1 Detrital zircon and petrographic sample location information

Table 3-2 Comparison of ε_{Hf} values for 833-317 Ma grains from Lower Pennsylvanian samples

Table 3-3 Summary of petrographic modal analysis

Additional Supplemental Tables in Supplemental Material (Appendix)

Chapter 1: Introduction

Detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb ages fingerprint the source terranes of siliciclastics of North America and provide new perspectives of North American sediment routing. Over the last decade, Carboniferous sediment dispersal from the Appalachian orogenic system has become a topic of widespread interest, particularly regarding the arrival of Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ along the western margin of Laurentia. Chapters 2 and 3 address Early Pennsylvanian barriers to transcontinental sediment transport from the central and southern Appalachians to western Laurentia: (A) the Ouachita Basin, a terminal sink filled with Appalachian- and midcontinentsourced deep-sea fans; and (B) north-to-south oriented paleovalleys of eastern Laurentia and the midcontinent that likely sourced Ouachita deep-sea fans.

While Chapters 2 and 3 are focused on DZ analyses from Lower Pennsylvanian units, Chapter 4 addresses large-scale North American sediment routing from the late Paleozoic to the present, including the outsized role of recycled Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ in the rock record. Chapter 4 tracks the late Paleozoic-early Mesozoic westward propagation of the Appalachian signature (defined as the sum of the percentages representing Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ) to western Laurentia and then the subsequent recycling and return of the Appalachian signature back to the East. The early "Appalachian" signal observed in the West during the Carboniferous may have been derived from the northern Appalachians in the US and Canada, and perhaps from as far north as the Ellesmerian orogen. Chapter 4 emphasizes the outsized role of the Appalachian signature throughout the entire Phanerozoic and proposes that the longevity and magnitude of the Appalachian signature is due to crustal concatenation of the supercontinent-cycle provincial terranes.

1

Chapter 2: Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin (southeastern U.S.) and barriers to transcontinental sediment transport sourced from the Appalachian orogen based on detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis

Isaac Allred¹² and Michael D. Blum¹

¹Department of Geology, University of Kansas, Earth, Energy & Environment Center, 1414 Naismith Drive, Lawrence, KS 66045, USA ²Indiana Geological and Water Survey, Indiana University, 1001 E 10th Street, Bloomington, IN 47405, USA

Keywords: detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis, Ouachita Basin, deep-sea fans, source-tosink analysis

Published online 22 November 2021 by the journal Geosphere

Citation: Allred, I.J., and Blum, M.D., 2021, Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin (southeastern United States) and barriers to transcontinental sediment transport sourced from the Appalachian orogen based on detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis: Geosphere, v. 18, p. 350–369.

Abstract

Carboniferous sediment dispersal from the Appalachian orogenic system (eastern United States) has become a topic of widespread interest. However, the actual pathways for continental-scale, east-to-west sediment transfer have not been documented. This study presents detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb ages and Hf isotopic values from the Lower Pennsylvanian (Morrowan) Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale of the synorogenic Ouachita deepwater Basin of Arkansas to document provenance and delineate the likely sediment-routing systems within the broader context of sediment dispersal across Laurentia.

Twelve DZ U-Pb age distributions are interpreted to indicate that sediments were derived from the Appalachians to the east and northeast, as well as the midcontinent region to the north. All samples display prominent ca. 500–400 Ma, 1250–950 Ma, 1550–1300 Ma, and 1800–1600 Ma grains, consistent with ultimate derivation from Appalachian, Grenville, Midcontinent, and Yavapai-Mazatzal provinces. DZ Hf values obtained from the Ouachita Basin are similar to published Hf values from Pennsylvanian samples in the Appalachian and Illinois Basins. Age distributions are generally consistent for seven samples collected from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale in the southern Ouachita Mountains through ~2400 m of stratigraphic section, and are interpreted to indicate little change in provenance during the Morrowan in this part of the system. However, samples from the most northern and most source-proximal site in Little Rock, Arkansas, exhibit modest percentages of Appalachian ages and elevated contributions of Yavapai-Mazatzal ages when compared with samples collected farther to the south and west. We interpret differences between DZ signatures to indicate distinct sediment-

3

routing pathways to the Ouachita Basin. We infer the strong Appalachian-Grenville signals to represent an axial system flowing through the Appalachian foredeep, whereas the more diverse signals represent a confluence of rivers from the northeast through the backbulge of southern Illinois and western Kentucky, and from the north across the Arkoma shelf. Collectively, the Ouachita Basin represents a terminal sink for sediments derived from much of the eastern and central United States.

Introduction

Assembly of the Paleozoic Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system had a profound effect on North American landscapes and sediment routing (Fig. 1). Early work by Patchett et al. (1999) presented Nd isotopic data from Phanerozoic fine-grained siliciclastic strata of North America (including the southern United States, western Canada, and the Arctic margin), and inferred that by ca. 450 Ma detritus from the Appalachian orogen had overwhelmed sediment from all older sources across North America. More recently, several authors (Dickinson and Gehrels, 2003; Gehrels et al., 2011; May et al., 2013; Link et al., 2014; Evans and Soreghan, 2015; Nair et al., 2018) observed Appalachian-Grenville (ca. 500–275 Ma and ca. 1250–950 Ma, respectively) and peri-Gondwanan (ca. 800-500 Ma) detrital zircons (DZ) in late Paleozoic deposits of the western Laurentian margin in the United States, from the present-day Grand Canyon of the Colorado Plateau to the Bighorn Basin in Wyoming. Although several authors interpret the central Appalachians to be the source region for large-scale east-to-west sediment transfer, as discussed by Thomas (2011), the actual fluvial systems that would have transported this Appalachian signal to the western United States have not been clearly identified and remain unclear.

Siliciclastic turbidites of the Lower Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale (Fig. 2) in the synorogenic Ouachita Basin of Arkansas and Oklahoma (Fig. 1) represent a known deepwater sediment sink for this time period. Moreover, several Early Pennsylvanian generally north-to-south trending paleovalleys have been recognized in theUnited States midcontinent from eastern Kentucky to western Kansas and southeastern Colorado (see Archer and Greb, 1995). Collectively, the Ouachita Basin and midcontinent paleovalleys should have limited

sediment routing directly from the central and southern Appalachians to western North America. Sediment sources for the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale have been debated over time, with several alternative models proposed from traditional paleocurrent, petrographic, and geochemical provenance data in the peer-reviewed (e.g., Bokman, 1953; Briggs and Cline, 1967; Morris, 1971, 1974b; Graham et al., 1976; Morris et al., 1979; Morris, 1989; Gleason et al., 1994; Slatt et al., 2000b; Zou et al., 2017) and non-peer-reviewed literature (e.g., Danielson et al., 1988; Jordan et al., 1991). Here we examine source terranes and sediment routing for the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale using DZ U-Pb and hafnium (Hf) isotopic data, and place our results within the broader context of Early Pennsylvanian landscape evolution and sediment routing associated with the development of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system.

Geological Background

The spatial distribution and age of sources for DZ in Laurentian North America are well known from decades of studies (Becker et al., 2005; Dickinson and Gehrels, 2009; Park et al., 2010; Laskowski et al., 2013), and reflect the episodic growth of the Laurentian landmass (Table 1). Important to our study, the Proterozoic suturing, growth, and evolution of terranes resulted in the assembly and subsequent rifting of the supercontinents Columbia (including the Nuna core, Rogers and Santosh, 2002; Meert, 2012; Meert and Santosh, 2017) and Rodinia, which resulted in the development of the Paleoproterozoic (ca. 1800-1600 Ma) Yavapai-Mazatzal orogenic system, the Midcontinent Anorogenic Granite-Rhyolite province (ca. 1550-1300 Ma), which intrudes Yavapai-Mazatzal rocks, and the Mesoproterozoic (ca. 1250-950 Ma) Grenville orogenic system in North America (see Whitmeyer and Karlstrom, 2007). The Neoproterozoic breakup of Rodinia first occurred along the western margin of Laurentia, then the eastern margin, and finally along the Ouachita embayment to the south (Thomas, 1991), which represents the precursor for the Ouachita Basin where the Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale would be deposited (Fig. 1).

Hatcher (2010) summarizes the three main stages of evolution for the Paleozoic Appalachian orogenic system on the eastern margin of Laurentia, as follows: (1) the ca. 490-430 Ma Taconic orogeny, which represents a succession of island arcs that accreted to Laurentia (Miller et al., 2000); (2) the ca. 430-345 Ma Acadian (northern) and Neoacadian (southern) orogenies, which represent a continental margin magmatic arc that formed in association with accretion of peri-Gondwanan superterrranes (Ganderia, Avalonia, and Carolina) to Laurentia; and (3) the ca. 330-275 Ma Alleghenian-Ouachita orogeny, which records a diachronous north-to-south continentcontinent collision between Laurentia and Gondwana (Miller et al., 2006; Heatherington et al., 2010) and the assembly of Pangea. Hibbard and Karabinos (2013) distinguish the southern Appalachian segment (south of the New York promontory) from the northern segment based on observations that show Alleghenian plutonism was largely confined to south of the New York promontory (see also Speer et al., 1994). Collectively, then, the Appalachian orogenic system includes Mesoproterozoic Grenville, Neoproterozoic peri-Gondwanan, and Paleozoic Appalachian source terranes, which provide DZ U-Pb age groups that range from ca. 1250 to 275 Ma.

Ingersoll et al. (1995) and Coleman (2000) refer to the Carboniferous deepwater Basin where Jackfork sandstones and the Johns Valley Shale were deposited as the Ouachita Basin (Fig. 1), which was positioned near the future Laurentia-Gondwana suture, and has been interpreted to represent a remnant ocean basin (e.g., Ingersoll, 2012) that progressively narrowed with the northward advancement of the Ouachita magmatic arc. As the suturing of Pangea progressed, sediment flux eroded from the growing Appalachian orogen is interpreted to have increased at the same time that the deepwater basin was inverting (Ingersoll et al., 1995). Ouachita deepwater basin fill was then incorporated into the northward propagating fold-and-thrust belt, and flexural loading then formed the Arkoma peripheral foreland basin to the north. As basin architecture changed, Early Pennsylvanian synorogenic turbidite and deltaic sedimentation in the Ouachita Basin was succeeded by Middle to Late Pennsylvanian syn- to post-orogenic fluvial-deltaic deposition in the Arkoma Basin (Ingersoll et al., 2003).

General Stratigraphic Framework

Early workers described the general Carboniferous stratigraphic succession of the Ouachita Basin to consist of the Mississippian Stanley Group and the overlying Lower Pennsylvanian (Morrowan) turbidites of the Jackfork Group (see Fig. 2, Miser and Purdue, 1929; Harlton, 1938; Hass, 1950; Goldstein and Hendricks, 1962; Johnson, 1968; Niem, 1976). Belts of Jackfork Group deposits crop out for more than 300 km across Arkansas and Oklahoma (Fig. 3) striking east-to-west along the axis of the Ouachita trough (Morris, 1971, 1974b; Ingersoll et al., 1995). The deepwater Johns Valley Shale overlies the Jackfork Group and is in turn overlain by the ~6100-m-thick synorogenic Atoka Formation (Coleman, 2000). Atoka deposits generally represent a shallowing-up progradational and aggradational succession from initially deepwater deposits to deposits of deltaic origin based on observed facies successions, stacking patterns, and sedimentary structures (Coleman, 2000). The roughly coeval Hale, Bloyd, and Atoka Formations farther to the north on the Arkoma shelf are generally interpreted to represent fluvialdeltaic deposits (Sutherland and Henry, 1977; Zachry, 1979; Sutherland, 1988; Xie et al., 2018).

Farther to the northeast and east, correlative Morrowan fluvial and marginal marine deposits of the Illinois, Black Warrior, and Appalachian Basins (Figs. 1 and 2) include the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, Sewanee Conglomerate, Lee Formation, and Corbin Sandstone (Archer and Greb, 1995; Thomas, 1997; Becker et al., 2005). Archer and Greb (1995) estimated a minimum contributing paleodrainage area of $>10^6$ km² for the Caseyville Formation and equivalent units of the Illinois Basin, based on paleogeographic constraints; similar estimates were applied to the Lee Formation and equivalent units of the Central Appalachian Basin. These prospective Early Pennsylvanian sediment-routing pathways from the eastern interior and the Appalachian orogen to the Ouachita Basin have also been recently sampled for DZ U-Pb analyses (Thomas et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2020).

Previous Work on Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing

Within the above stratigraphic context, various authors have proposed that Ouachita Basin sediment sources were to the north (Laurentian craton), east (Appalachian orogen), and south (Gondwanan margin) (Bokman, 1953; Morris, 1971, 1974b; Mack et al., 1983; Thomas, 1988; Morris, 1989; Gleason et al., 1994), with additional workers considering the Himalayan-Bengal system to be a modern analog for sediment dispersal (Graham et al., 1975; Graham et al., 1976; Ingersoll et al., 1995; Ingersoll et al., 2003). Early provenance studies describe sandstone petrography (Morris, 1971, 1974b; Morris et al., 1979; Morris, 1989) and paleoflow directions (Briggs and Cline, 1967; Morris, 1971, 1974a) for Jackfork turbidites. Jackfork sandstones are

predominantly arenites that become more feldspathic to the south, and feldspar content generally decreases eastward along the frontal (northern) Ouachita Mountains. Rock fragments comprise 3% of sandstones along the frontal Ouachitas to the north and 10% along the southern Ouachitas, and the Jackfork Group generally lacks volcanic detritus (Morris, 1971). Based on these data, Morris (1971) suggested the Black Warrior Basin may represent a shallower eastern extension of the Ouachita Basin and the Appalachians were the primary source for most of the Ouachita clastics, whereas craton-derived quartz sand and low-feldspar detritus were derived from the northern midcontinent, with a transport corridor to the Ouachita Basin located between the Ozark and Nashville domes, which implies there were two possible basin-floor fan sinks within the Ouachita Basin.

Subsequent petrographic studies revealed a lack of southern arc-related sediment in the Ouachita Basin and an affinity between deposits of the Ouachita and Black Warrior Basins. Graham et al. (1976) demonstrated low proportions of feldspathic and volcanic lithic fragments in Pennsylvanian rocks of the Ouachita and Black Warrior Basins, suggested a common Appalachian source where quartzose sediment was derived from the vigorously uplifted older interior of the Appalachian-Ouachita system, and implied that sedimentary and metasedimentary rocks were the dominant sources, not arc rocks in the orogens. Mack et al. (1983) subsequently observed an increase in volcanic rock fragments in the Lower Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation in the Black Warrior Basin, relative to the underlying Parkwood Formation, but concluded that volcanic rock fragments in the Pottsville were too few in number to be solely derived from a southern arc. Owen and Carozzi (1986) paired cathodoluminescence frequency distributions of quartz with standard petrography of samples from the Ouachita and Black Warrior Basins and interpreted the Ouachita Basin Jackfork Group and the Black Warrior Basin Parkwood Formation to have a common provenance.

Subsequent Nd studies interpreted Appalachian sources for Ouachita Basin deposits. Gleason et al. (1994) showed that Nd isotopic data from Pennsylvanian units of the Arkoma shelf, Illinois Basin, Black Warrior Basin, and the Ouachita Basin have coherent negative ɛNd values that follow the previously defined Grenville crustal evolution trajectory for Nd isotopes. Gleason et al. (1994) therefore suggested units from these areas were sourced from the Appalachian foldand-thrust belt. Subsequent Nd data from the Johns Valley Shale and Atoka Formation in Oklahoma from Dickinson et al. (2003) continued to support the interpretation that the Appalachian orogen was the dominant regional source for sediment transferred across southern and eastern Laurentia after ~450 Ma (see Patchett et al., 1999). However, Nd data only reflect an average of contributing sources and are limited in determining unique provenance (Gleason et al., 1994) and dispersal pathways (Thomas et al., 1995).

The Mississippian Stanley Group, which lies below the Jackfork Group, contains interbedded silicic ash-flow tuffs that have an ϵ Nd isotopic composition of -2, and are interpreted to be sourced from a magmatic arc located to the south (Gleason et al., 1994). Shaulis et al. (2012) acquired a weighted average U-Pb age of ca. 320.7 ± 2.5 Ma (2σ) for the Chickasaw Creek tuff (n=38), which provides age constraints for the upper Stanley Group. However, in spite of historical interpretations of a proximal magmatic arc to the south, Shaulis et al. (2012) noted a lack of Pan-African DZ U-Pb age modes in tuffaceous material and suggested that most Mississippian sediment from the arc terrane was trapped within the forearc basin, with the exception of air-fall tuff (see Ingersoll et al., 1995). These tuffs are a significant component of

11

interpreted Mississippian turbidites of the Stanley Group, but have not been recognized in the overlying Pennsylvanian succession (Gleason et al., 1994).

Earlier provenance studies of the Jackfork Group were followed by outcrop modeling of sand body architecture and a series of sequence-stratigraphic studies. Recently described locations in Arkansas include Baumgartner Quarry (Zou et al., 2012), Hollywood Quarry (Goyeneche et al., 2006), DeGray Lake Spillway (Al-Siyabi, 2000; Slatt et al., 2000a; Schlichtemeier, 2011) and Big Rock Quarry (Olariu et al., 2008; Olariu et al., 2011; Funk et al., 2012). Near the Baumgartner Quarry, roadcuts located to the south of Kirby, Arkansas (along State Highway 27) were partially described by Morris (1971) and later studied in detail by Zou et al. (2017). The Kirby, DeGray Lake Spillway, and Big Rock Quarry locations are discussed further below as part of the sampling strategy for this study (Fig. 3).

Methods

Detrital Zircon U-Pb Analysis

Use of DZ U-Pb ages as a provenance tool in a terminal depositional sink like the Ouachita Basin assumes the distribution of U-Pb ages in a sample provide a faithful fingerprint of the populations from specific source terranes (see Ross and Parrish, 1991), including distant sources that are not likely identified from conventional provenance studies alone (Dickinson and Gehrels, 2010). Faithful propagation of signals from specific source terranes with short lag times seem intuitive for small sediment-dispersal systems with short transport distances along active continental margins (see Romans et al., 2016). However, studies of the Late Pleistocene and Holocene Mississippi (Fildani et al., 2016; Mason et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020), the Neogene to modern Bengal (Blum et al., 2018; Pickering et al., 2020), and the Late Pleistocene Amazon (Mason et al., 2019) fans demonstrate this to be the case for Earth's largest extant fluvial to deep-sea fan systems as well (see also Hessler and Fildani, 2019).

For this study we collected twelve samples of fine- to medium-grained sandstones of turbidite origin for DZ U-Pb analyses from three general locations in Arkansas that have been studied from a stratigraphic point-of-view by previous workers (Figs. 3 and 4; and Table 2): Big Rock Quarry (see Olariu et al., 2008; Olariu et al., 2011), DeGray Lake Spillway (see Al-Siyabi, 2000; Slatt et al., 2000b), and roadcuts on State Highway 27 south of Kirby (see Morris, 1971; Zou et al., 2017). The Jackfork Group is undifferentiated in the southern region of Arkansas, but we collected our samples throughout the entirety of the Jackfork Group and the lower part of the overlying Johns Valley Shale: two samples represent the lower Jackfork, two represent the middle Jackfork, six represent the upper Jackfork, and two represent the lower Johns Valley Shale (Table 2).

Ten of our samples (PennJ1 to PennJ10) were processed for mineral separation at the Arizona LaserChron Center (ALC; Tucson, Arizona), whereas two samples (PennJ11 and PennJ12) were processed at the Isotope Geochronology Lab at the University of Kansas. All twelve samples were then mounted and analyzed at the ALC employing methods outlined by Gehrels (2012). U-Pb analyses were conducted on the Element 2 single collector Laser Ablation-Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometer (LA-ICP-MS). The maximum uncertainty filter for ²⁰⁶Pb/²³⁸U ages was 10%. The maximum uncertainty filter for ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁷Pb ages was also 10%, but only applied to analyses with ²⁰⁶Pb/²³⁸U ages >400 Ma. Maximum discordance and reverse

discordance cutoffs were 20% and 5%, respectively, for analyses with 206 Pb/ 238 U ages >400 Ma. We chose a sample target of 300 grains for analysis, which reduces the probability of missing minor fractions of the total population, and better reflects the true abundance of age distributions in a sample compared to small-n (<100 analyses) samples (see Vermeesch, 2004; Andersen, 2005; Pullen et al., 2014; Saylor and Sundell, 2016). We also employed a "higher n" approach to determine the maximum depositional age (MDA) for the Jackfork Group by acquiring 600 additional U-Pb ages from DZ sample PennJ1 at a rate of 600 analyses per hour using the Nu Plasma multi-collector LA-ICP-MS (see Sundell et al., 2020). We distinguished the original PennJ1 ages from the n = 600 upgrade as PennJ1A and PennJ1B, respectively.

Detrital Zircon Hf Isotopic Analysis

DZ Hf isotopic analyses can strengthen interpretations of sediment routing by differentiating source areas that otherwise have the same or similar DZ U-Pb ages. Recent studies by Thomas et al. (2017) and Thomas et al. (2020) provide ɛHf values from zircons within fluvial systems of the Carboniferous Appalachian foredeep and eastern midcontinent basins, which serve as a comparative baseline for our study. To assist with fingerprinting source terranes and the reconstruction of sediment routing, we conducted Hf isotopic analyses on Ouachita deep-sea fan zircons at the ALC using the methods of Cecil et al. (2011) and Gehrels and Pecha (2014) on four samples: PennJ1A (DeGray Lake Spillway, upper Jackfork), PennJ4 (Kirby, lower Jackfork), PennJ8 (Kirby, upper Jackfork), and PennJ10 (Kirby, Johns Valley Shale). A mean of 26 Hf isotopic analyses were conducted for each sample, including a mean of 20 Hf analyses per sample from the Appalachian age group (ca. 500–275 Ma). We selected grains with U-Pb ages <800 Ma for Hf analyses due to the greater dispersion of ɛHf values compared with older age

populations (e.g., see data from Thomas et al., 2017) and thus the greater possibility of sourceterrane differentiation.

Kernel Density Estimate Visualization and Multi-Dimensional Scaling Analysis

Ages from twelve samples acquired from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale are plotted as normalized kernel density estimates (KDEs), which provide for visual inspection of the differences between samples in terms of age distributions and modes. KDEs are constructed without using uncertainty terms, which increase with older zircons, and thus KDEs are believed to be an unbiased estimator of the true age distribution (Vermeesch, 2012). We use the R-based package *provenance* (Vermeesch et al., 2016) to calculate and plot KDEs and visualize major and minor age modes.

Large-scale analysis of sediment routing requires large data sets, but visual inspection of large data sets likely introduces subjectivity (Saylor and Sundell, 2016). Therefore, dissimilarity between samples is commonly assessed by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov (KS) or Kuiper tests, which test the probability that samples are drawn from a single population. The KS-statistic is useful for multi-sample comparisons by multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) analysis (Vermeesch, 2013, 2018). MDS takes a table of pairwise dissimilarities as input, and produces a set of, in our case, two-dimensional coordinates as output; the scatterplot of samples in Cartesian space represents a 'map' in which similar samples plot closer together and dissimilar samples plot farther apart (Vermeesch, 2018). It is commonly interpreted that MDS sample clusters identify samples with the same or similar source terranes. We use the MATLAB graphical user interface

by Vermeesch (2013) to identify DZ samples that cluster in Cartesian space to guide interpretations of sediment routing.

Results

DZ U-Pb Age Distributions

We obtained 3550 concordant DZ U-Pb ages from PennJ1A through PennJ12, which represents a mean of 295 concordant analyses per sample, plus an additional 503 concordant U-Pb ages from PennJ1B using the rapid acquisition "higher n" approach described above. DZ U-Pb ages for all samples from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale display prominent Appalachian-Grenville (ca. 1250–317 Ma), Midcontinent Granite-Rhyolite (ca. 1550–1300 Ma), and Yavapai-Mazatzal (ca. 1800–1600 Ma) age groups, as well as minor contributions from peri-Gondwanan (ca. 800–500 Ma), Penokean/Trans-Hudson (ca. 2000–1800 Ma) and Superior (ca. >2500 Ma) age sources (see listed age domains in Table 1). For the dataset as a whole, the 1250-950 Ma age group characteristic of Grenville terranes is the most prominent, contributing a mean representation of 36.7% of the U-Pb ages per sample, followed by Yavapai-Mazatzal (15.0%), Appalachian (14.2%), and Midcontinent (14.0%) age groups. Other ages are less significant in terms of their total contributions, with Archean Superior ages comprising 6.2% of the total, followed by the Penokean/Trans-Hudson ages (4.0%) and peri-Gondwanan ages (3.0%) (Fig. 5).

KDE plots in Figure 6 show that all samples display a great deal of visual similarity. Like most samples that are related to the Alleghenian orogenic system, the Appalachian and Grenville ages dwarf other age groups in our samples, and our samples generally have a high ratio of

Appalachian to Grenville grains. There are, however, minor differences in age distributions between samples. Most importantly, DZ U-Pb age distributions from PennJ11 and PennJ12, collected from the most northern and source-proximal site at Big Rock Quarry in Little Rock, exhibit a relatively modest percentage of Appalachian ages (7.4%), but an elevated percentage of Yavapai-Mazatzal ages (24.3%) when compared with samples collected farther south and west at DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby (PennJ1A to PennJ10), which exhibit a relatively elevated percentage of Appalachian ages (15.5%) and a modest percentage of Yavapai-Mazatzal ages (13.1%) (see Figs. 3, 5, 6, and 7A).

Two-dimensional MDS plots are shown in Figure 7B and differentiate two sample clusters that are consistent with, and reinforce, the visual differences in the KDE plots described above. Cluster A is defined by larger percentages of Appalachian ages and generally modest Yavapai-Mazatzal modes that characterize samples PennJ1A to PennJ10. Within Cluster A, DZ U-Pb age distributions from the seven Kirby samples are indistinct (see Figs. 3 and 6), with the bottommost Jackfork sample (PennJ4) and the topmost Jackfork sample (PennJ8) defining the most distant points in this cluster. The three samples from the DeGray Lake Spillway (PennJ1A to PennJ3) reside in the center of Cluster A (Fig. 7B). Cluster B is defined by the relatively modest percentages of Appalachian ages but elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal age modes that characterize PennJ11 and PennJ12, as described above. Samples PennJ8 from Kirby and PennJ3 from the DeGray Lake Spillway from Cluster A plot closest to Cluster B in MDS space, whereas PennJ4 and PennJ5 plot farthest away.

Youngest DZ U-Pb Ages from Jackfork Group Samples

17

We anticipated that constraining the maximum depositional age (MDA) for the Jackfork Group would be difficult, unlike the underlying Mississippian Stanley Group, which contains ash beds (Niem, 1977; Shaulis et al., 2012). Indeed, from 3550 concordant U-Pb ages, only PennJ1 and PennJ11 produced single Early Pennsylvanian or Late Mississippian U-Pb ages (ca. 317.5 ± 4.0 Ma (at 2σ) and ca. 324.4 ± 3.6 Ma (at 2σ), respectively). As discussed more fully below, these two grains may represent the rare Alleghenian volcanogenic zircons that are syndepositional with respect to the Jackfork Group. We also obtained U-Pb ages that range from 208.9 to 339.8 Ma on seven grains from samples PennJ6, PennJ7, and PennJ10, but which have elevated U concentrations or U/Th ratios, and are not further considered in the context of maximum depositional ages.

Our attempt to identify more young volcanogenic grains by obtaining 503 additional concordant U-Pb ages from PennJ1 from DeGray Lake Spillway (PennJ1B) was unsuccessful. PennJ1B and PennJ1A represent separate analyses of the same sample, and have similar age distributions (Fig. 6), but the youngest U-Pb ages from PennJ1B were >365 Ma, more than 45 million years older than the U-Pb age from an ash bed from the uppermost Stanley Shale (Shaulis et al., 2012).

Detrital Zircon Hf Isotopic Data

New DZ Hf isotopic data from grains <800 Ma in age from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale are plotted in Figure 8 in epsilon Hf (ε Hf) units. The mean ε Hf value for all grains from the four samples and the standard error is -2.0 ± 1.0 (1 σ); the mean ε Hf values for Appalachianage and peri-Gondwanan-age grains are -1.8 ± 1.0 (1 σ) and -2.8 ± 0.9 (1 σ), respectively (see Table 3). The three Kirby samples (PennJ4, PennJ8, and PennJ10), as well as the sample from the DeGray Lake Spillway (PennJ1A), consistently demonstrate intermediate εHf values of -5 to +5 (Fig. 8 and Table 3), and 65% of the 103 total analyses are within this intermediate range.

The mean ϵ Hf values from the three Kirby samples (PennJ10, -3.2 ± 1.0 [1 σ]; PennJ8, -2.9 ± 1.0 [1 σ]; and PennJ4, -1.7 ± 1.1 [1 σ]) are slightly more evolved than that from the sample from the DeGray Lake Spillway (PennJ1A, -0.3 ± 0.9 [1 σ], see Table 3). Sample PennJ1A has the distinction of having an Alleghenian-age ϵ Hf value (+0.3 ± 0.8 [1 σ]) as well as the single most juvenile ϵ Hf value (+12.4 ± 1.0 [1 σ]), whereas PennJ8 has the two most evolved values in the dataset (-19.3 ± 1.5 [1 σ] and -17.0 ± 0.7 [1 σ]). When comparing mean ϵ Hf values of Appalachian (n=78) versus peri-Gondwanan (n=25) age grains, both age groups show a slight trend toward more evolved values when comparing the stratigraphically oldest sample, PennJ4, to the stratigraphically youngest sample, PennJ10. Mean ϵ Hf values for grains with Appalachian and peri-Gondwanan U-Pb ages from the three Kirby samples are also more evolved than those from sample PennJ1A from the DeGray Lake Spillway. However, even with these subtle differences, most Hf analyses produced intermediate values, with 26% of all ϵ Hf values represented by values of -2.0 ± 2.0 (2 σ).

Discussion

Provenance of Pennsylvanian Ouachita Basin Deepwater Deposits

Our data define characteristic DZ U-Pb ages for the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale of the deepwater Ouachita Basin. From KDE and MDS plots we define two clusters of samples

with distinct age distributions: Cluster A, which includes PennJ1A to PennJ10 from the DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby, is dominated by Appalachian and Grenville ages, whereas Cluster B, which includes PennJ11 and PennJ12 from Big Rock Quarry, displays fewer Appalachian-Grenville and more Yavapai-Mazatzal ages. These differences are interpreted to represent at least two distinct source regions and sediment-routing pathways. Cluster A is most similar to select Lower Pennsylvanian DZ U-Pb age distributions from the Appalachian foredeep in Tennessee and Kentucky (Thomas et al., 2017), whereas cluster B is more similar to DZ U-Pb data that have been reported from a select few Pennsylvanian sandstones of the southern Illinois and Michigan Basins (Thomas et al., 2020) and the Arkoma shelf (Xie et al., 2018).

More subtle differences appear within these two clusters. The Kirby and DeGray Lake Spillway samples (Cluster A) are as a whole similar (Figs. 7A and 7B) and are interpreted to represent more distal portions of Jackfork and Johns Valley deep-sea fan systems (see Zou et al., 2017). The lowermost and uppermost Jackfork samples from Kirby (PennJ4 and PennJ8, respectively) define the most distant points in Cluster A, and are located ~140 km to the west of Big Rock Quarry, whereas samples from the DeGray Lake Spillway reside within the center of Cluster A, and are located ~100 km from Big Rock Quarry. Although there is some minor variability, age distributions are generally consistent for the seven Kirby samples collected from the Jackfork and Johns Valley Shale in the southern Ouachitas through ~2400 m of stratigraphic section (see Zou et al., 2017). We therefore interpret DZ U-Pb ages from the Kirby and DeGray Lake Spillway sections to indicate little to no change in provenance over Morrowan time for sediment delivered to this more distal part of the system, and that samples from the DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby collectively represent the primary deep-sea fan of the Ouachita Basin, which is composed of sediment transported directly from the Appalachians.

Big Rock Quarry (Cluster B) represents a generally more proximal fan setting, and we interpret DZ U-Pb ages from that location to represent a fan that was sourced by a second distinct routing system with a mixed provenance. We interpret the source terranes to have included the United States midcontinent, based on the lower percentage of Appalachian ages and the increased contribution of Yavapai-Mazatzal ages. The Nemaha uplift of eastern Nebraska was subaerially exposed at that time and represents the most likely primary source (e.g., Steeples, 1982; Dolton and Finn, 1989; Burberry et al., 2015; Joeckel et al., 2019), whereas Yavapai-Mazatzal age crystalline rocks would have been buried by older Paleozoic sedimentary rocks of the northern midcontinent (Konstantinou et al., 2014), which could have provided a recycled source, although less likely. Both of these possibilities point to a northern source region, rather than directly from the Appalachians to the east. Sample PennJ8 in Cluster A is most similar to Cluster B samples, and Cluster A samples are composed of 13.1% Yavapai-Mazatzal grains (see Figs. 6, 7A, and 7B), which suggests this secondary fan system, derived from the north and northeast, may have sometimes contributed sediment to deposits at the Kirby and DeGray Lake Spillway locations as well. We therefore interpret these relatively distal samples to record a mixing of two distinct deep-sea fan systems, which collectively drained source regions to the east, northeast and north to northwest.

Epsilon Hf values obtained from Paleozoic Appalachian and Neoproterozoic peri-Gondwanan zircons of the Ouachita Basin are similar to ε Hf values from the Pennsylvanian Appalachian foredeep (Thomas et al., 2017) and the Pennsylvanian Illinois and Forest City Basins (Thomas et al., 2020). The mean ε Hf value for four Pennsylvanian samples from the Appalachian Basin for both Appalachian and peri-Gondwanan ages is -0.3 ± 1.2 (1 σ) (Thomas et al., 2017, see Table 4),

similar to the mean ε Hf value for PennJ1A grains from the DeGray Lake Spillway (-0.3 ± 0.9 (1 σ)). However, the mean ε Hf value for the four samples from Ouachita Basin as a whole (-2.0 ± 1.0 (1 σ)) is slightly more evolved than the mean ε Hf from samples from the Appalachian (-0.3 ± 1.2 (1 σ)), Illinois (-1.2 ± 1.0 (1 σ)), and Forest City (-0.1 ± 0.9 (1 σ)) Basins for 307-833 Ma ages (Table 4). The intermediate ε Hf values from the Appalachian and peri-Gondwanan ages of the Ouachita Basin do not in themselves clearly distinguish different crustal sources, but support the interpretation that the provenance of siliciclastics in the Ouachita Basin include areas to the east, northeast, and north, and provide additional characterization of ε Hf signatures for Pennsylvanian sediment routing systems as a whole.

Only two DZ U-Pb ages of ca. 317 and 324 Ma from our data are consistent with the estimated Early Pennsylvanian age of the Jackfork sandstone and Johns Valley Shale (post-320 Ma, Shaulis et al., 2012). This low yield is similar to the earlier observation of Thomas et al. (2004), who noted that the youngest DZ U-Pb ages from Alleghenian foreland-basin deposits generally correspond to the previous Taconic and Acadian orogenic cycles, and consistent with the more recent detailed study of Appalachian DZ U-Pb ages by Thomas et al. (2017), who only observed one U-Pb age of approximately Early Pennsylvanian age (ca. 322 Ma) in Pennsylvanian-aged foreland basin deposits. Our results suggest that non-volcanogenic Alleghenian DZ sources were generally not exhumed by Pennsylvanian time, which hindered efforts to obtain reliable Jackfork and Johns Valley Shale MDAs.

Interestingly, our study and previous work in the Appalachian foredeep observed low yields for syndepositional zircons of Alleghenian age (Thomas et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2017), but

zircons of Pennsylvanian age are modestly more common in Middle to Upper Pennsylvanian samples from the Forest City and Illinois Basins, where ~17 grains produced DZ U-Pb ages that correspond in time to the Alleghenian orogeny (Kissock et al., 2018). We compiled 25 concordant DZ U-Pb ages that range from 301 to 333 Ma from Pennsylvanian units of eastern Laurentia (Fig. 9) from Sharrah (2006), Dodson (2008), Thomas et al. (2016), Kissock et al. (2018), and Chapman and Laskowski (2019), including 13 U-Pb ages that overlap within 2σ uncertainty with our youngest U-Pb ages from the Jackfork. The majority of these syndepositional zircons were collected in the Forest City Basin in Iowa, which is something of a conundrum because the nearest location for Alleghenian plutons is in the southern Appalachians of Georgia through Virginia, plutons of this age are rare in the northern Appalachians (Hibbard and Karabinos, 2013), and syndepositional zircons are rare in the Appalachian foredeep (Thomas et al., 2017) and Ouachita remnant ocean basin (this study). However, our youngest single grains from the Jackfork Group at ca. 317 Ma and 324 Ma, if robust, are not outliers within the broader context of Pennsylvanian units of eastern Laurentia.

Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing

High-amplitude and high-frequency glacio-eustasy was common in the Pennsylvanian (Heckel, 2008), hence shelves would have been submerged during interglacial periods, and exposed during glacial periods with low sea level. Based on DZ U-Pb ages and Hf isotopic data from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale, we conclude that at least two distinct fluvial systems to the east, northeast and north extended across the emergent Arkoma shelf during periods of low sea level to discharge sediments to two different slope canyons. Sediment routed through these canyons then fed two Ouachita Basin deep-sea fans: the Big Rock Quarry samples are

interpreted to represent a proximal part of a more northerly-derived system, whereas the distal DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby samples are interpreted to represent a mixing of these two fans. We interpret the distinct Yavapai-Mazatzal signature of Cluster B from Big Rock Quarry was derived from the north-northwest from the exposed Nemaha uplift of present-day Nebraska (Steeples, 1982; Dolton and Finn, 1989; Burberry et al., 2015; Joeckel et al., 2019). Alternative local sources consist of the Upper Mississippian Wedington Sandstone of northwestern Arkansas (Xie et al., 2016a) and the Aux Vases Sandstone in Missouri (Chapman and Laskowski, 2019), which contain ~15% and ~14% Yavapai-Mazatzal-age grains, respectively, which is insufficient to produce the proportion of Yavapai-Mazatzal-age grains in Cluster B (~24%). We therefore suggest that sediment was transported from the exposed Nemaha uplift to the south-southeast, across present-day Missouri, and the river system occasionally avulsed to the east to join a river system that was transporting sediment from the northeast through southern Illinois and Kentucky. During a subsequent sea-level lowstand, the two fluvial systems flowed together across the Arkoma shelf and discharged to a common submarine canyon located to the northeast of Big Rock Quarry (Fig. 10).

We see no clear evidence that the advancing Ouachita magmatic arc to the south of the remnant ocean basin contributed sediment to the Jackfork and Johns Valley Shale deep-sea fans. Instead, Ouachita arc-derived terrigenous sediment from the south was most likely transported by short and steep fluvial systems (see Helland-Hansen et al., 2016) that drained the arc, and sediment was trapped in the Gondwanan forearc basins, a situation perhaps analogous to the modern Sumatran forearc (e.g., Moore et al., 1982). Our data therefore generally support the view that multiple fluvial systems contributed to at least two deep-sea fans in the Ouachita Basin, but there was minimal contribution from the south (e.g., Morris, 1971; Graham et al., 1975; Gleason et al.,

1994; Coleman, 2000). Thus prior to basin closure and uplift and propagation of the Ouachita fold and thrust belt in the Late Pennsylvanian (Coleman, 2000), the Jackfork and Johns Valley Shale deep-sea fans represented the primary terminal sink for interpreted fluvial systems that drained an area that stretched from the Appalachians in the eastern US to the midcontinent. Similar to the modern world (e.g., Sweet and Blum, 2016), the wide shelves of the Pennsylvanian would have been flooded during interglacial periods with high sea level, and the majority of sediment transfer to the Ouachita deepwater Basin would have occurred when these large regional-scale low-gradient river systems extended across emergent shelves to connect with slope canyons during glacial periods when sea level was low, and river mouths were proximal to shelf-margin canyon heads (Fig. 10).

Comparison with DZ U-Pb Data from Pennsylvanian Stratigraphic Units of Eastern Laurentia

We compared DZ U-Pb data from the Ouachita Basin with published data from Lower Pennsylvanian samples collected from the greater Appalachian foreland-basin system (Fig. 11A), including the Illinois Basin (Caseyville Formation and Caseyville-equivalents, Kissock et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020), the Appalachian Basin (Raleigh Sandstone, Sewanee Conglomerate, and Corbin Sandstone, e.g., Eriksson et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2017), and the Arkoma shelf (middle Bloyd sandstone member of the Bloyd Formation, Xie et al., 2018). The MDS plot in Figure 11B shows that many Lower Pennsylvanian DZ samples from eastern Laurentia surround and partially enclose Cluster A. While Cluster B is distinct in the broader context of other Pennsylvanian samples, a few samples plot relatively close to Cluster B as well: the two nearest neighbors to Cluster B, from the Lee Formation in Virginia (Becker et
al., 2005) and from the Middle Bloyd Sandstone of northwest Arkansas (Xie et al., 2018), contain very few if any Appalachian ages and elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal contributions. The Corbin Sandstone sample from Kentucky (Thomas et al., 2017) and Caseyville Formation and Caseyville-equivalent sandstones in the Illinois Basin (Kissock et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020) also show an elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal signature, but the importance of the Appalachian-Grenville signature places these samples close to Cluster A.

Figures 11C and 11D show that DZ samples from Middle Pennsylvanian units of the Forest City and Illinois Basins (Kissock et al., 2018), and the Fort Worth Basin (south central United States) (Alsalem et al., 2018) closely encircle Cluster A and have similar Appalachian-Grenville signatures. This is also the case for the Atoka Formation samples from the Ouachita thrust belt (Sharrah, 2006), although some of these samples also contain the elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal signature, resulting in a prospective link between Clusters A and B (Fig. 11D). Moreover, a composite sample from locations in Missouri and Iowa (McFadden et al., 2012) and a sample from Michigan (Thomas et al., 2020) group with Cluster B due to characteristic elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal age modes. Most Upper Pennsylvanian units plot in the distal periphery relative to Clusters A and B (Fig. 11D).

This comparison between published Pennsylvanian data from eastern Laurentia and samples from the Ouachita Basin support the interpretation that the Ouachita Basin was the primary terminal sink for sediment derived from eastern Laurentia, from the Appalachians to the US midcontinent. To summarize, we interpret sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin to have included: (1) a west- to southwest-flowing longitudinal fluvial system within the Appalachian foredeep, through present-day Tennessee, northwestern Alabama, and northern Mississippi; (2) a southwest-flowing fluvial system that flowed through the Appalachian backbulge, including the Illinois Basin, then crossed the northern Arkoma shelf to deliver sediment to the Ouachita Basin; and (3) a smaller tributary system from the north-northwest, which delivered sediment from the midcontinent and joined the southwest-flowing system on the Arkoma shelf (Fig. 10).

Prospects for Large-Scale East-to-West Transcontinental Sediment Transfer

As noted above, previous authors interpreted the central Appalachians to be the source region for large-scale east-to-west sediment transfer to the western Laurentian margin during the Carboniferous. We agree with Thomas (2011) that the fluvial systems responsible for large-scale east-to-west sediment transfer are unclear, and add that the north-south oriented paleovalleys that routed water and sediment from the US midcontinent to the Ouachita Basin would have most likely obstructed westward sediment transport throughout the extent of the contributing drainage area for the Jackfork and Johns Valley Shale of the Ouachita Basin, especially during sea-level lowstands when river mouths were likely connected to submarine canyons. We therefore generally consider large-scale east-to-west sediment transfer by fluvial systems that drained the Appalachians during the Mississippian and Pennsylvanian to have been unlikely, and that sediment from the eastern and midcontinent US was instead routed directly to the Ouachita terminal sink.

Previous workers have proposed eolian transport as an alternative mechanism for transcontinental sediment transport across Laurentia during various times in the late Paleozoic, noting the Appalachian-Grenville-like DZ U-Pb signatures in late Paleozoic deposits of the Western US (Dickinson and Gehrels, 2003; Gehrels et al., 2011; Gehrels and Pecha, 2014; Nair et al., 2018; Chapman and Laskowski, 2019). However, we note that wind-transported particles greater than 1 μ m generally fallout within 1000 km of the source area (e.g., Schutz et al., 1981), and eolian transport of sand-sized lower-density quartz grains (relative to zircon) is limited to distances of a couple hundred kilometers (see Boardman et al., 1995; Williams et al., 2016).

Chapman and Laskowski (2019), building on several of the provenance studies above, proposed an interesting alternative model that called on a coordinated multi-stage transport of Appalachian-derived DZ via delivery of sediment to the shoreline by fluvial processes, followed by longshore drift enhanced by trade winds and cyclones to transport this material to the western margin of Laurentia. However, while these processes certainly existed in Carboniferous equatorial Laurentia, transporting sands in a shallow marine environment at the scale necessary to contribute significantly to the Western Laurentian margin seems unlikely for the following reasons:

• Unlike the mud fraction, the sand fraction, including sand-sized zircons that are used for provenance studies, is transported in the longshore drift system within a kilometer or two of the shoreline, beyond which minimal large-scale sand transport takes place (see Sweet and Blum, 2016 for a recent discussion);

• Longshore transport of sand in the modern-day Gulf of Mexico (Stone and Stapor, 1996), on the Brazilian coast (e.g., Bittencourt et al., 2005), and elsewhere (see Inman, 2003), is typically organized into cells with length scales of kilometers to 100s of kilometers, beyond which there is little net exchange of sediment with adjacent longshore drift cells. The Holocene Gold Coast of eastern Australia is an exception in this context, because it shows evidence for ~1500 km of net longshore sand transport over a period of ~750,000 years (Pattearson and Patterson, 1983; Boyd et al., 2008), and was therefore cited by Chapman and

Laskowski (2019) as a potential analog. However, longshore drift would have encountered many obstacles to westward transport as well, including cross-shelf paleovalleys during sealevel lowstand, and muddy delta plains and drowned-valley estuaries during highstands.

• Longshore transport rates are typically of a scale comparable to the sediment discharge of individual regional-scale or smaller river systems. For example, sediment transport rates along the eastern Gulf of Mexico coast are typically in the \sim 1-3 x 10⁵ m³ yr⁻¹ range (Stone and Stapor, 1996), whereas longshore sand transport along Australia's Gold Coast is \sim 5 x 10⁵ m³ yr⁻¹ (Pattearson and Patterson, 1983; Boyd et al., 2008). By comparison, between 1950 and 2010 CE the Mississippi River delivered \sim 2 orders of magnitude more sand per year to the delta region (Blum and Roberts, 2014).

From the above, we find it difficult to justify longshore transport length scales, rates, and volumes that would have been capable of transporting sand across the continent at a scale required to produce the dominant DZ U-Pb signal for a continental margin, and do not see a viable pathway for large-scale sediment transfer between the U.S. part of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system and southwestern Laurentia. However, we note that Leary et al. (2020) recently suggested long-distance transport from the Arctic Ellesmerian orogen and possibly the northern Appalachian orogen to the western United States. Our data and interpretations are compatible with this second model, but we note that, following the original objections raised by Thomas (2011), Carboniferous units with sand bodies that are of a scale that could represent a transcontinental-scale fluvial system have not been identified in the northern US or Canada. We also note that, on the other hand, Saylor and Sundell (2021) applied non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) to samples from the western Laurentian margin and suggested, tentatively, that Mississippian strata from Arizona which record an influx of ca. 1.0-1.2 Ga zircon ages

(Gehrels et al., 2011) were derived from the same sources that delivered sediment to the Appalachian foreland basin and midcontinental basins.

Conclusion

This study presents detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb and EHf values from the Lower Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale of the synorogenic Ouachita deepwater Basin of Arkansas. All samples display abundant Appalachian-Grenville, Midcontinent and Yavapai-Mazatzal ages. Appalachian-Grenville ages dominate ten samples collected from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale in the present-day southern Ouachita Mountains. However, two additional samples from the most northern and most source-proximal site in Little Rock, Arkansas, exhibit only modest percentages of Appalachian ages and elevated contributions of Yavapai-Mazatzal ages when compared with samples collected farther to the south and west. Detrital Zircon U-Pb age distributions generally correspond to age distributions from the Appalachian foredeep, Illinois Basin, Forest City Basin, and the Arkoma shelf. Moreover, EHf values obtained from Appalachian- and peri-Gondwanan-age DZ of the Ouachita Basin are similar to EHf values from Pennsylvanian samples collected in the Appalachian, Illinois, and Forest City Basins (Thomas et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2020); the intermediate EHf values characteristic of the Ouachita Basin do not in themselves clearly discriminate different crustal sources, but provide additional characterization of EHf signatures for Pennsylvanian units in the eastern United States as a whole.

Despite the proximity of the Ouachita arc south of the Ouachita Basin, most Mississippian- and Pennsylvanian-age sediment that was shed from this magmatic arc was likely trapped within Gondwanan forearc basins (Ingersoll et al., 1995; Shaulis et al., 2012). We therefore interpret that two distinct deep-sea fan systems in the Ouachita Basin were sourced by distinct feeder fluvial systems to the east, northeast and north (Fig. 10). Thus sediment-routing systems that fed the Ouachita Basin, including the generally east-to-west flowing fluvial systems of the Appalachian foredeep, the generally northeast-to-southwest flowing fluvial systems of the Appalachian backbulge, and the generally north-to-south flowing fluvial systems of the US midcontinent, would have drained much of eastern Laurentia in what is the present-day eastern and middle regions of the United States, and the Ouachita Basin represented a terminal sink for fluvial sediment transported from the US part of the Appalachian orogen.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Indiana Geological and Water Survey for support during manuscript preparation. This research was funded through the generous support of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists Foundation Grants-in-Aid Award and Thomas Hendricks Memorial Grant and the Ritchie Endowment at the University of Kansas. We thank the Arizona LaserChron staff and Abdullah Wahbi for help with detrital zircon analyses, as well as Tennille Fincham for guidance on figure art. We appreciate the efforts of reviewer Alan Chapman, two anonymous reviewers, and Editor David Fastovsky in seeing this article through the *Geosphere* review process.

Figures



Figure 1. Major basins and structures of Early Pennsylvanian eastern Laurentia (after Nelson, 1989; Coleman and Cahan, 2012; Kissock et al., 2018). These structures reflect the assembly of the Paleozoic Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system and the profound effect on Laurentian landscapes and sediment routing. Differentiation of northern and southern segments of the Appalachians is based on the strong asymmetry in the distribution of Alleghenian plutonic rocks, with the vast majority of magmatic systems south of the New York promontory (Hibbard and Karabinos, 2013). The three blue arrows indicate potential sediment routing pathways to the Ouachita Basin. BWB—Black Warrior Basin; CA—Cincinnati arch; CAB—Central

Appalachian Basin; FCB—Forest City Basin; IB—Illinois Basin; MB—Michigan Basin; ND— Nashville dome; OB— Ouachita Basin.

Period	Stage/ Series	Ouachita Basin	Arko	ma shelf	Illinois Basin	Black Warrior	Ар	s			
Lower Penn.	Atokan		Atalia	F	Tradeursten			Dus sthitt			
		Atoka	Atoka	Formation	Tadewater			Breathitt			
		Formation				Pottsville	Breathitt		Pottsville		
	Morrowan	Johns Valley Shale Jackfork		Kessler Ls		Formation	Group	Lee/Corbin	Group		
			Bloyd	Dye Shale	Caseyville/		Group	Bee Rock			
			Eormation	Mid Bloyd Ss				Sewanee/			
			Formation	Brentwood Ls	Wansheid			New River			
		Group		Hale				Warren Point	Sharon		
		Stanley	Pitkins	Limestone	Hardinsburg	Darkwood/		Bluestone			
Linner			Favetteville	U Fayetteville	Cypress	Bangor Ls	Dennington	Princeton	Mauch		
Upper Miss.	Chesterian		Shale	Wedington	Aux Vases		Pennington	Hinton	Chunk		
		Group	Shale	L Fayetteville	Ste.		Group	Stony Gap	Group		
							Hindsville	Batesville	Genevieve	Pride Mtn	

Figure 2. General Upper Mississippian and Lower Pennsylvanian lithological correlation between the Ouachita Basin, Arkoma shelf, Illinois Basin, Black Warrior Basin, and Appalachian basins (selected units from the Southern, Central, and Northern Appalachian Basins). The units from this study, the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale of the Ouachita Basin, are shaded. After Sutherland (1988), Chesnut (1992), Archer and Greb (1995), Nelson et al. (2002), Becker et al. (2005), Xie et al. (2016a, 2016b, 2018), Thomas et al. (2017, 2020), Zou et al. (2017), and Wang and Bidgoli (2019). L—Lower; Ls—Limestone; Mid—Middle; Miss.— Mississippian; Mtn—Mountain; Penn.—Pennsylvanian; Ss—Sandstone; U—Upper.



Figure 3. Map showing Jackfork Group (green) and Johns Valley Shale (blue) outcrops in Arkansas and detrital zircon sample locations and sample names from this study. From east to west, the sample locations are: Big Rock Quarry (B), DeGray Lake Spillway (D), and State Highway 27 roadcuts south of Kirby (K). Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale samples are shown as black dots (J1–J12, corresponding to PennJ1–PennJ12). The distribution of outcrops is based on mineral resources data from the U.S. Geological Survey

(https://mrdata.usgs.gov/geology/state/state.php?state=AR).



Figure 4. Examples of outcrop locations for detrital zircon sample collection from roadcuts along State Highway 27 south of Kirby (A–D; roadcuts after Zou et al., 2017), DeGray Lake Spillway (E), and Big Rock Quarry (F). See Table 2 for sample location coordinates. (A) Sample PennJ4, lower Jackfork Group, roadcut 1 (yellow notebook, near J4, is ~28 cm in length). (B) Sample PennJ6 from ~18-cm-thick bed, middle Jackfork Group, roadcut 5. (C) Sample PennJ7 from ~18-cm-thick bed, middle Jackfork Group, roadcut 7. (D) Sample PennJ8, from ~12-cm-thick bed, upper Jackfork Group, roadcut 9. (E) Sample PennJ3, upper Jackfork Group, northern section, looking northeastward. Width of photo ~100 m. (F) Samples PennJ11 (north, gray triangle) and PennJ12 (south, white triangle), upper Jackfork Group, looking eastward. Width of photo ~850 m.



Figure 5. Contribution of different sources to the composite detrital zircon U-Pb record of Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale samples, including the "higher-n" analyses from sample PennJ1B (N = 12, n = 4053).



Figure 6. Normalized kernel density estimates (KDE) from 12 detrital zircon samples collected from three locations: Big Rock Quarry, Little Rock (samples PennJ11 and PennJ12); DeGray Lake Spillway (samples PennJ1 to PennJ3); and State Highway 27 roadcuts south of Kirby (samples PennJ4 to PennJ10). KDE are stacked by relative stratigraphic position for Kirby samples, while samples from Big Rock Quarry and DeGray Lake Spillway are from the upper portion of the Jackfork Group. The PennJ1B age distribution was acquired by a rapid acquisition approach applied to sample PennJ1A (see Sundell et al., 2020) and is distinguished from the original n = 297 analysis. To calculate KDE, bandwidth was set to 10. See Figure 5 for age distribution color key (A—Appalachian; PG—peri-Gondwanan; G—Grenville; M— Midcontinent; Y—Yavapai-Mazatzal; PT—Penokean–Trans-Hudson; S—Superior). Analytical data are provided in Supplemental Material Tables S1 and S2. n—number of grains.



Figure 7. (A) Contribution of different sources to sample clusters A and B in the multidimensional scaling (MDS) plot shown in panel B. See Figure 5 for age group color key. (B) Twodimensional MDS plot for detrital zircon U-Pb age distributions for Lower Pennsylvanian sandstones in the Ouachita Basin (Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale). Samples PennJ1A (J1) to PennJ3 (J3) (red long-dashed line) are from the Jackfork Group at DeGray Lake Spillway, and samples PennJ4 (J4, bottom of Jackfork Group) to PennJ10 (J10, uppermost sample from stratigraphic section, Johns Valley Shale) are from the Kirby roadcuts. Cluster A and cluster B, as discussed in the text, are as shown. Solid lines indicate nearest neighbors, and dashed lines indicate second-nearest neighbors. Transformation to Cartesian distance was calculated using metric stress (Shepard plot), which resulted in a stress value of 0.033, suggesting an excellent transformation (see Vermeesch, 2013).



Figure 8. Hafnium evolution diagram showing results from the Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group (sample PennJ1A, DeGray Lake Spillway; samples PennJ4 and PennJ8, Kirby) and Johns Valley Shale (sample PennJ10, Kirby). Polygons delineated by dashed lines represent the parameter space for each sample and correspond to the sample colors in the key. Hf isotopic composition is shown in epsilon units (ε_{Hf}) relative to the chondritic uniform reservoir (CHUR; Bouvier et al., 2008; Vervoort, 2015) and the depleted mantle (DM, red line). There is a range of values for the DM array (red dashed lines; e.g., Vervoort and Blichert-Toft, 1999). Shown for reference is the evolution of typical continental crust (purple dashed line), which is based on a ¹⁷⁶Lu/¹⁷⁷Hf ratio of 0.0115 (Vervoort and Patchett, 1996; Vervoort et al., 1999). The mean ε Hf value for all grains from the four samples and the standard error is -2.0 ± 1.0 (1 σ). Shading represents the 95% density contour (2 σ) for ε_{Hf} data from Pennsylvanian samples in the Appalachian foredeep (blue; Thomas et al., 2017) and Illinois Basin (orange; Thomas et al., 2020). Data plotted with Hafnium Plotter, version 1.7 (Sundell et al., 2019). Analytical data are in Supplemental Material Table S3.



Figure 9. Aggregate concordant Late Mississippian and Pennsylvanian detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb ages from Pennsylvanian-age stratigraphic units of eastern North America (2σ uncertainty). Squares represent U-Pb ages from Upper Pennsylvanian units, whereas triangles represent Middle Pennsylvanian units and circles represent Lower Pennsylvanian units. The two U-Pb ages from the Jackfork Group are shown by filled black circles (this study); the single open black circle is an age obtained from the Grundy-Norton stratigraphic interval (Thomas et al., 2017). U-Pb ages from other DZ studies of eastern Laurentia were taken from Sharrah (2006), Dodson (2008), Thomas et al. (2016), Kissock et al. (2018), and Chapman and Laskowski (2019), and include DZ collected from Iowa (n = 14), Missouri (n = 4), Illinois (n = 3), Ohio (n = 2), Oklahoma (n = 1), and Virginia (n = 1).



Figure 10. Schematic map of three interpreted fluvial routing systems for the two deep-sea fans of the Ouachita Basin (blue and yellow polygons). Map also shows the inferred lowstand shoreline (blue dashed line) and the likely positions of shelf-margin deltas (triangles).





Figure 11. (A) Locations of selected Lower Pennsylvanian DZ samples from the eastern and central United States. Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale samples are shown in blue (J1–J12 in Arkansas, corresponding to our samples PennJ1–PennJ12). (B) Multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) plot of 26 Lower Pennsylvanian detrital zircon samples of eastern and central Laurentia (black labels; Eriksson et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2004, 2017, 2020; Becker et al., 2005; Kissock et al., 2018; Xie et al., 2018) as well as samples from the Ouachita Basin (blue, clusters A and B). The transformation stress was ~ 0.087 , suggesting a good transformation (see Vermeesch, 2013). Solid lines indicate nearest neighbors, and dashed lines indicate second-nearest neighbors. (C) Locations of selected Middle Pennsylvanian (purple) and Upper Pennsylvanian (red) samples. Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale samples are also shown (blue). (D) MDS plot of 42 Middle (purple) and Upper Pennsylvanian (red) samples from eastern and central Laurentia and the data from this study (blue). Samples are from Gray and Zeitler (1997), Erikson et al. (2004), Thomas et al. (2004, 2016, 2017, 2020), Becker et al. (2005), Sharrah (2006), Dodson (2008), McFadden et al (2012), Alsalem et al. (2018), Kissock et al. (2018), and Chapman and Laskowski (2019). Note that the positions of clusters A and B are reflected relative to panel B, a relic of the plotting software that does not indicate a change in dissimilarity. The transformation stress was ~0.094, suggesting a fair transformation. See Table S4 for sample name key.

Tables

TABLE 1. SOURCES FOR DETRITAL ZIRCON AGE GROUPS IN LOWER PENNSYLVANIAN SANDSTONES										
Age group name	Age range (Ma)	Primary source	Common geographic and stratigraphic sources for reworked ages							
Paleozoic Appalachian province (Taconic, Acadian, and Alleghanian orogens)	500–300	Appalachian-Ouachita orogen	Paleozoic Appalachian-Ouachita foreland-basin strata							
Neoproterozoic peri-Gondwanan terranes, lapetus Rift, Wichita Mountains	800–500	Gondwanan margin of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogen, Wichita Mountains of Oklahoma	Paleozoic Appalachian-Ouachita foreland-basin strata							
Mesoproterozic Grenville province	1250–950	Appalachian orogen, extending into central and western Texas and northwestern Mexico; Midcontinental Rift (1.1 Ga)	Paleozoic sandstones of the U.S. midcontinent, Appalachian-Ouachita foreland-basin strata							
Mesoproterozoic Midcontinent Anorogenic Granite-Rhyolite Province	1550–1300	Northeast-southwest trend across the eastern U.S. midcontinent, plus numerous intrustions into Yavapai-Mazatzal basement in the Rocky Mountains	Paleozoic sandstones of the U.S. midcontinent, Appalachian-Ouachita foreland-basin strata, Paleozoic passive margin strata of the western U.S.							
Paleoproterozoic Yavapai-Mazatzal orogens	1800–1600	Northeast-southwest trend across the central U.S. midcontinent to the wouthwestern U.S., including the central and southern Laramide Rockies and the Mogollon Rim of central Arizona	Paleozoic passive margin strata of the western U.S., Ouachita basin of Arkansas							
Paleoproterozoic Penokean orogen	2000–1800	South-central Canada (Manitoba and Saskatchewan) and Great Lakes region of the U.S. (especially Wisconsin)	Common in low concentrations throughout the area, and in all stratigraphic units							
Archean Superior and Wyoming	>2500	Northern U.S. midcontinent to present-day	Common in low concentrations throughout the area,							
provinces		northern Rocky Mountains province	and in all stratigraphic units							
Note: Summarized from Becker et a	al. (2005), Wh	itmeyer and Karlstrom (2007), Dickinson and Gehrels (2009), Park et al. (2010), and Laskowski et al. (2013).							

TABLE 2. DETRITAL ZIRCON SAMPLE LOCATION INFORMATION											
Sample	Location Outcrop details		Stratigraphic	Latitude	Longitude	n	Cluster				
no.			Position	(°N)	(°W)						
PennJ1	DeGray	South (W)	Jackfork, upper	34.216240	93.095775	800*	А				
PennJ2	DeGray	Middle (E)	Jackfork, upper	34.218915	93.095732	293	А				
PennJ3	DeGray	North (E)	Jackfork, upper	34.219597	93.096074	295	А				
PennJ4	Kirby	K1†	Jackfork, lower	34.230034	93.641180	301	А				
PennJ5	Kirby	K2†	Jackfork, lower	34.227850	93.640335	291	А				
PennJ6	Kirby	K5†	Jackfork, middle	34.224705	93.642490	298	А				
PennJ7	Kirby	K7†	Jackfork, middle	34.217020	93.647230	293	А				
PennJ8	Kirby	К9†	Jackfork, upper	34.213860	93.645590	294	А				
PennJ9	Kirby	JVS Section 1 ⁺	JVS, lower	34.210835	93.643860	305	А				
PennJ10	Kirby	JVS Section 3+ (W)	JVS, lower	34.204597	93.642370	299	А				
PennJ11	Big Rock	Quarry top (N)	Jackfork, upper	34.783440	92.303071	298	В				
PennJ12	Big Rock	Quarry bottom (S)	Jackfork, upper	34.777308	92.302858	286	В				

Notes : n-number of grains; JVS-Johns Valley Shale; N-north; S-south; E-east; W-west.

*Total number of grains from PennJ1A and PennJ1B.

⁺ See Zou et al. (2017) for Kirby roadcut details.

TABLE 3. SUMMARY OF EHF VALUES FOR SPECIFIC U-PB AGE GROUPS														
Location,	317.	5 Ma*	485-370 Ma				800-500 Ma				All ages			
sample no.	Value	Error (1σ)	#Grains Range Mean Error (1σ)			# Grains	Range	Mean	Error (1σ)	# Grains	Range	Mean	Error (1o)	
Kirby														
PennJ10, JVS			18	+8.1 to -11.7	-2.7	1.0	5	+5.3 to -10.8	-5.1	1.1	23	+8.1 to -11.7	-3.2	1.0
PennJ8, JU			18	+3.4 to -19.3	-2.7	1.1	8	+3.9 to -17.0	-3.1	0.9	26	+3.9 to -19.3	-2.9	1.0
PennJ4, JL			21	+7.0 to -14.0	-1.3	1.1	7	+6.4 to -9.2	-3.1	1.0	28	+7.0 to -14.0	-1.7	1.1
DeGray Lake														
PennJ1, JU	+0.3	0.8	20	+12.4 to -9.7	-0.6	0.9	5	+3.9 to -2.8	+0.4	0.9	26	+12.4 to -9.7	-0.3	0.9
Total		-	77	+12.4 to -19.3	-1.8	1.0	25	+6.4 to -17.0	-2.8	0.9	103	+12.4 to -19.3	-2.0	1.0†
Note : Com	Note: Comparison of range and mean of eHf values by age from this study. IVS—Johns Valley Shale: IU—Jackfork Group, upper: IL—Jackfork Group, Jower.													

*Only one EHf value of Alleghenian age (sample PennJ1).

+Standard Error.

TABLE 4. MEAN EHF VALUES FROM THE OUACHITA, APPALACHIAN, ILLINOIS, AND FOREST CITY BASINS												
Age groups	Ouach	ita (317-7	'84 Ma)	Appalachian (330-711 Ma)			Illinois (307-833 Ma)			Forest City (320-624 Ma)		
(Ma)	# Grains	Mean	Error (1σ)	# Grains	Mean	Error (1σ)	# Grains	Mean	Error (1σ)	# Grains	Mean	Error (1σ)
Appalachian (307-500)	78	-1.8	1.0	48	-0.1	1.2	73	-1.0	1.0	84	+0.3	0.9
Peri-Gondwanan (501-833	25	-2.8	0.9	16	-0.9	1.3	17	-2.0	1.0	21	-1.6	0.9
Total	103	-2.0	1.0	64	-0.3	1.2	90	-1.2	1.0	105	-0.1	0.9
Natas: Maan Uf analysis new sample new basing Quashita, 276, Analashian, 216, Illingis, 279, and Forest City, 276												

Notes : Mean Hf analyses per sample per basin: Ouachita, ~26; Appalachian, ~16; Illinois, ~23; and Forest City, ~26. Pennsylvanian samples from this study, Thomas et al. (2017), and Thomas et al. (2020).

References

- Al-Siyabi, H.A., 2000, Anatomy of a type II turbidite depositional system: Upper Jackfork Group, Degray Lake area, Arkansas, *in* Bouma, A., and Stone, C., eds., Fine-grained turbidite systems: AAPG Memoir 72/SEPM Special Publication 68, p. 245–262.
- Alsalem, O.B., Fan, M., Zamora, J., Xie, X., and Griffin, W.R., 2018, Paleozoic sediment dispersal before and during the collision between Laurentia and Gondwana in the Fort Worth Basin, USA: Geosphere, v. 14, p. 325–342.
- Andersen, T., 2005, Detrital zircons as tracers of sedimentary provenance: limiting conditions from statistics and numerical simulation: Chemical Geology, v. 216, p. 249–270.
- Archer, A.W., and Greb, S.F., 1995, An Amazon-scale drainage system in the Early Pennsylvanian of central North America: The Journal of Geology, v. 103, p. 611–627.
- Becker, T.P., Thomas, W.A., Samson, S.D., and Gehrels, G.E., 2005, Detrital zircon evidence of Laurentian crustal dominance in the lower Pennsylvanian deposits of the Alleghanian clastic wedge in eastern North America: Sedimentary Geology, v. 182, p. 59–86.
- Bittencourt, A.C.d.S.P., Dominguez, J.M.L., Martin, L., and Silva, I.R., 2005, Longshore transport on the northeastern Brazilian coast and implications to the location of large scale accumulative and erosive zones: An overview: Marine Geology, v. 219, p. 219– 234.
- Blum, M., and Roberts, H., 2014, Is sand in the Mississippi River delta a sustainable resource?: Nature Geoscience, v. 7, p. 851–852.
- Blum, M.D., Rogers, K., Gleason, J., Najman, Y., Cruz, J., and Fox, L., 2018, Allogenic and autogenic signals in the stratigraphic record of the deep-sea Bengal Fan: Scientific reports, v. 8, p. 1–13.

- Boardman, M.R., McCartney, R.F., and Eaton, M.R., 1995, Bahamian paleosols: Origin, relation to paleoclimate, and stratigraphic significance, in Curran, H.A., and White, B., eds., Terrestrial and Shallow Marine Geology of the Bahamas and Bermuda: Geological Society of America Special Paper 300, p. 33–49, https://doi.org/10.1130/0-8137-2300-0.33.
- Bokman, J., 1953, Lithology and petrology of the Stanley and Jackfork formations: The Journal of Geology, v. 61, p. 152–170.
- Bouvier, A., Vervoort, J.D., and Patchett, P.J., 2008, The Lu–Hf and Sm–Nd isotopic composition of CHUR: constraints from unequilibrated chondrites and implications for the bulk composition of terrestrial planets: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 273, p. 48–57.
- Boyd, R., Ruming, K., Goodwin, I., Sandstrom, M., and Schröder-Adams, C., 2008, Highstand transport of coastal sand to the deep ocean: A case study from Fraser Island, southeast Australia: Geology, v. 36, p. 15–18.
- Briggs, G., and Cline, L., 1967, Paleocurrents and source areas of late Paleozoic sediments of the Ouachita Mountains, southeastern Oklahoma: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 37, p. 985–1000.
- Burberry, C.M., Joeckel, R.M., and Korus, J.T., 2015, Post-Mississippian tectonic evolution of the Nemaha Tectonic Zone and Midcontinent Rift System, SE Nebraska and N Kansas: The Mountain Geologist, v. 52, p. 47–73.
- Cecil, M.R., Gehrels, G., Ducea, M.N., and Patchett, P.J., 2011, U-Pb-Hf characterization of the central Coast Mountains batholith: Implications for petrogenesis and crustal architecture: Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 247–260.

- Chapman, A.D., and Laskowski, A.K., 2019, Detrital zircon U-Pb data reveal a Mississippian sediment dispersal network originating in the Appalachian orogen, traversing North America along its southern shelf, and reaching as far as the southwest United States:
 Lithosphere, v. 11, p. 581–587.
- Chesnut, D.R., 1992, Stratigraphic and structural framework of the Carboniferous rocks of the Central Appalachian Basin in Kentucky: Kentucky Geological Survey, Bulletin 3, Series 11, p. 1–42.
- Coleman, J., 2000, Carboniferous submarine basin development of the Ouachita Mountains of Arkansas and Oklahoma, *in* Bouma, A., and Stone, C., eds., Fine-grained turbidite systems: AAPG Memoir 72/SEPM Special Publication 68, p. 21–32.
- Coleman, J.L., Jr., and Cahan, S.M., 2012, Preliminary catalog of the sedimentary basins of the United States: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2012–1111, 27 p., Reston, VA.
- Danielson, S., Hankinson, P., Kitchings, K., and Thomson, A., 1988, Provenance of the Jackfork sandstone, Ouachita Mountains, Arkansas and eastern Oklahoma, *in* McFarland, J.D., ed., Contributions to the geology of Arkansas: Arkansas Geological Commission Miscellaneous Publication 18C (Vol. III), p. 95–112.
- Dickinson, W.R., and Gehrels, G.E., 2003, U–Pb ages of detrital zircons from Permian and Jurassic eolian sandstones of the Colorado Plateau, USA: paleogeographic implications: Sedimentary Geology, v. 163, p. 29–66.
- -, 2009, U-Pb ages of detrital zircons in Jurassic eolian and associated sandstones of the Colorado Plateau: Evidence for transcontinental dispersal and intraregional recycling of sediment: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 121, p. 408–433.

- -, 2010, Insights into North American paleogeography and paleotectonics from U–Pb ages of detrital zircons in Mesozoic strata of the Colorado Plateau, USA: International Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 99, p. 1247–1265.
- Dickinson, W.R., Patchett, P.J., Ferguson, C.A., Suneson, N.H., and Gleason, J.D., 2003, Nd isotopes of Atoka Formation (Pennsylvanian) turbidites displaying anomalous eastflowing paleocurrents in the frontal Ouachita belt of Oklahoma: implications for regional sediment dispersal: The Journal of geology, v. 111, p. 733–740.
- Dodson, S.A., 2008, Petrographic and Geochronologic Provenance Analysis of Upper Pennsylvanian Fluvial Sandstones of the Conemaugh and Monongahela Groups, Athens County, Ohio [M.S. Thesis]: Ohio University.
- Dolton, G.L., and Finn, T.F., 1989, Petroleum geology of the Nemaha uplift, central midcontinent: US Geological Survey, Open-File Report 88–450D.
- Eriksson, K.A., Campbell, I.H., Palin, J.M., Allen, C.M., and Bock, B., 2004, Evidence for multiple recycling in Neoproterozoic through Pennsylvanian sedimentary rocks of the Central Appalachian Basin: The Journal of Geology, v. 112, p. 261–276.
- Evans, J.E., and Soreghan, M., 2015, Long-distance sediment transport and episodic resedimentation of Pennsylvanian dust (eolian silt) in cave passages of the Mississippian Leadville Limestone, southwestern Colorado, USA: Caves and Karst Across Time, v. 516, p. 1–22.
- Fildani, A., McKay, M.P., Stockli, D., Clark, J., Dykstra, M.L., Stockli, L., and Hessler, A.M., 2016, The ancestral Mississippi drainage archived in the late Wisconsin Mississippi deep-sea fan: Geology, v. 44, p. 479–482.

- Funk, J.E., Slatt, R.M., and Pyles, D.R., 2012, Quantification of static connectivity between deep-water channels and stratigraphically adjacent architectural elements using outcrop analogs: AAPG Bulletin, v. 96, p. 277–300.
- Gehrels, G., 2012, Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology: Current methods and new opportunities, *in* Busby, C., and Azor, A., eds., Tectonics of sedimentary basins: Recent advances, Blackwell Publishing Ltd, p. 45–62.
- Gehrels, G., and Pecha, M., 2014, Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology and Hf isotope geochemistry of Paleozoic and Triassic passive margin strata of western North America: Geosphere, v. 10, p. 49–65.
- Gehrels, G.E., Blakey, R., Karlstrom, K.E., Timmons, J.M., Dickinson, B., and Pecha, M., 2011,Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology of Paleozoic strata in the Grand Canyon, Arizona:Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 183–200.
- Gleason, J.D., Patchett, P.J., Dickinson, W.R., and Ruiz, J., 1994, Nd isotopes link Ouachita turbidites to Appalachian sources: Geology, v. 22, p. 347–350.
- Goldstein, A., and Hendricks, T.A., 1962, Late Mississippian and Pennsylvanian sediments of
 Ouachita facies, Oklahoma, Texas, and Arkansas, *in* Branson, C.C., ed., Pennsylvanian
 System in the United States: AAPG Special Publication 23, p. 385–430.
- Goyeneche, J.C., Slatt, R.M., Rothfolk, A.C., and Davis, R.J., 2006, Systematic geological and geophysical characterization of a deepwater outcrop for "Reservoir"
 Simulation: Hollywood Quarry, Arkansas, *in* Slatt, R.M., Rosen, N.C., Bowman, M., Castagna, J., Good, T., Loucks, R., Latimer, R., Scheihing, M., and Smith, R., eds., Reservoir Characterization: Integrating Technology and Business Practices: 26th Annual GCSSEPM Foundation Bob F. Perkins Research Conf., Dec. 3–6: Houston, p. 685–728.

- Graham, S.A., Dickinson, W.R., and Ingersoll, R.V., 1975, Himalayan-Bengal model for flysch dispersal in the Appalachian-Ouachita system: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 86, p. 273–286.
- Graham, S.A., Ingersoll, R.V., and Dickinson, W.R., 1976, Common provenance for lithic grains in Carboniferous sandstones from Ouachita Mountains and Black Warrior Basin: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 46, p. 620–632.
- Gray, M.B., and Zeitler, P.K., 1997, Comparison of clastic wedge provenance in the Appalachian foreland using U/Pb ages of detrital zircons: Tectonics, v. 16, p. 151–160.
- Harlton, B.H., 1938, Stratigraphy of the Bendian of the Oklahoma Salient of the Ouachita Mountains: AAPG Bulletin, v. 22, p. 852–914.
- Hass, W.H., 1950, Age of lower part of Stanley Shale: AAPG Bulletin, v. 34, p. 1578–1584.
- Hatcher, R.D., 2010, The Appalachian orogen: A brief summary, *in* Tollo, R., Bartholomew, M.,Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., eds., From Rodinia to Pangea: The Lithotectonic Recordof the Appalachian Region: Geological Society of America Memoir 206, p. 1–19.
- Heatherington, A.L., Mueller, P.A., and Wooden, J.L., 2010, Alleghanian plutonism in the Suwannee terrane, USA: Implications for late Paleozoic tectonic models, *in* Tollo, R., Bartholomew, M., Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., eds., From Rodinia to Pangea: The Lithotectonic Record of the Appalachian Region: Geological Society of America Memoir 206, Volume 206, p. 607–620.
- Heckel, P.H., 2008, Pennsylvanian cyclothems in Midcontinent North America as far-field effects of waxing and waning of Gondwana ice sheets, *in* Fielding, C., Frank, T., and Isbell, J., eds., Resolving the Late Paleozoic Ice Age in Time and Space: GSA Special Paper 441, p. 275–290.

- Helland-Hansen, W., Sømme, T.O., Martinsen, O.J., Lunt, I., and Thurmond, J., 2016,
 Deciphering earth's natural hourglasses: perspectives on source-to-sink analysis: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 86, p. 1008–1033.
- Hessler, A.M., and Fildani, A., 2019, Deep-sea fans: tapping into Earth's changing landscapes: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 89, p. 1171–1179.
- Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., 2013, Disparate paths in the geologic evolution of the northern and southern Appalachians: A case for inherited contrasting crustal/lithospheric substrates: Geoscience Canada, v. 40, p. 303–317.
- Ingersoll, R.V., 2012, Tectonics of sedimentary basins, with revised nomenclature, *in* Busby, C., and Azor, A., eds., Tectonics of sedimentary basins: Recent advances, p. 1–43.
- Ingersoll, R.V., Dickinson, W.R., and Graham, S.A., 2003, Remnant-ocean submarine fans: largest sedimentary systems on Earth, *in* Chan, M.A., and Archer, A.W., eds., Extreme depositional environments: Mega end members in geologic time, GSA Special Paper 370: Boulder, Colorado, p. 191–208.
- Ingersoll, R.V., Graham, S.A., and Dickinson, W.R., 1995, Remnant ocean basins, *in* Busby, C.J., and Ingersoll, R.V., eds., Tectonics of Sedimentary Basins: Cambridge, Massachusetts, Blackwell Science, p. 363–392.
- Inman, D.L., 2003, Littoral cells, *in* Schwartz, M., ed., Encyclopedia of Coastal Science: Dordrecht, Netherlands, Springer Science, p. 594–599.
- Joeckel, R.M., Divine, D., Howard, L.M., Cameron, K., and Waszgis, M.M., 2019, Geology of Southeastern Nebraska, Nebraska Geological Survey, Guidebook No. 36, p. 62.
- Johnson, K.E., 1968, Sedimentary environment of Stanley Group of the Ouachita Mountains of Oklahoma: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 38, p. 723–733.

- Jordan, D.W., Lowe, D.R., Slatt, R.M., Stone, C.G., D'Agostino, A., Scheihing, M.H., and
 Gillespie, R.H., 1991, Scales of geological heterogeneity of Pennsylvanian Jackfork
 Group, Ouachita Mountains, Arkansas: applications to field development and exploration
 for deep-water sandstones, Dallas Geological Society Guidebook #3, p. 1–141.
- Kissock, J.K., Finzel, E.S., Malone, D.H., and Craddock, J.P., 2018, Lower–Middle Pennsylvanian strata in the North American midcontinent record the interplay between erosional unroofing of the Appalachians and eustatic sea-level rise: Geosphere, v. 14, p. 141–161.
- Konstantinou, A., Wirth, K.R., Vervoort, J.D., Malone, D.H., Davidson, C., and Craddock, J.P., 2014, Provenance of quartz arenites of the early Paleozoic midcontinent region, USA: The Journal of Geology, v. 122, p. 201–216.
- Laskowski, A.K., DeCelles, P.G., and Gehrels, G.E., 2013, Detrital zircon geochronology of Cordilleran retroarc foreland basin strata, western North America: Tectonics, v. 32, p. 1027–1048.
- Leary, R.J., Umhoefer, P., Smith, M.E., Smith, T.M., Saylor, J.E., Riggs, N., Burr, G., Lodes, E., Foley, D., Licht, A., Mueller, M., and Baird, C., 2020, Provenance of Pennsylvanian–
 Permian sedimentary rocks associated with the Ancestral Rocky Mountains orogeny in southwestern Laurentia: Implications for continental-scale Laurentian sediment transport systems: Lithosphere, v. 12, p. 88–121.
- Li, T., Wang, S., Liu, Y., Fu, B., and Zhao, W., 2020, A retrospective analysis on changes in sediment flux in the Mississippi River system: trends, driving forces, and implications: Journal of Soils and Sediments, v. 20, p. 1719–1729.

- Link, P.K., Mahon, R.C., Beranek, L.P., Campbell-Stone, E.A., and Lynds, R., 2014, Detrital zircon provenance of Pennsylvanian to Permian sandstones from the Wyoming craton and Wood River Basin, Idaho, USA: Rocky Mountain Geology, v. 49, p. 115–136.
- Mack, G.H., Thomas, W.A., and Horsey, C.A., 1983, Composition of Carboniferous sandstones and tectonic framework of southern Appalachian-Ouachita orogen: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 53, p. 931–946.
- Mason, C.C., Fildani, A., Gerber, T., Blum, M.D., Clark, J.D., and Dykstra, M., 2017, Climatic and anthropogenic influences on sediment mixing in the Mississippi source-to-sink system using detrital zircons: Late Pleistocene to recent: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 466, p. 70–79.
- Mason, C.C., Romans, B.W., Stockli, D.F., Mapes, R.W., and Fildani, A., 2019, Detrital zircons reveal sea-level and hydroclimate controls on Amazon River to deep-sea fan sediment transfer: Geology, v. 47, p. 563–567.
- May, S.R., Gray, G.G., Summa, L.L., Stewart, N.R., Gehrels, G.E., and Pecha, M.E., 2013,
 Detrital zircon geochronology from the Bighorn Basin, Wyoming, USA: Implications for
 tectonostratigraphic evolution and paleogeography: GSA Bulletin, v. 125, p. 1403–1422.
- McFadden, S., Emerman, S.H., Dawson, J.P., Rey, K.A., and Anderson, T.K., 2012, Evidence from Detrital Zircon Ages for Middle Pennsylvanian Uplift and Drainage in the Source Area of the Chariton Conglomerate and Marmaton Group Sandstones, Southern Iowa and Northern Missouri: Journal of the Iowa Academy of Science, v. 119, p. 8–15.
- Meert, J.G., 2012, What's in a name? The Columbia (Paleopangaea/Nuna) supercontinent: Gondwana Research, v. 21, p. 987–993.
- Meert, J.G., and Santosh, M., 2017, The Columbia supercontinent revisited: Gondwana Research, v. 50, p. 67–83.

- Miller, B.V., Fetter, A.H., and Stewart, K.G., 2006, Plutonism in three orogenic pulses, eastern Blue Ridge Province, southern Appalachians: GSA Bulletin, v. 118, p. 171–184.
- Miller, C.F., Hatcher, R.D., Ayers, J.C., Coath, C.D., and Harrison, T.M., 2000, Age and zircon inheritance of eastern Blue Ridge plutons, southwestern North Carolina and northeastern Georgia, with implications for magma history and evolution of the southern Appalachian orogen: American Journal of Science, v. 300, p. 142–172.
- Miser, H.D., and Purdue, A.H., 1929, Geology of the De Queen and Caddo Gap Quadrangles, Arkansas: USGS Bulletin 808, p. 1–195.
- Moore, G.F., Curray, J.R., and Emmel, F.J., 1982, Sedimentation in the Sunda Trench and forearc region: The Geological Society, London, Special Publications, v. 10, p. 245–258.
- Morris, R., 1989, Stratigraphy and sedimentary history of post-Arkansas Novaculite Carboniferous rocks of the Ouachita Mountains, *in* Hatcher, R.D., Jr, Thomas, W.A., and Viele, G.W., eds., The Appalachian-Ouachita orogen in the United States, The Geology of North America, Volume F–2, Geological Society of America, p. 591–602.
- Morris, R.C., 1971, Stratigraphy and sedimentology of Jackfork group, Arkansas: AAPG Bulletin, v. 55, p. 387–402.
- -, 1974a, Carboniferous rocks of the Ouachita Mountains, Arkansas: a study of facies patterns along the unstable slope and axis of a flysch trough, *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States, GSA Special Paper 148: Boulder, Colorado, The Geological Society of America, p. 241–279.
- -, 1974b, Sedimentary and tectonic history of the Ouachita Mountains, *in* Dickinson, W.R., ed., Tectonics and sedimentation: SEPM Special Paper 22, p. 120–142.
- Morris, R.C., Proctor, K.E., and Koch, M.R., 1979, Petrology and diagenesis of deep-water sandstones, Ouachita Mountains, Arkansas and Oklahoma, *in* Scholle, P.A., and

Schluger, P.R., eds., Aspects of diagenesis: Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Special Paper 26, p. 263–279.

- Nair, K., Holm-Denoma, C., Singleton, J., and Egenhoff, S., 2018, Detrital Zircon
 Geochronology of Pennsylvanian-Permian Strata in Colorado: Evidence for AppalachianDerived Sediment and Implications for the Timing of Ancestral Rocky Mountains Uplift:
 The Mountain Geologist, v. 55, p. 119–140.
- Nelson, W., 1989, The Caseyville Formation (Morrowan) of the Illinois Basin: Regional setting and local relationships, *in* Cobb, J., ed., Geology of the Lower Pennsylvanian in Kentucky, Indiana, and Illinois: Illinois Basin Consortium, Illinois Basin Studies 1, p. 84–95.
- Nelson, W.J., Smith, L.B., and Treworgy, J.D., 2002, Sequence stratigraphy of the lower Chesterian (Mississippian) strata of the Illinois basin: Illinois State Geological Survey, v. 107, p. 63.
- Niem, A.R., 1976, Patterns of flysch deposition and deep-sea fans in the lower Stanley Group (Mississippian), Ouachita Mountains, Oklahoma and Arkansas: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 46, p. 633–646.
- -, 1977, Mississippian pyroclastic flow and ash-fall deposits in the deep-marine Ouachita flysch basin, Oklahoma and Arkansas: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 49–61.
- Olariu, M., Aiken, C., Bhattacharya, J., and Xu, X., 2011, Interpretation of channelized architecture using three-dimensional photo real models, Pennsylvanian deep-water deposits at Big Rock Quarry, Arkansas: Marine and Petroleum Geology, v. 28, p. 1157– 1170.

- Olariu, M.I., Ferguson, J.F., Aiken, C.L., and Xu, X., 2008, Outcrop fracture characterization using terrestrial laser scanners: Deep-water Jackfork sandstone at Big Rock Quarry, Arkansas: Geosphere, v. 4, p. 247–259.
- Owen, M.R., and Carozzi, A.V., 1986, Southern provenance of upper Jackfork Sandstone, southern Ouachita Mountains: cathodoluminescence petrology: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 97, p. 110–115.
- Park, H., Barbeau Jr, D.L., Rickenbaker, A., Bachmann-Krug, D., and Gehrels, G., 2010,
 Application of foreland basin detrital-zircon geochronology to the reconstruction of the southern and central Appalachian orogen: The Journal of Geology, v. 118, p. 23–44.
- Patchett, P.J., Ross, G.M., and Gleason, J.D., 1999, Continental drainage in North America during the Phanerozoic from Nd isotopes: Science, v. 283, p. 671–673.
- Pattearson, C., and Patterson, D., Gold Coast longshore transport, *in* Proceedings Sixth Australian Conference on Coastal and Ocean Engineering, 1983: Preprints of Papers1983, Institution of Engineers, Australia, p. 253.
- Pickering, K.T., Pouderoux, H., McNeill, L.C., Backman, J., Chemale, F., Kutterolf, S.,
 Milliken, K.L., Mukoyoshi, H., Henstock, T.J., and Stevens, D.E., 2020, Sedimentology,
 stratigraphy and architecture of the Nicobar Fan (Bengal–Nicobar Fan System), Indian
 Ocean: Results from International Ocean Discovery Program Expedition 362:
 Sedimentology, v. 67, p. 2248–2281.
- Pullen, A., Ibáñez-Mejía, M., Gehrels, G.E., Ibáñez-Mejía, J.C., and Pecha, M., 2014, What happens when n= 1000? Creating large-n geochronological datasets with LA-ICP-MS for geologic investigations: Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, v. 29, p. 971–980.
- Rogers, J.J., and Santosh, M., 2002, Configuration of Columbia, a Mesoproterozoic supercontinent: Gondwana Research, v. 5, p. 5–22.

- Romans, B.W., Castelltort, S., Covault, J.A., Fildani, A., and Walsh, J., 2016, Environmental signal propagation in sedimentary systems across timescales: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 153, p. 7–29.
- Ross, G.M., and Parrish, R.R., 1991, Detrital zircon geochronology of metasedimentary rocks in the southern Omineca Belt, Canadian Cordillera: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 28, p. 1254–1270.
- Saylor, J.E., and Sundell, K.E., 2016, Quantifying comparison of large detrital geochronology data sets: Geosphere, v. 12, p. 203–220.
- -, 2021, Tracking Proterozoic–Triassic sediment routing to western Laurentia via bivariate nonnegative matrix factorization of detrital provenance data: Journal of the Geological Society, v. 178, p. 1–16.
- Schlichtemeier, B.D., 2011, LIDAR characterization of a Jackfork Group basin floor fan deposit and implications to analog reservoir modeling and production [M.S. Thesis]: University of Oklahoma.
- Schutz, L., Jaenicke, R., and Pietrek, H., 1981, Saharan dust transport over the North Atlantic Ocean, *in* Pewe, T.L., ed., Desert Dust: Origin, Characteristics, and Effect on Man: GSA Special Paper 186, p. 87–100.
- Sharrah, K.L., 2006, Comparative study of the sedimentology and provenance of the Atoka Formation in the Frontal Ouachita Thrust Belt, Oklahoma [Ph.D. Dissertation]: The University of Tulsa.
- Shaulis, B.J., Lapen, T.J., Casey, J.F., and Reid, D.R., 2012, Timing and rates of flysch sedimentation in the Stanley Group, Ouachita Mountains, Oklahoma and Arkansas, USA:
 Constraints from U-Pb zircon ages of subaqueous ash-flow tuffs: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 82, p. 833–840.
- Slatt, R.M., Al-Siyabi, H.A., VanKirk, C.W., and Williams, R.W., 2000a, From Geologic
 Characterization to "Reservoir Simulation" of a Turbidite Outcrop, Arkansas, U.S.A., *in*Bouma, A., and Stone, C., eds., Fine-Grained Turbidite Systems: AAPG Memoir
 72/SEPM Special Publication 68, SEPM, p. 187–194.
- Slatt, R.M., Stone, C.G., Weimer, P., and Coleman, J., 2000b, Characterization of slope and basin facies tracts, Jackfork Group, Arkansas, with applications to deepwater (turbidite) reservoir management, *in* Weimer, P., Slatt, R.M., Coleman, J., and Bouma, A., eds., Deep-water reservoirs of the world: 20th Annual Bob F. Perkins Research Conference, Gulf Coast Section-SEPM, p. 87–103.
- Speer, J.A., McSween Jr, H.Y., and Gates, A.E., 1994, Generation, segregation, ascent, and emplacement of Alleghanian plutons in the southern Appalachians: The Journal of Geology, v. 102, p. 249–267.
- Steeples, D.W., 1982, Structure of the Salina-Forest City interbasin boundary from seismic studies: UMR Journal--VH McNutt Colloquium Series, v. 3, p. 55–81.
- Stone, G.W., and Stapor, F.W.J., 1996, A nearshore sediment transport model for the northeast Gulf of Mexico coast, USA: Journal of Coastal Research, v. 12, p. 786–793.
- Sundell, K., Saylor, J.E., and Pecha, M., 2019, Provenance and recycling of detrital zircons from Cenozoic Altiplano strata and the crustal evolution of western South America from combined U-Pb and Lu-Hf isotopic analysis, *in* Horton, B.K., and Folguera, A., eds., Andean Tectonics, Elsevier, p. 363–397.
- Sundell, K.E., Gehrels, G.E., and Pecha, M.E., 2020, Rapid U-Pb Geochronology by Laser Ablation Multi-collector ICP-MS: Geostandards and Geoanalytical Research, v. 45, p. 37–57.

- Sutherland, P.K., 1988, Late Mississippian and Pennsylvanian depositional history in the Arkoma basin area, Oklahoma and Arkansas: GSA Bulletin, v. 100, p. 1787–1802.
- Sutherland, P.K., and Henry, T.W., 1977, Carbonate platform facies and new stratigraphic nomenclature of the Morrowan Series (Lower and Middle Pennsylvanian), northeastern Oklahoma: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 425–440.
- Sweet, M.L., and Blum, M.D., 2016, Connections between fluvial to shallow marine environments and submarine canyons: Implications for sediment transfer to deep water: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 86, p. 1147–1162.
- Thomas, W.A., 1988, The Black Warrior basin, *in* Sloss, L., ed., Sedimentary Cover-North American Craton, U.S. (The Geology of North America), Volume D-2: Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America, p. 471–493.
- -, 1991, The Appalachian-Ouachita rifted margin of southeastern North America: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 103, p. 415–431.
- -, 1997, Nd isotopic constraints on sediment sources of the Ouachita-Marathon fold belt: Alternative Interpretation and Reply: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 109, p. 779–787.
- -, 2011, Detrital-zircon geochronology and sedimentary provenance: Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 304–308.
- Thomas, W.A., Becker, T.P., Samson, S.D., and Hamilton, M.A., 2004, Detrital zircon evidence of a recycled orogenic foreland provenance for Alleghanian clastic-wedge sandstones: The Journal of Geology, v. 112, p. 23–37.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Greb, S.F., Nadon, G.C., Satkoski, A.M., and Romero, M.C., 2017, Detrital zircons and sediment dispersal in the Appalachian foreland: Geosphere, v. 13, p. 2206–2230.

- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., and Romero, M.C., 2016, Detrital zircons from crystalline rocks along the Southern Oklahoma fault system, Wichita and Arbuckle Mountains, USA: Geosphere, v. 12, p. 1224–1234.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Sundell, K.E., Greb, S.F., Finzel, E.S., Clark, R.J., Malone, D.H., Hampton, B.A., and Romero, M.C., 2020, Detrital zircons and sediment dispersal in the eastern Midcontinent of North America: Geosphere, v. 16, p. 1–27.
- Thomas, W.A., Gleason, J.D., Patchett, P.J., Dickinson, W.R., and Ruiz, J., 1995, Nd isotopes link Ouachita turbidites to Appalachian sources: Comment and Reply: Geology, v. 23, p. 93–95.
- Vermeesch, P., 2004, How many grains are needed for a provenance study?: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 224, p. 441–451.
- -, 2012, On the visualisation of detrital age distributions: Chemical Geology, v. 312, p. 190–194.
- -, 2013, Multi-sample comparison of detrital age distributions: Chemical Geology, v. 341, p. 140–146.
- -, 2018, Dissimilarity measures in detrital geochronology: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 178, p. 310–321.
- Vermeesch, P., Resentini, A., and Garzanti, E., 2016, An R package for statistical provenance analysis: Sedimentary Geology, v. 336, p. 14–25.
- Vervoort, J., 2015, Lu-Hf Dating: The Lu-Hf Isotope System, *in* Rink, W.J., and Thompson,J.W., eds., Encyclopedia of Scientific Dating Methods, Springer Science, p. 379–389.
- Vervoort, J.D., and Patchett, P.J., 1996, Behavior of hafnium and neodymium isotopes in the crust: constraints from Precambrian crustally derived granites: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 60, p. 3717–3733.

- Vervoort, J.D., Patchett, P.J., Blichert-Toft, J., and Albarède, F., 1999, Relationships between Lu–Hf and Sm–Nd isotopic systems in the global sedimentary system: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 168, p. 79–99.
- Wang, W., and Bidgoli, T.S., 2019, Detrital zircon geochronologic constraints on patterns and drivers of continental-scale sediment dispersal in the Late Mississippian: Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, v. 20, p. 5522–5543.
- Whitmeyer, S.J., and Karlstrom, K.E., 2007, Tectonic model for the Proterozoic growth of North America: Geosphere, v. 3, p. 220–259.
- Williams, R.H., McGee, D., Kinsley, C.W., Ridley, D.A., Hu, S., Fedorov, A., Tal, I., Murray,
 R.W., and deMenocal, P.B., 2016, Glacial to Holocene changes in trans-Atlantic Saharan dust transport and dust-climate feedbacks: Science Advances, v. 2, p. 1–11.
- Xie, X., Buratowski, G., Manger, W.L., and Zachry, D., 2018, U-Pb Detrital-zircon
 Geochronology of the Middle Bloyd Sandstone (morrowan) of Northern Arkansas
 (USA): Implications For Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Dispersal in the Laurentian
 Foreland: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 88, p. 795–810.
- Xie, X., Cains, W., and Manger, W.L., 2016a, U-Pb detrital zircon evidence of transcontinental sediment dispersal: provenance of Late Mississippian Wedington Sandstone member, NW Arkansas: International Geology Review, v. 58, p. 1951–1966.
- Xie, X., O'Connor, P.M., and Alsleben, H., 2016b, Carboniferous sediment dispersal in the Appalachian–Ouachita juncture: Provenance of selected late Mississippian sandstones in the Black Warrior Basin, Mississippi, United States: Sedimentary Geology, v. 342, p. 191–201.

- Zachry, D.L., 1979, Early Pennsylvanian braided stream sedimentation, northwest Arkansas, *in* Hyne, N.J., ed., Pennsylvanian Sandstones of the Mid-Continent, Tulsa Geological Society, p. 269–282.
- Zou, F., Slatt, R., Bastidas, R., and Ramirez, B., 2012, Integrated outcrop reservoir characterization, modeling, and simulation of the Jackfork Group at the Baumgartner Quarry area, western Arkansas: Implications to Gulf of Mexico deep-water exploration and production: AAPG Bulletin, v. 96, p. 1429–1448.
- Zou, F., Slatt, R.M., Zhang, J., and Huang, T., 2017, An integrated chemo- and sequencestratigraphic framework of the Early Pennsylvanian deepwater outcrops near Kirby, Arkansas, USA, and its implications on remnant basin tectonics: Marine and Petroleum Geology, v. 81, p. 252–277.

Supplemental Material

Table S1: Detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb isotopic data.

- Table S2: DZ U-Pb isotopic data from a higher-*n* approach.
- Table S3: DZ Hf isotopic data.
- Table S4: Multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) sample key.

Please visit <u>https://doi.org/10.1130/GEOS.S.16709722</u> to access the supplemental material

from Chapter 2.

Chapter 3: Demarcation of Early Pennsylvanian paleovalleys within depozones of the Appalachian foreland-basin system based on detrital-zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis

Isaac Allred^{1, 2} and Mike Blum¹

¹Department of Geology, University of Kansas, Earth, Energy & Environment Center, 1414 Naismith Drive, Lawrence, KS 66045, USA ²Indiana Geological and Water Survey, Indiana University, 1001 E. 10th Street, Bloomington,

IN 47405, USA

Keywords: detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis, Illinois Basin, Black Warrior Basin, Ouachita Basin, paleovalleys of eastern Laurentia, source-to-sink sediment routing

Revised manuscript submitted to the Journal of Sedimentary Research

Abstract

Detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb data show that Appalachian-affiliated sediment was transported to western Laurentia by the Carboniferous, yet additional DZ U-Pb data from the eastern United States suggest that sediment routing systems were oriented south toward the Ouachita deepwater sink. Within this context, this study presents DZ U-Pb ages from the Lower Pennsylvanian Caseyville Formation of Illinois, and U-Pb ages and ɛHf values from the coeval Pottsville Formation of Alabama as well as sandstone petrographic data from the Caseyville Formation, the Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Group of the Ouachita Basin to document provenance, delineate drainage divides within the Appalachian foreland-basin system, and comment on the unlikelihood of transcontinental sediment routing from the eastern United States to western United States at this time.

Two DZ U-Pb age distributions from quartz arenite sandstones of the Caseyville Formation display prominent ca. 1250–950 Ma, 1550–1300 Ma, 1800–1600 Ma, and 3500–3000 Ma ages, consistent with ultimate derivation from Grenville, Midcontinent granite-rhyolite, Yavapai-Mazatzal, and Superior provinces, as well as minor contributions from ca. 500–400 Ma and 2000–1800 Ma grains. Two DZ U-Pb age distributions from sublitharenite sandstones of the Pottsville Formation display prominent ca. 500–400 Ma, 1250–950 Ma, 1550–1300 Ma, and 1800–1600 Ma ages, consistent with ultimate derivation from Appalachian, Grenville, Midcontinent granite-rhyolite, and Yavapai-Mazatzal provinces, as well as minor contributions from ca. 2000–1800 Ma and 3500–3000 Ma grains. The Pottsville Formation samples demonstrate a greater percentage of Appalachian and Grenville ages relative to the Caseyville Formation samples, whereas the Caseyville Formation samples have elevated Yavapai-Mazatzal

and Superior percentages relative to the Pottsville. We interpret these differences to suggest parallel fluvial systems in the foredeep and back-bulge depozones of the Appalachian forelandbasin system. Similarities in Hf isotopes from the Pottsville Formation and Ouachita turbidites, as well as sandstone petrographic data consistent with previous studies of Lower Pennsylvanian sandstones, also support this interpretation.

Like DZ studies of modern deep-sea fans that demonstrate an affinity to feeder fluvial systems, this study demonstrates fidelity between endmember segments of ancient fluvial-to-deepwater systems. Multidimensional scaling (MDS) analysis shows that DZ samples from the Pottsville and Caseyville Formations cluster with deepwater Jackfork Group samples, and we infer a source-to-sink relationship from these two distinct source areas to the Ouachita terminal sink. One example of large-scale inclined strata thickness from the Caseyville Formation also suggests a drainage basin area of $>10^5$ km². Contextualized with these observations, we suggest the foredeep and backbulge depozones of the Appalachian foreland-basin system steered distinct Early Pennsylvanian rivers across emergent continental shelves during periods of low sea-level, which discharged to distinct slope canyons and sourced >100-km-long deep-sea fans. Clearly circumscribed, southward- or southwestward-oriented paleodrainage areas provide a template of the Appalachian foreland-basin system. And as such the central and southern Appalachians were an unlikely source for the Appalachian signature observed in the western United States at this time.

Introduction

The Carboniferous Alleghenian continent-continent collisions (Fig. 1) and final assembly of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system resulted in a rearrangement of Appalachian topography in eastern North America that would persist for the rest of the Phanerozoic. Emplacement of orogenic loads and crustal flexure formed depozones within the Early Pennsylvanian Appalachian foreland-basin system, such as the Black Warrior and Appalachian Basins. During the terminal suturing of Laurentia and Gondwana, however, there is uncertainty in the delineation of sediment routing corridors from eastern North America to marine sinks, such as the Ouachita remnant ocean basin of the south-central United States (sensu Ingersoll et al., 2003).

Studies of recent to modern deep-sea fans show that deepwater segments of sediment dispersal systems faithfully fingerprint the detrital zircon (DZ) signature of feeder systems (e.g., Fildani et al., 2016; Blum et al., 2018; Mason et al., 2019). From this perspective, Allred and Blum (2021) document DZ U-Pb and Hf isotopes from Early Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale turbidites of the Ouachita trough, interpret at least two distinct Ouachita deep-sea fans, and infer fluvial source areas that spanned from the Appalachians to the U.S. midcontinent. This study subsequently examines Lower Pennsylvanian terrestrial and marginal-marine units that represent potential sediment sources for Ouachita deep-sea fans and refines understanding of eastern Laurentian paleovalley fairways for deepwater sediment delivery. This is an investigation of proposed southward- and southwestward-oriented sediment routing within the Appalachian

foreland-basin system, which would have prohibited sediment transfer from the southern and central Appalachians to western Laurentia during this time (see Allred and Blum, 2021).

Tectonic Template and Previous Work

Following Neoproterozoic rifting of the post-Grenville Iapetus Ocean and the development of the eastern Laurentian passive-margin (Simpson and Eriksson, 1989; Thomas, 1991; Bream et al., 2004), assembly of the Paleozoic Appalachian orogen occurred in three primary phases. The Taconic and Acadian collisional orogenies, ca. 490–430 Ma (Miller et al., 2000) and ca. 430–345 Ma, respectively (e.g., Thomas et al., 2004; Hatcher, 2010 and references therein), occurred prior to the Pennsylvanian Period. During these early phases, the Ouachita embayment along the Laurentian rift margin did not experience collisions (Thomas, 1991). The final phase, the collisional Alleghenian-Ouachita orogeny ca. 330–275 (Fig. 1), which stretched from eastern Canada to West Texas and northern Mexico (Hatcher, 2010), sutured together the supercontinent Pangea.

Although the Taconic and Acadian orogenies were important, the Alleghenian continentcontinent collision drastically changed the trajectory of landscape evolution in Laurentia (see Lawton et al., 2021 for recent discussion). Emplacement of orogenic loads created an ensemble of foreland-basin foredeep depozones on the Laurentian side of the orogen (Hatcher et al., 1989), the most proximal being the Black Warrior and Appalachian Basins. Moreover, several Paleozoic intracratonic basins, including the Illinois (Eastern Interior) Basin west of the Cincinnati arch, served as fairways for sediment routing and depocenters for terrigenous clastics. The Cincinnati and related arches have been recently considered a forebulge for the Appalachian foreland-basin system (Kissock et al., 2018).

Alleghenian clastics extend approximately 1300 km along the axial length of the foreland basin system and are composed almost entirely of terrestrial to marginal-marine deposits (Ettensohn et al., 2019). Siliciclastics within the foredeep Black Warrior Basin have been interpreted to represent fluvial and interfluvial deposits in the northeastern part of the basin and deltaic and marginal-marine sands in the northwestern part (Hobday, 1974; Greb et al., 2008); these deposits may have been remobilized by lowstand longitudinal fluvial systems that paralleled the Alleghenian and Ouachita clastic wedges (see Graham et al., 1976). North and west of the Alleghenian forebulge, the Lower Pennsylvanian of the Illinois Basin is represented by fluvial deposits of the Caseyville Formation in southern Illinois and western Kentucky and the Mansfield Formation in southwestern Indiana (Fig. 2A).

Previous Work on Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Routing

Previous authors primarily based interpretations of Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing within the greater Appalachian foreland-basin system on petrographic studies and the nature of the basal Pennsylvanian unconformity. In the Illinois Basin, petrographic and paleocurrent observations were used to infer sediment routing to the southwest (Potter and Siever, 1956; Siever and Potter, 1956; Potter and Pryor, 1961), which was later confirmed by mapping of northeast-to-southwest-oriented paleovalleys incised into Mississippian-age strata (Bristol and Howard, 1971; Bristol and Howard, 1974; Droste and Keller, 1989). Early workers in the Ouachita deepwater basin in Arkansas and Oklahoma interpreted sediment to have been derived from the northern midcontinent and the southern Appalachians (Morris, 1971), the latter transported via the Black Warrior Basin (Graham et al., 1975; Graham et al., 1976). However, Thomas (1976) argued that inferred westward sediment routing from the southern Appalachians to the Ouachita deepwater sink is incompatible with mapped northeastward and northward prograding Ouachita clastic wedges in the Black Warrior Basin. Similarly Mack et al. (1983) presented petrographic data and suggested two distinct Carboniferous clastic wedges in the Black Warrior Basin, the Alleghenian wedge to the northeast and a second wedge composed of sediments derived from the Ouachita fold and thrust belt to the south and west.

Later studies applied varied geochemical techniques to understand large-scale sediment routing across eastern Laurentia. Owen and Carozzi (1986) interpreted quartz cathodoluminescence data from deepwater facies of the Lower Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group, as well as the coeval Parkwood, Pottsville, and Caseyville Formations (Fig. 2A), to indicate that Jackfork turbidites were derived from the same source area as Black Warrior Basin equivalent units. At an even larger spatial scale, Gleason et al. (1994) interpreted Nd isotopic data from Pennsylvanian units of the Appalachian, Illinois, Black Warrior, and Ouachita Basins to indicate that Appalachian-Ouachita sediments overwhelmed this region.

Archer and Greb (1995) leveraged paleogeographic constraints and observations of the relief along the Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity to interpret several Early Pennsylvanian paleovalleys from eastern Kentucky to western Kansas during lowstand conditions. They estimated a minimum contributing paleodrainge area of $\sim 10^6$ km² each for the Caseyville Formation (and equivalent) conglomeratic sandstones of the Illinois Basin and the Lee Formation (and equivalent) conglomeratic sandstones of the Central Appalachian Basin. These estimates were independent of, yet similar to, the interpretation of two or more distinct sedimentrouting corridors from the Appalachian orogen to the Ouachita Basin (e.g., Morris, 1971).

Recent studies focused on DZ U-Pb age distributions from late Paleozoic units of eastern Laurentia (Thomas et al., 2017; Kissock et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020; McKay et al., 2021; Thomas et al., 2021). These studies built on earlier work by Eriksson et al. (2004), Becker et al. (2005), and Park et al. (2010), and firmly established the DZ U-Pb signals from the Appalachians, signals which are also observed in the Ouachita deepwater basin (e.g., Allred and Blum, 2021). However, some potential sediment routing fairways within the Illinois and Black Warrior Basins were not sampled. Moreover, Early Pennsylvanian drainage divides within the Appalachian foreland-basin system framework remain uncertain. This study conducts DZ U-Pb analyses from the Illinois Basin and DZ U-Pb and Hf isotopic analyses from the Black Warrior Basin, as well as petrographic analysis of select samples from the Illinois, Black Warrior, and Ouachita Basins, to clearly delineate Early Pennsylvanian fluvial-to-deepwater sediment routing from the eastern U.S. and midcontinent to the Ouachita deepwater basin.

The Caseyville Formation of the Illinois Basin

The Illinois Basin is a northwest-southeast-trending, spoon-shaped structure (Collinson et al., 1988) that spans central and southern Illinois, southwestern Indiana, and western Kentucky (Fig. 1). During the Carboniferous, subsidence in the southern portion of the basin resulted in the accumulation of a significant depositional succession (Heidlauf et al., 1986; Collinson et al., 1988). During Mississippian time, the southern Illinois Basin was dominated by carbonate deposition, an indicator of the warm, equatorial climate that prevailed at this time (Cecil et al.,

75

2003; Cecil et al., 2004). The Caseyville Formation is the basal Pennsylvanian sandstone that cuts into the underlying Kinkaid Limestone, a contact that is characteristic of the regional Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity (Fig. 2A, Siever, 1951; Sloss, 1963; Collinson et al., 1988; Nelson et al., 2013). During the Carboniferous, the Illinois Basin was open to the south (Potter and Pryor, 1961), and subsurface mapping indicates a series of southwest-trending paleovalleys associated with the sub-Pennsylvanian surface (Bristol and Howard, 1971; Droste and Keller, 1989).

The Caseyville Formation is a quartz arenite that commonly contains numerous well-rounded granules and pebbles of white quartz (Siever and Potter, 1956; Nelson, 1989), a characteristic distinct from underlying siliciclastic units (Collinson et al., 1988). The Caseyville Formation is constrained to the Early Pennsylvanian (Bashkirian) by palynological studies (Peppers, 1996). In general, the Caseyville Formation is interpreted to be fluvial-deltaic in origin, although marine invertebrate fossils in shales that occur between the lower Battery Rock Member and the upper Pounds Member suggest estuarine conditions (Devera et al., 1987; Collinson et al., 1988; Denny et al., 2008). The Caseyville may exceed 150 m in thickness, but the thickness is highly variable because of the irregular nature of the sub-Pennsylvanian surface (Collinson et al., 1988). In southern Illinois intervals of Caseyville sandstone form a relatively continuous escarpment (Nelson et al., 2013), such as 15–30 m cliffs near Ferne Clyffe State Park, which is capped by the overlying Tradewater Formation. The southernmost extent of the Caseyville Formation in Illinois is in the Dixon Springs graben (Devera, 1991; Nelson et al., 2016). The Ferne Clyffe and Dixon Springs locations are discussed further below as part of the sampling strategy for this study (Fig. 2B).

Hf Isotopes from the Eastern Interior

Recent work by Thomas et al. (2020) reported two Caseyville DZ samples from western Kentucky and presented a range of ε Hf values (+9.1 ± 1.2 to -20.9 ± 0.8, at 1 σ) for DZ grains with Appalachian ages (ca. 500–320 Ma). In general, the greatest densities of ε Hf values from these samples and other Carboniferous sandstones in the Midwest are nearly identical to those in the Appalachian Basin. Thomas et al. (2021) also reported similar DZ U-Pb and Hf values from the Lower Pennsylvanian Hale Formation on the Arkoma shelf to the southwest of the Illinois Basin.

The Pottsville Formation of the Black Warrior Basin

The Black Warrior Basin is situated in the Appalachian-Ouachita syntaxis, between the southern Appalachian fold and thrust belt to the east and deep-sea fans of the Ouachita remnant ocean basin to the west (Fig. 1). The Black Warrior Basin is a foreland basin bound by clastic wedges prograding from the Alleghenian and Ouachita orogens, respectively (Mack et al., 1983; Thomas, 1988). The Black Warrior Basin is separated from the Illinois Basin by the Nashville dome to the north, and is separated from the Appalachian Basin foredeep by a low arch that plunges southeastward from the Nashville dome (Thomas, 1988).

Similar to the Illinois and Appalachian Basins, the Black Warrior Basin records the early stages of the Alleghenian collision, the end of carbonate deposition, and the transition to quartz-rich Lower Pennsylvanian sandstones (Ferm, 1974; Becker et al., 2005). In contrast to the Illinois Basin, no significant regional Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity is present throughout much of the Black Warrior and Appalachian Basins (Siever and Potter, 1956; Thomas, 1972; Horne et al., 1974; Ettensohn and Chesnut, 1989). Instead, the contact between Upper Mississippian carbonates and Lower Pennsylvanian siliciclastics is gradational: siltstones and thin-bedded sandstones rest on Mississippian carbonates, which are then overlain by the quartz arenites and quartz-pebble conglomerates of the Pottsville Formation (Wahl et al., 1971). The basal sandstones of the Pottsville Formation crop out in northern Alabama along stream valleys, such as the Sipsey River and Brushy Creek locations (Wahl et al., 1971), which are discussed further below as part of the sampling strategy for this study (Fig. 2B).

In contrast to the Caseyville Formation outlined above, basal Pennsylvanian siliciclastics in the Black Warrior Basin have been interpreted to represent northeastward-prograding deltas with associated barrier island systems (Ferm et al., 1967; Thomas, 1972; Hobday, 1974; Thomas, 1974; Horsey, 1981; Thomas and Mack, 1982; Thomas, 1988; Mars and Thomas, 1999). Coeval quartz arenites of the Appalachian Basin, represented by the Lee Formation, were previously interpreted as barrier-island complexes as well (Englund and DeLaney, 1966), but are now considered to be fluvial in origin (Rice, 1984; Rice and Schwietering, 1988; Wizevich, 1992; Archer and Greb, 1995; Churnet, 1996; Greb and Chesnut, 1996; Hurd and Stapor, 1997): basal Pennsylvanian sandstones in the Black Warrior Basin may require additional scrutiny as well. Regardless, abundant palynological and megafloral assemblages constrain the Pottsville Formation to be Early Pennsylvanian in age (Eble et al., 1985; Gillespie and Rheams, 1985; Eble et al., 1991).

Early DZ U-Pb provenance studies in the vicinity suggested a strong Appalachian component among DZ sources. Becker et al. (2005) collected several DZ U-Pb samples near the Alleghenian hinterland, including in the Black Warrior Basin from the upper Pottsville Formation (Montevallo coal zone, n = 62), and most DZ along the Alleghenian clastic wedge are of Laurentian affinity, suggesting recycling of synrift and passive-margin sources (Thomas et al., 2004). Weislogel et al. (2015) also collected a DZ sample from the upper Pottsville Formation (n= 75) and observed only a minor Appalachian-age mode and a prominent Grenville-age mode.

Recent provenance studies have suggested various interpretations for sediment routing to the Carboniferous Black Warrior Basin, which differ from the view of a primary Ouachita source (e.g., Mack et al., 1983). Xie et al. (2016b) and Gifford et al. (2020) sampled Chesterian sandstones, reported DZ U-Pb ages, including ages ca. 415, 1500–1300, and >2500 Ma, and interpreted a sediment source to the northwest. In contrast, Uddin et al. (2016) reported detrital muscovite ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar ages and identified ages as young as Early Pennsylvanian in the lower and middle Pottsville Formation, and interpreted sediment to have been delivered from both transverse and longitudinal systems that drained the southern Appalachian hinterland. Alternatively, recent work identified evidence for local transport of metamorphic clasts during the Pennsylvanian, supporting a proximal source to the southeast (Haque and Uddin, 2017). Furthermore, DZ U-Pb data and zircon (U-Th)/He thermochronology from the Mississippian Hartselle (N = 2; *n* =285) and Pennsylvanian Pottsville (N = 2; *n* = 166) Formations suggest a southeastern source from pre-Alleghenian exhumation in the Appalachian Valley and Ridge, particularly during the Mississippian (McKay et al., 2021).

Methods

DZ U-Pb and Hf Analysis

DZ U-Pb ages from fluvial and related sandstones have become a common method to define provenance and large-scale sediment routing. The use of DZ U-Pb ages as a provenance tool assumes that the distribution of ages in a sample provides a fingerprint of the populations from specific source terranes (Ross and Parrish, 1991). The spatial distribution and ages of sources for DZ in Laurentian North America are well known (Becker et al., 2005; Dickinson and Gehrels, 2009; Park et al., 2010; Laskowski et al., 2013), with summaries of the pre-Phanerozoic evolution of North America and the stages of the Paleozoic Appalachian orogen provided in Whitmeyer and Karlstrom (2007) and Hatcher (2010), respectively.

For this study, we collected four samples of medium-grained sandstone for DZ U-Pb analyses from quartz arenites of the Caseyville Formation in the southern Illinois Basin and sublitharenites of the Pottsville Formation in the Black Warrior Basin (Table 1). Sample C1 was collected south of Ferne Clyffe State Park (Fig. 2B and 3D) and represents the top of the Caseyville Formation (Pounds Member) near the Tradewater Formation contact (Fig. 2A, Jacobson, 1991). Sample C5 was collected from the lower Caseyville Formation (Battery Rock Member) in Dixon Springs State Park, near the base of large-scale inclined strata (Fig. 3E). Two samples from the basal Pottsville Formation, P1 and P2, were collected in Bankhead National Forest near the Sipsey River Bridge and Brushy Creek Lake, respectively (Fig. 3A and 3B).

These four DZ samples were processed for mineral separation, mounted, and analyzed at the Arizona LaserChron Center (Tucson, Arizona) employing methods outlined by Gehrels (2012). U-Pb analyses were conducted on the Element 2 single-collector Laser Ablation-Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometer (LA-ICP-MS), using a target population of n = 300

randomly selected grains. Maximum discordance and reverse discordance cutoffs were 20% and -5%, respectively. The best age division was 900 Ma (<900 Ma, the ²⁰⁶Pb/²³⁸U age was applied; >900 Ma, the ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁷Pb age was applied). We also conducted Hf isotopic analysis on Pottsville sample (P2), targeting grains with U-Pb ages of <850 Ma, by applying the methods of Cecil et al. (2011) and Gehrels and Pecha (2014).

U-Pb age distributions from the four DZ samples are plotted as normalized kernel density estimates (KDEs) using the R-based package "provenance" (Vermeesch et al., 2016) for visual inspection of sample age distributions. We use multidimensional scaling (MDS) to identify clusters of DZ U-Pb samples that likely had the same or similar source terranes via the MATLAB GUI created by Vermeesch (2013). Hf isotopic values are plotted using Hafnium Plotter (Sundell et al., 2019).

Petrographic Analysis

We complement DZ U-Pb and Hf analysis with petrographic analysis of one Caseyville Formation sample (C5) and one Pottsville sample (P2), as well as three samples from the Jackfork Group in Arkansas (see samples J4, J11, and J12, Allred and Blum, 2021). Core Laboratories prepared thin sections and point counting was conducted by Richard Larese. A mean of 342 points was counted for each of the five samples to provide representative compositional analyses.

Results

Caseyville Formation DZ U-Pb Age Distributions

We obtained 599 U-Pb ages from C1 and C5 with 286 and 294 concordant analyses, respectively. DZ U-Pb age distributions from both Caseyville Formation samples display prominent ca. 1250–950 Ma, 1550–1300 Ma, 1800–1600 Ma, and 3500–3000 Ma age groups, consistent with ultimate derivation from Grenville, Midcontinent granite-rhyolite, Yavapai-Mazatzal, and Superior provinces. Minor age modes are represented by ca. 500–400 Ma and 2000–1800 Ma grains, consistent with minor contributions from Appalachian and Penokean– Trans-Hudson provinces. For the two Caseyville samples, the Appalachian ages represent 8% of the total, Grenville ages represent 40%, Midcontinent ages represent 13%, Yavapai-Mazatzal ages represent 17%, and Superior ages represent 10% (Fig. 4A). No Alleghenian-age grains are observed in either sample, but the youngest Acadian ages for C1 and C5 are 393.5 \pm 4.2 Ma and 401.5 \pm 3.4 Ma (at 2 σ), respectively. For Paleoproterozoic ages, C1 has two medium-amplitude modes (ca. 1639 Ma and 1757 Ma) and C5 has one large-amplitude mode (ca. 1648 Ma, Fig. 4A). DZ U-Pb data, as well as a table of potential sources of DZ age groups, are reported as supplemental files.

Pottsville Formation DZ U-Pb Age Distributions and Hf Isotopic Data

We obtained 604 U-Pb ages from P1 and P2 with 296 and 298 concordant analyses, respectively. DZ U-Pb age distributions from the Pottsville Formation display prominent ca. 500–400 Ma, 1250–950 Ma, 1550–1300 Ma, and 1800–1600 Ma age groups, consistent with ultimate derivation from Appalachian, Grenville, Midcontinent granite-rhyolite, and Yavapai-Mazatzal terranes. Minor age modes are represented by ca. 2000–1800 Ma and 3500–3000 Ma grains,

consistent with minor contributions from Penokean–Trans-Hudson and Superior terranes. For the two Pottsville samples, the Appalachian ages represent 10% of the total, Grenville ages represent 49%, Midcontinent ages represent 12%, and Yavapai-Mazatzal ages represent 10%, whereas the peri-Gondwanan ages represent 2%, Penokean–Trans-Hudson ages represent 5%, and Superior ages represent 6% (Fig. 4B). The youngest U-Pb ages from P1 are 371.3 ± 3.6 Ma, 372.1 ± 6.0 Ma, and 375.9 ± 3.2 Ma; the youngest ages from P2 are 350.4 ± 3.3 Ma and 385.2 ± 2.9 Ma (all ages at 2σ). For Appalachian ages, percentages of the total for P1 and P2 are 12.1% and 8.0%, respectively. DZ U-Pb data are reported in Supplemental File S1.

Pottsville Formation sample P2 Hf isotopic data from grains <850 Ma are plotted in Figure 5 in epsilon Hf (ϵ Hf) units. The mean ϵ Hf value and error for all 28 grains (830–350 Ma) are -3.1 ± 0.8 (1 σ); the mean ϵ Hf values and errors for Appalachian- and peri-Gondwanan-age grains are -2.6 ± 0.8 and -4.6 ± 0.8, respectively (see Table 2). The majority of the ϵ Hf values are within the +2 to -5 ϵ Hf range, inclusively; only considering the 21 Appalachian-age grains, the 25th percentile to 75th percentile ϵ Hf values are represented by -4.4 ± 0.8 and +1.9 ± 0.8. DZ Hf data are reported in Supplemental File S2.

Petrographic Analyses

We report petrographic modal analysis data from the Lower Pennsylvanian Caseyville Formation sample C5 and Pottsville Formation sample P2, as well as from three Jackfork Group DZ samples in Arkansas (see samples J4, J11, and J12, Allred and Blum, 2021). Upper Jackfork Group samples J11 and J12 are from the top and bottom, respectively, of Big Rock Quarry near Little Rock (Fig. 2A and 2B) and represent relatively source-proximal deep-sea fan deposits. Sample J4 was collected from the basal Jackfork Group south of Kirby, ~140 km southwest of Big Rock Quarry (see Allred and Blum, 2021). Sample J4 represents a more distal portion of the deep-sea fan, although the deep-sea fan continues westward of the Kirby location. Compositional data are summarized in Table 3 and raw data are reported in Supplemental File S3.

Collected from the Illinois Basin, Caseyville Formation sample C5 is a medium lower-grained, well sorted, quartz arenite sandstone collected from a sand body that is at least 8 m thick (Fig. 3E), and which gently slopes to the northeast over an estimated 130 m (Fig. 3F). The normalized framework composition (as deposited before burial) is 97.03% quartz, no observed feldspar, and 2.97% lithic fragments (Table 3). Based on total framework composition (volume %), C5 has the highest percentage of authigenic quartz cement (10.92%) compared to the other four samples. Collected from the Black Warrior Basin, Pottsville Formation sample P2 is a medium lower-grained, well sorted, sublitharenite sandstone. The normalized framework composition is 88.00% quartz, 5.60% feldspar (the highest percentage of the five samples), and 6.40% lithic fragments.

In the Ouachita Basin, the three Jackfork Group samples are generally fine-grained, poorly- to moderately well-sorted, sublitharenite sandstones. Based on normalized framework composition, the three Jackfork Group samples have the highest percentages of lithic fragments (mean of 12.46%). These three samples also have the highest percentages of total detrital quartz among the five thin sections (mean of 68.90%), in part due to the highest percentages of polycrystalline quartz (mean of 3.96%), especially from samples J11 and J12 from Big Rock Quarry (4.99% and 4.11%, respectively).

Discussion

DZ U-Pb Provenance Analysis of Pottsville and Caseyville Formations

The data obtained in this study define characteristic DZ U-Pb ages for the Lower Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation of northern Alabama and the Caseyville Formation of southern Illinois within the context of the Appalachian foreland-basin system. Collectively, Pottsville samples have larger contributions from the Appalachian and Grenville age groups (P1 and P2, mean of 58.6%) relative to Caseyville samples (C1 and C5, mean of 47.7%). Such high percentages of Appalachian and Grenville contributions to the Pottsville Formation are diagnostic of the southern Appalachian source area, referred to in Thomas et al. (2017) as the "Appalachian signature", with similarly high percentages observed in Pennsylvanian sandstones of the southern Appalachian Basin (e.g., Sewanee Conglomerate, 65.9%, Thomas et al., 2004), as well as in most samples from the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale in the Ouachita Basin (45.5–62.5%, Allred and Blum, 2021).

Although more distal from the Appalachians, previous workers presented DZ U-Pb and Hf data and recognized Appalachian-derived detritus in the Early-Middle Pennsylvanian Illinois Basin (Kissock et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020). These interpretations suggest that the Appalachian forebulge (the Cincinnati arch) was ultimately overtopped by sediments from the unroofing of the Appalachians. Models by Quinlan and Beaumont (1984) and Beaumont et al. (1988) suggest this possibility by at least Late Pennsylvanian time, if not earlier.

Two Caseyville Formation samples from southern Illinois (C1 and C5), like two Caseyville samples collected in Kentucky (Fig. 4A, Thomas et al., 2020), correspond closely to the signature of Lower Pennsylvanian sandstones in the Appalachian Basin. These two samples have combined Appalachian-Grenville contributions (C1 and C5, 45.1% and 50.3%, respectively) that are comparable with samples from coeval sandstones in Iowa (Kissock et al., 2018), Kentucky (Thomas et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2020), and Arkansas (Xie et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021). Although most Jackfork Group samples have Appalachian-Grenville percentages of >50%, three Jackfork samples from DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby (J3, J6, and J8, Fig. 2B and 4B) demonstrate lower percentages (45.2–50.3%). Curiously, the two Jackfork samples from Big Rock Quarry (J11 and J12, Fig. 2B and 4A) are distinct from other Jackfork Group samples to the southwest due to significantly lower percentages of Appalachian and Grenville ages (41.6% and 35.0%, respectively). The mean percentage of only Appalachian DZ ages for Big Rock Quarry samples (7.4%) also resembles the mean percentage of Caseyville Formation samples C1 and C5 (8.0%). While J11 and J12 are distinct from other samples in the MDS plot (Fig. 6A), the relative proximity of Caseyville Formation (C1, C5, C24, and C105) and Saginaw Formation (S56) samples, as well as a select Bloyd Formation sample (B53), suggest that a Caseyville fluvial system, as well as a fluvial system on the Arkoma shelf, may have together sourced the proximal deep-sea fan at Big Rock Quarry (see Allred and Blum, 2021).

It is notable that two Caseyville Formation samples (C1 and C5) also show a high proportion of Paleoproterozoic (e.g., 1800–1600 Ma, mean of 17.0%) and Archean (mean of 9.8%) age groups relative to Pottsville Formation samples (Fig. 4A and 4B). A high proportion of Paleoproterozoic ages is also observed in select samples from the Kentucky Caseyville Formation (C105, Thomas

et al., 2020), Bloyd Formation (B53 and B55, Xie et al., 2018), Hale Formation (C109, Wang et al., 2021), Lee Formation (L43, Becker et al., 2005), Corbin Sandstone (C19, Thomas et al., 2017), and especially Jackfork Group samples from Big Rock Quarry (J11 and J12, mean of 24.4%, Allred and Blum, 2021). The nearest direct source for Paleoproterozoic DZ would have been from the Nemaha uplift of present-day Nebraska (Steeples, 1982; Burberry et al., 2015). Alternatively, these DZ could have been originally sourced from the Makkovik orogen of eastern Canada (e.g., Ketchum et al., 2002) or the Central Plains orogens farther south, which were then transported to the Early Paleozoic passive-margin of eastern Laurentia (e.g., Cawood and Nemchin, 2001), and subsequently incorporated into the Alleghenian orogen (Thomas et al., 2004). This second interpretation is less likely due to the variability in Neoproterozoic-Early Paleozoic drainage systems to the eastern Laurentian passive-margin (Cawood and Nemchin, 2001) and the added distance recycled DZ would have traveled.

In contrast to samples from the eastern interior, Pottsville Formation samples (P1 and P2), a Sewanee Conglomerate sample (S38), and distal deep-sea fan samples of the Jackfork Group and Johns Valley Shale (J1-J10) occupy the opposite side of the MDS plot of Lower Pennsylvanian DZ samples (Fig. 6A). We interpret this difference to suggest a distinct source area from that of the eastern interior. Jackfork Group samples at Big Rock Quarry (J11 and J12) would represent proximal deep-sea fan deposits predominantly sourced by eastern interior fluvial systems with headwaters that may include: (1) the northern and central Appalachians, including possible recycled Early Paleozoic passive-margin strata that contained Paleoproterozoic-age DZ; (2) the eastern interior as farther north as Michigan, when the Cincinnati and Kankakee arches were not major barriers to sediment transport (see Siever and Potter, 1956; Quinlan and Beaumont, 1984); and (3) the Arkoma shelf to the northwest. Concurrently, a syn-orogenic drainage in the Appalachian-Ouachita syntaxis directly sourced a second deep-sea fan in the Ouachita Basin, analogous to the modern Brahmaputra River feeding the Bengal fan. It is unclear if sediment was routed from the Appalachian foredeep to the Black Warrior foredeep, but it is probable that, like during the Mississippian, the exhumed Appalachian Valley and Ridge to the southeast was a sediment source during the Early Pennsylvanian (McKay et al., 2021). Thus, we suggest a southeastern sediment source, facilitated by high sediment flux accompanying the climate of Early Pennsylvanian humid glacial intervals (Cecil et al., 2003), for a deep-sea fan in the Ouachita Basin.

The objective of this study was to examine Lower Pennsylvanian terrestrial and marginal-marine units that represent potential sources for Ouachita deep-sea fans. However, this study is limited in its scope with the presentation of four large-n ($n \sim 300$) DZ samples: two from the basal Pennsylvanian sands of the Illinois Basin and two from the basal Pennsylvanian sands of the Black Warrior Basin. There is a possibility that our samples do not completely characterize the full depositional succession of each formation. Nevertheless, these large-n data are internally consistent without major aberrations and likely detect true population abundance (see Andersen, 2005). This, together when viewed within the context of an ensemble of coeval DZ samples from other studies (Fig. 4A and 4B, Thomas et al., 2020; McKay et al., 2021), supports a source-tosink relationship from Caseyville and Pottsville rivers to the Ouachita deepwater sink.

Hf Isotopic Values from the Pottsville Formation

Epsilon Hf values obtained from Paleozoic Appalachian and Neoproterozoic peri-Gondwanan DZ from the Pottsville Formation of the Black Warrior Basin are similar to ɛHf values from the

Lower Pennsylvanian Appalachian foredeep (Thomas et al., 2017), Illinois Basin (Thomas et al., 2020), Arkoma shelf (Thomas et al., 2021), and Ouachita Basin (Allred and Blum, 2021). The mean EHf values from select Ouachita Basin samples (e.g., J8 and J10) are within error of the Pottsville Formation sample (P2), especially for Paleozoic grains (Table 2), suggesting that Black Warrior Basin siliciclastics were a possible source for Jackfork Group, and subsequent Johns Valley Shale, deep-sea fans. Select samples from the Caseyville and Hale Formations (from the Illinois Basin and Arkoma shelf, respectively; Thomas et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2021) also demonstrate mean values like Lower Pennsylvanian units in the Ouachita and Black Warrior Basins. Although DZ samples were collected in relative proximity, there appears to be a distinction between the mean EHf values from Lower Pennsylvanian samples collected in the Appalachian Basin (more juvenile, Table 2) and Pottsville Formation sample P2 (more evolved, Fig. 5). This distinction may indicate limited sediment routing from the Appalachian Basin into the Black Warrior Basin. In general, the predominately intermediate EHf values from the Pottsville DZ sample do not in themselves clearly distinguish different crustal sources, but at least support the interpretation that there may have been a connection between a Black Warrior lowstand fluvial system and an Ouachita deep-sea fan.

Petrography of the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Group

We complement DZ analysis of the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and the Jackfork Group with conventional petrographic analyses. Generally, these Lower Pennsylvanian sandstones are quartz arenite with only minor contributions from other detrital fractions. Three Jackfork Group samples are the most lithic-rich samples in this study, although not quite as lithic-rich as other Ouachita samples (Graham et al., 1976). Nevertheless, our three Jackfork Group petrographic samples are similar to Ouachita Basin data reported by Morris (1974) and Graham et al. (1976). In the Illinois Basin, the quartz arenite Caseyville Formation sample (C5) also is similar to Lower Pennsylvanian (Siever and Potter, 1956; Kissock et al., 2018) and Upper Mississippian (Potter and Glass, 1958) sandstones.

The petrographic signature in the source-proximal Black Warrior Basin is different from the quartz arenites of the eastern interior. Based on modal composition from the eastern Black Warrior Basin, Graham et al. (1976) suggested that a clastic wedge was sourced from a collisional orogen to the northeast (see Metzger, 1965 for sample locations). Modal composition data from Uddin et al. (2016) also support this interpretation. In contrast, samples from Mack et al. (1983) were more geographically distributed, including in the southwestern portion of the Basin, and showed more diverse composition. Nevertheless, Mack et al. (1983) observed that the lack of igneous grains and the presence of metamorphic grains in Upper Mississippian-basal Pennsylvanian sandstones and suggested a proximal, mixed source that included a fold and thrust belt dominated by sedimentary and low-grade metamorphic rocks, although volcanic rocks became progressively more important as a source by the Upper Pottsville.

The basal Pottsville Formation petrographic sample (P2) in this study was collected from the north-central part of the Black Warrior Basin. The percentage of feldspar for P2 is 5.6%, like Pottsville samples of Mack et al. (1983); however, P2 did not have any volcanic lithics, while other Pottsville samples, especially from the Upper Pottsville, record the progressive increase in volcanic lithics. This difference may be due to spatial and stratigraphic variability of volcanic lithics, as Pottsville samples more proximal to the Ouachita arc and higher up section

demonstrate an increase in volcanic lithics. Nevertheless, we suggest that the Ouachita magmatic arc had a minimal contribution of sediment at the time of deposition of the basal Pottsville, especially in the central portion of the Black Warrior Basin, and that most sediment was supplied from the Appalachians to the southeast.

Xie et al. (2016a) also reported DZ U-Pb and petrographic data from Chesterian sandstones in the western part of the Black Warrior Basin and observed quartz arenites that largely lacked feldspars and lithic fragments. Based on these petrographic results, together with high percentages of Paleoproterozoic DZ U-Pb ages (1800–1600 Ma, mean of 20.5% for all samples), Xie et al. (2016a) interpreted a source area that spanned much of the eastern United States and Superior craton. However, this continental-scale interpretation seems disproportionately large relative to the scale of Chesterian sand bodies in the Black Warrior Basin. Furthermore, as noted in McKay et al. (2021), such a paleogeographic reconstruction requires sediment transport around or through multiple active depositional basins. Instead, Paleoproterozoic DZ ages in Chesterian sands may have been derived from local Cambrian-Devonian units deposited on the southeastern passive-margin of Laurentia (McKay et al., 2021).

The Appalachian Foreland-Basin System and a Template for Sediment Routing

Jackfork Group sediments were deposited as turbidites in a complex array of deep-sea fans within the Ouachita Basin. For decades, previous workers postulated sources for Ouachita Basin deep-sea fans from traditional petrographic data (e.g., Morris, 1971; Graham et al., 1976) and more recently from geochemical analyses (e.g., Gleason et al., 1994, 1995). DZ U-Pb and Hf data from terrestrial units in this study, complemented by deepwater DZ data from Allred and Blum (2021), indicate that Jackfork Group turbidites in the Ouachita Basin had at least two distinct sources, one of which had a characteristic Appalachian signature. Sediment was delivered to the Ouachita deepwater basin during glacial period sea-level fall and lowstand, when fluvial systems extended across a newly emergent continental shelf to the shelf margin.

During high sea-level conditions in the Early Pennsylvanian Black Warrior Basin, sand likely was deposited in proximal marginal-marine environments; during humid glacial periods and low sea-level, sand was routed across the exposed continental shelf. Coincidently, the Early Pennsylvanian Illinois Basin was open to the south-southwest (Potter and Pryor, 1961) toward the Ouachita Basin, through which feeder fluvial systems transited the continental shelf to a slope canyon during low sea-level conditions.

We interpret our ensemble of DZ U-Pb data, as well as the clustering of Lower Pennsylvanian samples in MDS space (Fig. 6A), to suggest Ouachita Basin deep-sea fans were primarily sourced via distinct feeder fluvial systems that flowed from the eastern interior of Laurentia and the Appalachian-Ouachita syntaxis (Fig. 6B). We see no evidence to support sediment transport from the Central Appalachian Basin to the Black Warrior Basin; instead during humid glacial period lowstands, recycled sediment from the Appalachians southeast of the Black Warrior Basin (see McKay et al., 2021) was routed to the Ouachita trough. Moreover, sediment was dispersed through the Appalachian Basin to the eastern midcontinent, crossing the Cincinnati arch to the Illinois Basin (see Thomas et al., 2020), and then onward to the Ouachita Basin (Fig. 6B). This dispersal pathway is plausible considering that samples from the Corbin Sandstone, Caseyville Formation, and Hale Formation in Kentucky, Illinois, and Arkansas, respectively, plot

together in MDS space (Fig. 6A) and have similar Hf signatures (Table 2), and thus suggest a possible sediment routing fairway to the Ouachita remnant ocean basin.

We suggest a template consisting of the Appalachian foreland-basin system with accompanying Ouachita orogenic loading (see Whiting and Thomas, 1994) that steered Early Pennsylvanian rivers toward the Ouachita trough. Much of the foredeep depozones of the Black Warrior and Appalachian Basins lacks a significant Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity (Thomas, 1972; Horne et al., 1974; Ettensohn and Chesnut, 1989), suggesting accommodation was continuous. In contrast, the eastern interior backbulge depozone preserved a distinct Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity, potential evidence of forebulge propagation. Separate rivers in the foredeep and backbulge depozones, orthogonal to the foreland basin system flexural profile, both supplied sediment to Ouachita deep-sea fans.

Scaling Relationships in Early Pennsylvanian Fluvial Systems and Source-to-Sink Sedimentology

Sømme et al. (2009) documented empirical scaling relationships between drainage area and the different segments of modern sediment-dispersal systems. Subsequently, Blum et al. (2013) applied these relationships to fluvial systems, particularly the relationships between drainage basin size, bankfull discharge, and point-bar thickness. Thus, based on an example of large-scale, inclined strata near sample C5 (Fig. 3F), an interpreted fluvial point-bar, the Caseyville fluvial system in southern Illinois potentially had a bankfull channel depth of 10 m. This bankfull depth estimate scales to a drainage basin area of $\sim 10^5$ km² and a trunk stream length of $\sim 750-1000$ km² (see Sømme et al., 2009). These constraints cast a Caseyville paleodrainage area that may have

included portions of Michigan and the areas to the northeast, similar to minimum estimates of Archer and Greb (1995).

Sømme et al. (2009) also documented morphometric relationships between fluvial and shelf to deepwater systems, such that there are strong positive correlations between the drainage area of rivers and the dimensions of downstream basin-floor fans and vice versa (Blum et al., 2013). For example, a 100–200 km long (medium-sized) deep-sea fan scales, to the first order, to a drainage area $>10^5$ km². If there were two fans >100 km in length within the Ouachita trough, one sourced from the eastern interior and one sourced from the Appalachian-Ouachita syntaxis, then these fans would have crossed and coalesced on the abyssal plain. Furthermore, during low sea-level glacial periods, as was frequently the case during the Pennsylvanian, small rivers would have become incorporated into expanding large rivers transiting the continental shelf (Blum and Hattier-Womack, 2009). Thus, during icehouse high-amplitude lowstands, it would have been large rivers that connected with submarine canyons. Based on Jackfork Group deepsea fan lengths of >100 km, as well as Caseyville sand body (point-bar) thickness of ~10 m, we suggest two distinct river systems, one with a drainage area $>10^5$ km² in the case of the eastern interior, fed Ouachita deep-sea fans, and we propose that contributions from small lowstand rivers to deep-sea fans would have been minimal at this time.

Studies of the Bengal Fan (Blum et al., 2018) and the Jackfork Group deep-sea fans (Allred and Blum, 2021) demonstrate that the full extent of fans consistently record the DZ signal of feeder systems, even for the largest extant deep-sea fans. Even with transport distances that connect >2500 km of river flow with ~1400–2400 km turbidity currents, the Bengal Fan DZ U-Pb record faithfully records Himalayan source terranes (Blum et al., 2018). Furthermore, this DZ signal

propagation occurred within a ~2–3 Myr time frame through the Ganges-Brahmaputra-Bengal Fan system. It is inferred that during an episode of river-sourced sediment flux, the large-scale DZ signal transfer was consistent through a proximal-to-distal transect of a fan, without a sifting of grains that could distort DZ age distributions. In like manner, sediment transfer may have been rapid for Lower Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group deep-sea fans, and as observed by Allred and Blum (2021), the consistency of the age distributions between the Kirby and the DeGray Lake Spillway samples suggests that there is not a change in the DZ U-Pb signature along a proximal-to-distal transect of an ancient deep-sea fan. Thus, the distinct DZ U-Pb signature of Big Rock Quarry samples compared to DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby samples (Allred and Blum, 2021) instead suggests that separate rivers within the Appalachian foreland-basin system sourced distinct deep-sea fans in the Ouachita Basin.

Conclusion

The DZ signature of ancient deep-sea fans, like recent to modern deep-sea fans (e.g., Fildani et al., 2016; Blum et al., 2018; Mason et al., 2019), faithfully fingerprints feeder fluvial systems. This DZ U-Pb and Hf study, as well as petrographic study, complements a recent DZ U-Pb and Hf isotopic characterization of the Early Pennsylvanian Jackfork Group deep-sea fan system (Allred and Blum, 2021) by delineating probable Early Pennsylvanian feeder fluvial systems, and thereby links a source-to-sink relationship. Our proposed Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing template reflects the topography of the Appalachian foreland-basin system with two distinct paleovalley systems in the eastern interior of Laurentia and the Appalachian-Ouachita syntaxis (Fig. 6B). Medium-sized drainage areas (>10⁵ km²) fed at least medium-sized deep-sea

fan systems (100–200 km long) in the Ouachita Basin (see Sømme et al., 2009). Thus sizeable sediment routing systems were oriented southward or southwestward to the Ouachita deepwater sink, which would have curbed fluvial transport from the eastern United States to western United States at this time (Allred and Blum, 2021).

Acknowledgements

We would like thank Amy Weislogel, Will Jackson, and Majie Fan for thoughtful reviews that greatly improved this manuscript. We thank the Indiana Geological and Water Survey (IGWS) for support during manuscript preparation. This research was funded through the generous support of a SEPM Student Research Grant, and the Merriam Graduate Research Award, Roscoe G. Jackson II Graduate Research in Geology Award, and the Ritchie Endowment at the University of Kansas. We thank the Arizona LaserChron Staff and Jamie Gleason for assistance with DZ U-Pb and Hf analyses, and Richard Larese for petrographic analysis. We thank Matt Johnson (IGWS) for assistance with ArcPro, as well as Sarah Burgess (IGWS) for guidance on figure art.

Figures



Figure 1. Map of major basins and structures of Early Pennsylvanian eastern Laurentia (modified from Allred and Blum, 2021). Differentiation of northern and southern segments of the Appalachians based on the strong asymmetry in the distribution of Alleghenian plutonic rocks, with the vast majority of magmatic systems south of the New York promontory (Hibbard and Karabinos, 2013). The three blue arrows indicate potential sediment routing pathways to the Ouachita Basin. BWB—Black Warrior Basin, CA—Cincinnati Arch, CAB—Central Appalachian Basin, FCB—Forest City Basin, IB—Illinois Basin, MB—Michigan Basin, ND— Nashville Dome, OB—Ouachita Basin.
Α_											
F	eriod	Stage/ Series	Ouachita Basin	Arko	ma shelf	Illinois Basin	Black Warrior	Appalachian Basin			
	ower	Atokan	Atoka Formation	Atoka Formation		Tradewater	Pottsville	Breathitt	Breathitt	Pottsville	
f	Penn.	Morrowan	Johns Valley Shale J11 J12 Jackfork Group	Bloyd Formation	Kessler Ls Dye Shale Mid Bloyd Ss Brentwood Ls	C1 Caseyville/ Mansfield	Formation P1 P2	Group	Corbin Bee Rock/Lee Sewanee/ New River	Group	
L			J4		Hale	<u> </u>	Parkwood/		Warren Point	Sharon	
		Chesterian		Pitkins	Limestone	Kinkaid Ls	Bangor Ls/		Bluestone		
<u> </u>	Inner		Stanloy	Favettoville	U Fayetteville	Tar Springs	Pennington	Donnington	Princeton	Mauch	
	hhe		Group	Shale	Wedington	Hardinsburg	Drido Mtn/	Pennington	Hinton	Chunk	
	VIISS.				L Fayetteville	Cypress	Manta Fagla La	Group	Stony Gap	Group	
				Hindsville	Batesville	Aux Vases	wonte Eagle Ls		Bluefield		



Figure 2. A. Stratigraphic correlation chart showing general Upper Mississippian and Lower Pennsylvanian lithological correlations between the Ouachita Basin, Arkoma shelf, Illinois Basin, Black Warrior Basin, and Appalachian Basin (selected units from south to north). The units from this study, the Caseyville Formation, Pottsville Formation, and Jackfork Group, are shaded and detrital zircon (DZ) samples are labeled. After Bristol and Howard (1971), Sutherland (1988), Chesnut (1992), Archer and Greb (1995), Nelson et al. (2002), Becker et al. (2005), Ruppert et al. (2014), Xie et al. (2016a), Xie et al. (2016b), Thomas et al. (2017), Zou et al. (2017), Xie et al. (2018), Wang and Bidgoli (2019), and Thomas et al. (2020). L-Lower, Ls-Limestone, Miss.-Mississippian, Mtn-Mountain, Penn.-Pennsylvanian, Ss-Sandstone, U—Upper. B. Map of DZ and petrographic sample locations from this study and outcrops of the Caseyville Formation (C1 and C5), Pottsville Formation (P1 and P2), and Jackfork Group (J4, J11, and J12). Outcrop data for the three Lower Pennsylvanian units of interest (pink) obtained from https://mrdata.usgs.gov/geology/state/. See Allred and Blum (2021) for Jackfork Group DZ data collected from Arkansas. The key for select Lower Pennsylvanian DZ samples found in Supplemental File 4 (Eriksson et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2004; Becker et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020; Allred and Blum, 2021; Thomas et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021). Sample color key: black—Illinois Basin; red—Black Warrior and Southern Appalachian Basin; blue—Ouachita Basin; pink—Michigan Basin; brown—Central Appalachian Basin; purple—Arkoma shelf.



Figure 3. Photographs of outcrops for detrital zircon samples. **A**. Sample P1, lower Pottsville Formation, near Sipsey River Bridge, Bankhead National Forest. **B**. Sample P2, lower Pottsville Formation near Brushy Creek Lake, Bankhead National Forest. **C**. Thick sand body (~8 m) directly south of sample P1. **D**. Sample C1, upper Caseyville Formation, roadcut on the west side of Illinois Route 37, south of Ferne Clyffe State Park. **E**. Sample C5, lower Caseyville

Formation, Dixon Springs State Park. F. Large-scale inclined strata directly north of sample C5. Outcrop length is ~130 m. See Table 1 for additional sample details.



Figure 4. Pie diagrams and Normalized kernel density estimates (KDE) showing the contribution of different source terranes. **A**. Contribution of sources to the composite DZ U-Pb record of Caseyville Formation samples (N = 2, n = 599). C1 represents the uppermost Caseyville Formation, while C5 represents the lower Caseyville Formation. DZ samples from the Jackfork Group at the Big Rock Quarry (J11 to J12, AR) are shown for reference (Allred and Blum, 2021). KDE are calculated with a bandwidth of 10. **B**. Contribution of sources to the composite DZ U-Pb record of Pottsville Formation samples (N = 2, n = 604). Both P1 and P2 are from the basal Pottsville Formation. DZ samples from the Jackfork Group at DeGray Lake Spillway and Kirby (J1 to J8, AR) locations are shown for reference (Allred and Blum, 2021). Analytical data are provided in Supplemental File S1. n—number of grains. A—Appalachian; PG—peri-

Gondwanan; G-Grenville; M-Midcontinent; Y-Yavapai-Mazatzal; PT-Penokean-Trans-

Hudson; S—Superior.



Figure 5. Hf evolution diagram showing results from the lower Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation (sample P2, red circles). Hf isotopic composition is shown in epsilon units (ϵ_{Hf}), relative to the chondritic uniform reservoir or CHUR (Bouvier et al., 2008; Vervoort, 2015) and the depleted mantle or DM (Vervoort et al., 1999). Strictly considering the 21 Appalachian-age grains, the 25th to 75th percentile values range from -4.4 ± 0.8 to +1.9 ± 0.8. Shown for reference is the evolution of typical continental crust (purple dashed line labeled crustal evolution), which is based on a ¹⁷⁶Lu/¹⁷⁷Hf ratio of 0.0115 (Vervoort and Patchett, 1996; Vervoort et al., 1999).

The mean ε_{Hf} value for all 28 grains (830–350 Ma) and the standard error is -3.1 ± 0.8 (1 σ). Amorphous blue and brown colored outlines represent the 95% density contour (2 σ) for ε_{Hf} data from Pennsylvanian samples in the Appalachian foredeep (blue, Thomas et al., 2017) and Ouachita Basin (brown, Allred and Blum, 2021). Data plotted with Hafnium Plotter, v. 1.7 (Sundell et al., 2019). Analytical data are in Supplemental File S2.



Figure 6. A. Multidimensional scaling (MDS) plot of detrital zircon (DZ) samples mapped inFigure 2B (see Eriksson et al., 2004; Thomas et al., 2004; Becker et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020; Allred and Blum, 2021; Thomas et al., 2021; Wang

et al., 2021). Solid lines indicate nearest neighbors and dashed lines indicate second-nearest neighbors. The transformation stress was 0.098484, suggesting a fair transformation (Vermeesch, 2013). **B**. Interpreted Early Pennsylvanian paleodrainage areas that sourced Jackfork Group deep-sea fans in the Ouachita Basin (DZ samples J1–J6 and J11–J12). At least two deep-sea fans were sourced by major paleovalleys centered within the Illinois Basin (blue arrow) and Black Warrior Basin (red arrow). Yavapai-Mazatzal source terranes near the midcontinent may have contributed to major midcontinent fluvial systems (purple arrow) and ultimately to Ouachita deep-sea fans, particularly the proximal deep-sea fan deposits at Big Rock Quarry. J7 and J8 are not shown but are near J6.

Tables

TABLE 1.—Detrital zircon (DZ) and petrography sample locations. DZ sample numbers followed by * indicate samples presented with petrographic data. The three Ouachita Basin DZ samples (J4, J11, and J12) are from Allred and Blum (2021). n-number of grains.

Sample	General Location	Stratigraphic	Latitude	Longitude	n	Concordant			
Number		Position	(°N)	(°W)		Grains			
Illinois Bas	in								
C1	Ferne Clyffe	Caseyville, upper	37.526440	88.965570	295	286			
C5*	Dixon Springs	Caseyville, lower	37.384953 88.670100		304	294			
Black Warrior Basin									
P1	Sipsey River	Pottsville, lower	34.284367	87.400510	305	296			
P2*	Brushy Creek Lake	Pottsville, lower	34.294746 87.274550		299	298			
Ouachita Basin									
J4*	Kirby	Jackfork, lower	34.230034	93.641180	301	286			
J11*	Big Rock Quarry	Jackfork, upper	34.783440	92.303071	298	293			
J12*	Big Rock Quarry	Jackfork, upper	34.777308	92.302858	286	279			

TABLE 2.—Comparison of ɛHf values for 833–317 Ma grains from Lower Pennsylvanian samples. ɛHf values are from this study, Thomas et al. (2017), Thomas et al. (2020), Thomas et al. (2021), and Allred and Blum (2021). Only one ɛHf value of Alleghenian age is observed in samples Oh-1-SS and J1. CB—Corbin; CK—Caseyville, Kyrock; CV—Caseyville; GN—Norton/Grundy; HC—Hale, Cane Hill; L—Lower; OB—Ouachita Basin; no.—number; SS—Sharon; U—Upper.

Basin and 330-317 Ma		499-350 Ma				833-500 Ma				All Ages (833-317 Ma)				
sample no.	Value	Error (1o)	# Grains	Range	Mean	Error (1o)	# Grains	Range	Mean	Error (1o)	# Grains	Range	Mean	Error (1o)
Black Warrior														
P2, Pottsville			21	+11.2 to -19.8	-2.6	0.8	7	-0.4 to -8.2	-4.6	0.8	28	+11.2 to -19.8	-3.1	0.8
Appalachian														
KY-18-CB			10	+10.4 to -12.3	-1.1	1.4	1	+3.6	+3.6	1.2	11	+10.4 to -12.3	-0.7	1.4
OH-1-SS	-5.5	1.0	21	+5.1 to -7.7	-0.3	1.1	9	+7.1 to -11.5	-1.0	1.2	31	+7.1 to -11.5	-0.7	1.1
VA-1-GN			7	+5.2 to -1.6	0.8	1.1	4	+2.8 to -8.7	-2.5	1.6	11	+5.2 to -8.7	-0.4	1.3
Illinois														
KY-4-CV			15	+5.8 to -20.9	-2.8	1.0	2	0.7	0.7	1.4	17	+5.8 to -20.9	-2.4	1.0
KY-15-CK			18	+9.1 to -18.7	-1.3	1.0	4	+1.6 to -3.3	-1.2	0.9	22	+9.1 to -18.7	-1.3	1.0
Arkoma														
AR-2-HC			33	+10.0 to -19.2	-3.4	1.0	5	+6.4 to -10.1	-0.1	1.0	38	+10.0 to -19.2	-2.9	1.0
DeGray (OB)														
J1, U Jackfork	+0.3	0.8	20	+12.4 to -9.7	-0.6	0.9	5	+3.9 to -2.8	+0.4	0.9	26	+12.4 to -9.7	-0.3	0.9
Kirby (OB)														
J10, Johns Valley	,		18	+8.1 to -11.7	-2.7	1.0	5	+5.3 to -10.8	-5.1	1.1	23	+8.1 to -11.7	-3.2	1.0
J8, U Jackfork			18	+3.4 to -19.3	-2.7	1.1	8	+3.9 to -17.0	-3.1	0.9	26	+3.9 to -19.3	-2.9	1.0
J4, L Jackfork			21	+7.0 to -14.0	-1.3	1.1	7	+6.4 to -9.2	-3.1	1.0	28	+7.0 to -14.0	-1.7	1.1

Airea ana Biam (2021). Minaia	utes sundstone (r	ocky type, Polks Cl	ussijicucion, 1974. D	– busui, u–uppei	•
Sample	C5	P2	J4	J11	J12
Basin	Illinois	Black Warrior	Ouachita	Ouachita	Ouachita
Location	Dixon Springs	Brushy Creek	Kirby	Big Rock Quarry	Big Rock Quarry
Formation or Group	Caseyville (b)	Pottsville (b)	Jackfork (b)	Jackfork (u)	Jackfork (u)
Sandstone Type (original deposition)*	Quartz Arenite	Sublitharenite	Sublitharenite	Sublitharenite	Sublitharenite
Grain Size Designation (framework grains only)	medium	medium	medium lower/ fine upper	fine	fine
Average Size (mm)	0.300	0.251	0.280/0.110	0.240	0.150
Sorting (Framework, no matrix)	well	well	poor (bimodal)	moderate	moderately well
Contains Fe-Stained Clavs (ves/no)	ves	ves	ves	ves	no
Normalized Framework Composition (%)†	7	,	7	7	
Quartz	97.03	88.00	84.23	91.21	84.67
Feldspar	0	5.60	0.77	0.73	1.00
Lithic Fragments	2.97	6.40	15.00	8.06	14.33
Total Framework Composition (Vol. %)					
Total Detrital Quartz	64.66	62.64	66.67	71.55	68.49
Monocrystalline	62.93	62.36	63.89	66.57	64.38
Polycrystalline	1.72	0.29	2.78	4.99	4.11
Total Detrital Feldspar	0	2.87	0.62	0.29	0.55
K-Feldspar	0	2.01	0	0	0
Plagioclase	0	0.86	0.62	0.29	0.55
Total Detrital Lithics	2.59	4.89	10.8	9.38	12.60
Shale	0	0.29	1.54	1.17	4.38
Sandstone/Siltstone	0	1.44	0.93	0.29	0.82
Chert	0.29	0.29	1.85	2.05	0.82
Unidentified Silicied Argillaceous	0.29	0.29	1.23	0.29	1.10
Micaceous	0.29	1.44	2.16	2.35	1.92
Metamorphic/Quartzite	1.15	0.57	0.93	1.47	1.10
Metamorphic/Other	0.29	0.57	1.85	1.76	1.64
Volcanic	0.29	0	0.31	0	0.27
Argillacoous Matrix (organics common)	2.50	4.02	5.96	4.69	6.02
Total Authigonic Minorals	12,55	4.02	5.56	4.05	7.05
Total Mineral/Organic Coment	12.51	6.22	5.56	6.74	6.02
Quartz coment	10.92	6.02	5.56	6.45	0.05
Carbonate coment	10.32	0.03	0.50	0.40	4.00
Clay pore fill	1 72	0.29	0	0	1.57
Total Mineral Fracture Fill (e.g. quartz)	0.29	0.25	0	0.29	0.55
Total Mineral Poplacoment	0.23	0.96	0	0.25	1.27
Carbonate	0.57	0.80	0	0	1.37
Clav	0.57	0.96	0	0	1.10
Dvrite	0.57	0.00	0	0	0.27
Total Thin Section Porosity	16.09	18.20	Q 05	2 92	2.01
Intergranular	12.64	11.35	2.55	0.99	0.27
Intragranular	2 01	4.6	6.17	1 76	2 74
	2.01	-+.0	0.17	1.70	2./4

TABLE 3.—Summary of petrographic modal analysis. Samples J4, J11, and J12 were originally studied for detrital zircon U-Pb analysis in Allred and Blum (2021). * indicates sandstone (rock) type. Folks Classification. 1974, b—basal: u—upper.

Supplemental Materials



Supplemental Material Figure A. Map of detrital zircon (DZ) and petrographic sample locations and outcrops (coral) of the Caseyville Formation (C1 and C5, IL), Pottsville Formation (P1 and P2, AL), and Jackfork Group (J4, J11, and J12, AR). Outcrop data for the three units obtained from https://mrdata.usgs.gov/geology/state/.



Supplemental Material Figure B. Ternary Qt-F-L diagram for samples from the Lower Penn. Caseyville Fm. (C5, IL), Pottsville Fm. (P2, AL), and Jackfork Group (J4, J11, and J12, AR).

Table S1: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data

Table S2: DZ Hf Isotopic Data

Table S3: Petrographic Data

Table S4: MDS Sample Key

Table S5: Sources for DZ Age Groups

Table S6: DZ Percentage per Age Group

See Appendix for supplemental files S1-S6

References

- Allred, I.J., and Blum, M.D., 2021, Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin (southeastern United States) and barriers to transcontinental sediment transport sourced from the Appalachian orogen based on detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis: Geosphere, v. 18, p. 350–369.
- Andersen, T., 2005, Detrital zircons as tracers of sedimentary provenance: limiting conditions from statistics and numerical simulation: Chemical Geology, v. 216, p. 249–270.
- Archer, A.W., and Greb, S.F., 1995, An Amazon-scale drainage system in the Early Pennsylvanian of central North America: The Journal of Geology, v. 103, p. 611–627.
- Beaumont, C., Quinlan, G., and Hamilton, J., 1988, Orogeny and stratigraphy: Numerical models of the Paleozoic in the eastern interior of North America: Tectonics, v. 7, p. 389–416.
- Becker, T.P., Thomas, W.A., Samson, S.D., and Gehrels, G.E., 2005, Detrital zircon evidence of Laurentian crustal dominance in the lower Pennsylvanian deposits of the Alleghanian clastic wedge in eastern North America: Sedimentary Geology, v. 182, p. 59–86.
- Blum, M., Martin, J., Milliken, K., and Garvin, M., 2013, Paleovalley systems: insights from Quaternary analogs and experiments: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 116, p. 128–169.
- Blum, M.D., and Hattier-Womack, J., 2009, Climate change, sea-level change, and fluvial sediment supply to deepwater depositional systems, *in* Kneller, B., Martinsen, O., and McCaffrey, B., eds., External Controls on Deep Water Depositional Systems: SEPM Special Publication 92, p. 15–39.
- Blum, M.D., Rogers, K., Gleason, J., Najman, Y., Cruz, J., and Fox, L., 2018, Allogenic and autogenic signals in the stratigraphic record of the deep-sea Bengal Fan: Scientific reports, v. 8, p. 1–13.

- Bouvier, A., Vervoort, J.D., and Patchett, P.J., 2008, The Lu–Hf and Sm–Nd isotopic composition of CHUR: constraints from unequilibrated chondrites and implications for the bulk composition of terrestrial planets: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 273, p. 48–57.
- Bream, B.R., Hatcher, R.D., Miller, C.F., Fullagar, P.D., Tollo, R., McLelland, J., Corriveau, L., and Bartholomew, M., 2004, Detrital zircon ages and Nd isotopic data from the southern Appalachian crystalline core, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, and Tennessee: New provenance constraints for part of the Laurentian margin, *in* Tollo, R., Corriveau, L., McLelland, J., and Bartholomew, M., eds., Proterozoic tectonic evolution of the Grenville orogen in North America: Boulder, Colorado, GSA Memoir 197, p. 459–476.
- Bristol, H.M., and Howard, R.H., 1971, Paleogeologic map of the sub-Pennsylvanian Chesterian (Upper Mississippian) surface in the Illinois Basin: Illinois State Geological Survey, Circular 458, p. 1–14.
- Bristol, H.M., and Howard, R.H., 1974, Sub-Pennsylvanian valleys in the Chesterian surface of the Illinois Basin and related Chesterian slump blocks, *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States. GSA Special Paper 148, p. 315–335.
- Burberry, C.M., Joeckel, R.M., and Korus, J.T., 2015, Post-Mississippian tectonic evolution of the Nemaha Tectonic Zone and Midcontinent Rift System, SE Nebraska and N Kansas: The Mountain Geologist, v. 52, p. 47–73.
- Cawood, P.A., and Nemchin, A.A., 2001, Paleogeographic development of the east Laurentian margin: Constraints from U-Pb dating of detrital zircons in the Newfoundland Appalachians: GSA Bulletin, v. 113, p. 1234–1246.
- Cecil, C.B., Dulong, F.T., West, R.R., Stamm, R., Wardlaw, B.A., and Edgar, N.T., 2003, Climate controls on the stratigraphy of a Middle Pennsylvanian cyclothem in North

America, *in* Cecil, C.B., and Edgar, N.T., eds., Climate Controls on Stratigraphy: SEPM Special Publication 77, p. 151–180.

- Cecil, C.B., Brezinski, D.K., and Dulong, F., 2004, The Paleozoic record of changes in global climate and sea level: Central Appalachian Basin, *in* Southworth, S., and Burton, W., eds., Geology of the National Capital Region—Field Trip Guidebook: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1264, p. 77–133.
- Cecil, M.R., Gehrels, G., Ducea, M.N., and Patchett, P.J., 2011, U-Pb-Hf characterization of the central Coast Mountains batholith: Implications for petrogenesis and crustal architecture: Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 247–260.
- Chesnut, D.R., 1992, Stratigraphic and structural framework of the Carboniferous rocks of the Central Appalachian Basin in Kentucky: Kentucky Geological Survey, Bulletin 3, Series 11, p. 1–42.
- Churnet, H.G., 1996, Depositional environments of Lower Pennsylvanian coal-bearing siliciclastics of southeastern Tennessee, northwestern Georgia, and northeastern Alabama, USA: International journal of coal geology, v. 31, p. 21–54.
- Collinson, C., Sargent, M.L., and Jennings, J.R., 1988, Illinois basin region, *in* Sloss, L., ed.,
 Sedimentary cover—North American craton: U.S. (Geology of North America), Volume
 D-2: Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America, p. 383–426.
- Denny, F.B., Goldstein, A., Devera, J.A., Williams, D.A., Lasemi, Z., and Nelson, W.J., 2008, The Illinois-Kentucky Fluorite District, Hicks Dome, and Garden of the Gods in southeastern Illinois and northwestern Kentucky: From the Cincinnati Arch to the Illinois Basin: Geological field excursions along the Ohio River Valley: Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America Field Guide, v. 12, p. 11–24.

- Devera, J., Mason, C., and Peppers, R., 1987, A marine shale in the Caseyville Formation (Lower Pennsylvanian) in southern Illinois: Proceedings, Geological Society of America, Abstracts with Programs, 1987, v. 19, p. 1–196.
- Devera, J., 1991, Geologic map of the Glendale Quadrangle, Johnson and Pope Counties, Illinois: Illinois State Geological Survey, Illinois Geologic Quadrangle Map, IGQ-9.
- Dickinson, W.R., and Gehrels, G.E., 2009, U-Pb ages of detrital zircons in Jurassic eolian and associated sandstones of the Colorado Plateau: Evidence for transcontinental dispersal and intraregional recycling of sediment: GSA Bulletin, v. 121, p. 408–433.
- Droste, J.B., and Keller, S.J., 1989, Development of the Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity in Indiana: Indiana Geological Survey Occasional Paper 55, p. 1–11.
- Eble, C., Gillespie, W., Crawford, T., and Rheams, L., 1985, Miospores in Pennsylvanian coal beds of the southern Appalachian basin and their stratigraphic implications, *in* Englund, K.J., Gillespie, W.H., Cecil, C.B., Windolph, J.F., and Crawford, T.J., eds., Characteristics of the Mississippian-Pennsylvanian Boundary and Associated Coalbearing Rocks in the Southern Appalachians, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 85-577, p. 19–26.
- Eble, C.F., Gillespie, W.H., and Henry, T.W., 1991, Palynology, paleobotany, and invertebrate paleontology of Pennsylvanian coal beds and associated strata in the Warrior and Cahaba coal fields, *in* Thomas, W.A., and Osborne, W.E., eds., Mississippian-Pennsylvanian tectonic history of the Cahaba Synclinorium (guidebook for the 28th annual field trip of the Alabama Geological Society), p. 119–132.
- Englund, K.J., and DeLaney, A.O., 1966, Intertonguing relations of the Lee Formation in southwestern Virginia: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 550-D, p. D47–D52.

- Eriksson, K.A., Campbell, I.H., Palin, J.M., Allen, C.M., and Bock, B., 2004, Evidence for multiple recycling in Neoproterozoic through Pennsylvanian sedimentary rocks of the Central Appalachian Basin: The Journal of Geology, v. 112, p. 261–276.
- Ettensohn, F., and Chesnut, D., 1989, Nature and probable origin of the Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity in the eastern United States, Congrès international de stratigraphie et de géologie du Carbonifère, p. 145–159.
- Ettensohn, F.R., Pashin, J.C., and Gilliam, W., 2019, The Appalachian and Black Warrior
 Basins: Foreland Basins in the Eastern United States, *in* Miall, A., ed., The Sedimentary
 Basins of the United States and Canada, Elsevier, p. 129–237.
- Ferm, J., 1974, Carboniferous Environmental Models in Eastern United States and Their Significance, *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States, GSA Special Paper 148, p. 79–95.
- Ferm, J.C., Ehrlich, R., and Neathery, T.L., 1967, A field guide to carboniferous detrital rocks in northern Alabama [Road Logs], GSA Field Trip, p. 40–100.
- Fildani, A., McKay, M.P., Stockli, D., Clark, J., Dykstra, M.L., Stockli, L., and Hessler, A.M., 2016, The ancestral Mississippi drainage archived in the late Wisconsin Mississippi deep-sea fan: Geology, v. 44, p. 479–482.
- Gehrels, G., 2012, Detrital zircon U Pb geochronology: Current methods and new opportunities, *in* Busby, C., and Azor, A., eds., Tectonics of sedimentary basins: Recent advances: Oxford, Blackwell Publishing Ltd, p. 45 62.
- Gehrels, G., and Pecha, M., 2014, Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology and Hf isotope geochemistry of Paleozoic and Triassic passive margin strata of western North America: Geosphere, v. 10, p. 49–65.

- Gifford, J.N., Platt, B.F., Yarbrough, L.D., O'Reilly, A.M., and Al Harthy, M., 2020, Integrating petrography, x-ray fluorescence, and U-Pb detrital zircon geochronology to interpret provenance of the Mississippian Hartselle Sandstone, USA: The Journal of Geology, v. 128, p. 337–370.
- Gillespie, W., and Rheams, L., 1985, Plant megafossils from the Carboniferous of Alabama,
 USA, Proceedings Dixième Congrès International de Stratigraphie et de Géologie du
 Carbonifère, 12-17 September 1983, Madrid, Compte Rendu, Vol. 2, p. 191–202.
- Gleason, J.D., Patchett, P.J., Dickinson, W.R., and Ruiz, J., 1994, Nd isotopes link Ouachita turbidites to Appalachian sources: Geology, v. 22, p. 347–350.
- -, 1995, Nd isotopic constraints on sediment sources of the Ouachita-Marathon fold belt: GSA Bulletin, v. 107, p. 1192–1210.
- Graham, S.A., Dickinson, W.R., and Ingersoll, R.V., 1975, Himalayan-Bengal model for flysch dispersal in the Appalachian-Ouachita system: GSA Bulletin, v. 86, p. 273–286.
- Graham, S.A., Ingersoll, R.V., and Dickinson, W.R., 1976, Common provenance for lithic grains in Carboniferous sandstones from Ouachita Mountains and Black Warrior Basin: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 46, p. 620–632.
- Greb, S.F., and Chesnut, D.R., Jr, 1996, Lower and lower Middle Pennsylvanian fluvial to estuarine deposition, central Appalachian basin: Effects of eustasy, tectonics, and climate: GSA Bulletin, v. 108, p. 303–317.
- Greb, S.F., Pashin, J.C., Martino, R.L., and Eble, C.F., 2008, Appalachian sedimentary cycles during the Pennsylvanian: Changing influences of sea level, climate, and tectonics, *in* Fielding, C., Frank, T., and Isbell, J., eds., Resolving the Late Paleozoic Ice Age in Time and Space, GSA Special Paper 441, p. 235–248.

- Haque, Z., and Uddin, A., 2017, Carboniferous History from Coarse Detritus of theAppalachian-Cahaba System: Conglomerate Clasts from the Upper Pottsville Formation,Cahaba Synclinorium, Alabama: The Journal of Geology, v. 125, p. 45-63.
- Hatcher, R.D., Thomas, W., Geiser, P., Snoke, A., Mosher, S., and Wiltschko, D., 1989,
 Alleghanian orogen, *in* Hatcher, R., Thomas, W., and Viele, G., eds., The AppalachianOuachita orogen in the United States, GSA Geology of North America, Volume F-2:
 Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America, p. 233–318.
- Hatcher, R.D., 2010, The Appalachian orogen: A brief summary, *in* Tollo, R., Bartholomew, M.,Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., eds., From Rodinia to Pangea: The Lithotectonic Record of the Appalachian Region: GSA Memoir 206, p. 1–19.
- Heidlauf, D., Hsui, A., and Klein, G.d., 1986, Tectonic subsidence analysis of the Illinois Basin: The Journal of Geology, v. 94, p. 779–794.
- Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., 2013, Disparate paths in the geologic evolution of the northern and southern Appalachians: A case for inherited contrasting crustal/lithospheric substrates: Geoscience Canada, v. 40, p. 303–317.
- Hobday, D.K., 1974, Beach- and Barrier-Island Facies in the Upper Carboniferous of Northern Alabama *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States, GSA Special Paper 148, p. 209–223.
- Horne, J.C., Ferm, J., and Swinchatt, J.P., 1974, Depositional Model for the Mississippian-Pennsylvanian Boundary in Northeastern Kentucky *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States, GSA Special Paper 148, p. 97–114.
- Horsey, C.A., 1981, Depositional environments of the Pennsylvanian Pottsville Formation in the Black Warrior basin of Alabama: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 51, p. 799–806.

- Hurd, S., and Stapor, F., 1997, Facies, stratigraphy and provenance of the Warren Point Sandstone (Pennsylvanian), Cumberland Plateau, central Tennessee: Southeastern Geology, v. 36, p. 187–201.
- Ingersoll, R.V., Dickinson, W.R., and Graham, S.A., 2003, Remnant-ocean submarine fans: largest sedimentary systems on Earth, *in* Chan, M.A., and Archer, A.W., eds., Extreme depositional environments: Mega end members in geologic time, GSA Special Paper 370: Boulder, Colorado, p. 191–208.
- Jacobson, R.J., 1991, Geologic Map of the Goreville Quadrangle, Johnson and Williamson Counties, Illinois: Illinois State Geological Survey, Illinois Geologic Quadrangle Map, IGQ-7.
- Ketchum, J.W., Culshaw, N.G., and Barr, S.M., 2002, Anatomy and orogenic history of a Paleoproterozoic accretionary belt: the Makkovik Province, Labrador, Canada: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 39, p. 711–730.
- Kissock, J.K., Finzel, E.S., Malone, D.H., and Craddock, J.P., 2018, Lower–Middle Pennsylvanian strata in the North American midcontinent record the interplay between erosional unroofing of the Appalachians and eustatic sea-level rise: Geosphere, v. 14, p. 141–161.
- Laskowski, A.K., DeCelles, P.G., and Gehrels, G.E., 2013, Detrital zircon geochronology of Cordilleran retroarc foreland basin strata, western North America: Tectonics, v. 32, p. 1027–1048.
- Lawton, T.F., Blakey, R.C., Stockli, D.F., and Liu, L., 2021, Late Paleozoic (Late Mississippian–Middle Permian) sediment provenance and dispersal in western equatorial Pangea: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 572, p. 1–35.

- Mack, G.H., Thomas, W.A., and Horsey, C.A., 1983, Composition of Carboniferous sandstones and tectonic framework of southern Appalachian-Ouachita orogen: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 53, p. 931–946.
- Mars, J.C., and Thomas, W.A., 1999, Sequential filling of a late Paleozoic foreland basin: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 69, p. 1191–1208.
- Mason, C.C., Romans, B.W., Stockli, D.F., Mapes, R.W., and Fildani, A., 2019, Detrital zircons reveal sea-level and hydroclimate controls on Amazon River to deep-sea fan sediment transfer: Geology, v. 47, p. 563–567.
- McKay, M., Jackson, W.T., Spurgeon, D., Ionescu, A., and Shaulis, B., 2021, Detrital zircon geothermochronology reveals pre-Alleghanian exhumation of regional Mississippian sediment sources in the southern Appalachian Valley and Ridge Province: Geosphere, v. 17, p. 1840–1860.
- Metzger, W.J., 1965, Pennsylvanian stratigraphy of the Warrior basin, Alabama: Alabama Geological Survey Circular 30, p. 1–80.
- Miller, C.F., Hatcher, R.D., Ayers, J.C., Coath, C.D., and Harrison, T.M., 2000, Age and zircon inheritance of eastern Blue Ridge plutons, southwestern North Carolina and northeastern Georgia, with implications for magma history and evolution of the southern Appalachian orogen: American Journal of Science, v. 300, p. 142–172.
- Morris, R.C., 1971, Stratigraphy and sedimentology of Jackfork group, Arkansas: AAPG Bulletin, v. 55, p. 387–402.
- -, 1974, Sedimentary and tectonic history of the Ouachita Mountains, *in* Dickinson, W.R., ed., Tectonics and sedimentation: SEPM Special Paper 22, p. 120–142.
- Nelson, W., 1989, The Caseyville Formation (Morrowan) of the Illinois Basin: Regional setting and local relationships, *in* Cobb, J., ed., Geology of the Lower Pennsylvanian in

Kentucky, Indiana, and Illinois: Illinois Basin Consortium, Illinois Basin Studies 1, p. 84–95.

- Nelson, W., Greb, S.F., and Weibel, C.P., 2013, Pennsylvanian Subsystem in the Illinois Basin: Stratigraphy, v. 10, p. 41–54.
- Nelson, W.J., Smith, L.B., and Treworgy, J.D., 2002, Sequence stratigraphy of the lower Chesterian (Mississippian) strata of the Illinois basin: Illinois State Geological Survey, Bulletin 107, p. 1–70.
- Nelson, W.J., Devera, J.A., and Denny, F.B., 2016, Bedrock Geology of Pope County, Illinois: Illinois State Geological Survey, pg. 80.
- Owen, M.R., and Carozzi, A.V., 1986, Southern provenance of upper Jackfork Sandstone, southern Ouachita Mountains: cathodoluminescence petrology: GSA Bulletin, v. 97, p. 110–115.
- Park, H., Barbeau Jr, D.L., Rickenbaker, A., Bachmann-Krug, D., and Gehrels, G., 2010,
 Application of foreland basin detrital-zircon geochronology to the reconstruction of the southern and central Appalachian orogen: The Journal of Geology, v. 118, p. 23–44.
- Peppers, R.A., 1996, Palynological correlation of major Pennsylvanian (Middle and Upper Carboniferous) chronostratigraphic boundaries in the Illinois and other coal basins:
 Boulder, Colorado, GSA Memoir 188, pg. 110.
- Potter, P.E., and Siever, R., 1956, Sources of basal Pennsylvanian sediments in the Eastern Interior Basin 1. Cross-bedding: The Journal of Geology, v. 64, p. 225–244.
- Potter, P.E., and Glass, H.D., 1958, Petrology and sedimentation of the Pennsylvanian sediments in southern Illinois: a vertical profile: Illinois State Geological Survey Report of Investigations 204, p. 1–60.

- Potter, P.E., and Pryor, W.A., 1961, Dispersal centers of Paleozoic and later clastics of the upper Mississippi Valley and adjacent areas: GSA Bulletin, v. 72, p. 1195–1249.
- Quinlan, G.M., and Beaumont, C., 1984, Appalachian thrusting, lithospheric flexure, and the Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Eastern Interior of North America: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 21, p. 973–996.
- Rice, C.L., 1984, Sandstone units of the Lee Formation and related strata in eastern Kentucky:U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1151-G, p. 1–53.
- Rice, C.L., and Schwietering, J., 1988, Fluvial deposition in the central Appalachians during the Early Pennsylvanian, *in* Schultz, A.P., ed., U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1839–A–D Evolution of Sedimentary Basins–Appalachian Basin: Denver, CO, p. B1–B10.
- Ross, G.M., and Parrish, R.R., 1991, Detrital zircon geochronology of metasedimentary rocks in the southern Omineca Belt, Canadian Cordillera: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 28, p. 1254–1270.
- Ruppert, L.F., Trippi, M.H., and Slucher, E.R., 2014, Correlation chart of Pennsylvanian rocks in Alabama, Tennessee, Kentucky, Virginia, West Virginia, Ohio, Maryland, and Pennsylvania showing approximate position of coal beds, coal zones, and key stratigraphic units (Chapter D.2), *in* Ruppert, L.F., and Ryder, R.T., eds., Coal and petroleum resources in the Appalachian basin: Distribution, geologic framework, and geochemical character: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1708, p. 1–9.
- Siever, R., 1951, The Mississippian-Pennsylvanian unconformity in southern Illinois: AAPG Bulletin, v. 35, p. 542–581.
- Siever, R., and Potter, P.E., 1956, Sources of basal Pennsylvanian sediments in the Eastern Interior Basin: 2. Sedimentary petrology: The Journal of Geology, v. 64, p. 317–335.

- Simpson, E.L., and Eriksson, K.A., 1989, Sedimentology of the Unicoi Formation in southern and central Virginia: Evidence for late Proterozoic to Early Cambrian rift-to-passive margin transition: GSA Bulletin, v. 101, p. 42–54.
- Sloss, L., 1963, Sequences in the cratonic interior of North America: GSA Bulletin, v. 74, p. 93– 114.
- Sømme, T.O., Helland Hansen, W., Martinsen, O.J., and Thurmond, J.B., 2009, Relationships between morphological and sedimentological parameters in source - to - sink systems: A basis for predicting semi - quantitative characteristics in subsurface systems: Basin Research, v. 21, p. 361–387.
- Steeples, D.W., 1982, Structure of the Salina-Forest City interbasin boundary from seismic studies: UMR Journal--VH McNutt Colloquium Series, v. 3, p. 55–81.
- Sundell, K., Saylor, J.E., and Pecha, M., 2019, Provenance and recycling of detrital zircons from Cenozoic Altiplano strata and the crustal evolution of western South America from combined U-Pb and Lu-Hf isotopic analysis, *in* Horton, B.K., and Folguera, A., eds., Andean Tectonics, Elsevier, p. 363–397.
- Sutherland, P.K., 1988, Late Mississippian and Pennsylvanian depositional history in the Arkoma basin area, Oklahoma and Arkansas: GSA Bulletin, v. 100, p. 1787–1802.
- Thomas, W.A., 1972, Mississippian stratigraphy of Alabama: Alabama Geological Survey Monograph 12, 121 p.
- -, 1974, Converging Clastic Wedges in the Mississippian of Alabama, *in* Briggs, G., ed., Carboniferous of the Southeastern United States: A Symposium Volume: GSA Special Paper 148, p. 187–207.

- Thomas, W.A., 1976, Evolution of Ouachita-Appalachian continental margin: The Journal of Geology, v. 84, p. 323–342.
- Thomas, W.A., and Mack, G.H., 1982, Paleogeographic relationship of a Mississippian barrierisland and shelf-bar system (Hartselle Sandstone) in Alabama to the Appalachian-Ouachita erogenic belt: GSA Bulletin, v. 93, p. 6–19.
- Thomas, W.A., 1988, The Black Warrior basin, *in* Sloss, L., ed., Sedimentary Cover-North American Craton, U.S. (The Geology of North America), Volume D-2: Boulder, Colorado, Geological Society of America, p. 471–493.
- -, 1991, The Appalachian-Ouachita rifted margin of southeastern North America: GSA Bulletin, v. 103, p. 415–431.
- Thomas, W.A., Becker, T.P., Samson, S.D., and Hamilton, M.A., 2004, Detrital zircon evidence of a recycled orogenic foreland provenance for Alleghanian clastic-wedge sandstones: The Journal of Geology, v. 112, p. 23–37.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Greb, S.F., Nadon, G.C., Satkoski, A.M., and Romero, M.C., 2017, Detrital zircons and sediment dispersal in the Appalachian foreland: Geosphere, v. 13, p. 2206–2230.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Sundell, K.E., Greb, S.F., Finzel, E.S., Clark, R.J., Malone, D.H., Hampton, B.A., and Romero, M.C., 2020, Detrital zircons and sediment dispersal in the eastern Midcontinent of North America: Geosphere, v. 16, p. 817–843.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Sundell, K.E., and Romero, M.C., 2021, Detrital-zircon analyses, provenance, and late Paleozoic sediment dispersal in the context of tectonic evolution of the Ouachita orogen: Geosphere, v. 17, p. 1214–1247.

- Uddin, A., Hames, W.E., Peavy, T., and Pashin, J.C., 2016, Detrital history of the LowerPennsylvanian Pottsville Formation in the Cahaba synclinorium of Alabama, USA:Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 86, p. 1287–1297.
- Vermeesch, P., 2013, Multi-sample comparison of detrital age distributions: Chemical Geology, v. 341, p. 140–146.
- Vermeesch, P., Resentini, A., and Garzanti, E., 2016, An R package for statistical provenance analysis: Sedimentary Geology, v. 336, p. 14–25.
- Vervoort, J., 2015, Lu-Hf Dating: The Lu-Hf Isotope System, *in* Rink, W.J., and Thompson, J.W., eds., Encyclopedia of Scientific Dating Methods, Springer Science, p. 379–389.
- Vervoort, J.D., and Patchett, P.J., 1996, Behavior of hafnium and neodymium isotopes in the crust: constraints from Precambrian crustally derived granites: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 60, p. 3717–3733.
- Vervoort, J.D., Patchett, P.J., Blichert-Toft, J., and Albarède, F., 1999, Relationships between Lu–Hf and Sm–Nd isotopic systems in the global sedimentary system: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 168, p. 79–99.
- Wahl, K., Harris, W., and Jefferson, P., 1971, Water resources and geology of Winston County: Alabama: Alabama Geological Survey Bulletin 97, p. 1–29.
- Wang, W., and Bidgoli, T.S., 2019, Detrital zircon geochronologic constraints on patterns and drivers of continental - scale sediment dispersal in the Late Mississippian: Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, v. 20, p. 5522 - 5543.
- Wang, W., Bidgoli, T.S., and Sturmer, D.M., 2021, Exploring the influence of Late Mississippian to Middle Pennsylvanian tectonics on sediment transport through detrital

zircon geochronology, southwestern Kansas and northwestern Arkansas: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 586, p. 1–16.

- Weislogel, A.L., Hunt, B., Lisi, A., Lovell, T., and Robinson, D.M., 2015, Detrital zircon provenance of the eastern Gulf of Mexico subsurface: Constraints on Late Jurassic paleogeography and sediment dispersal of North America, *in* Anderson, T.H., Didenko, A.N., Johnson, C.L., Khanchuk, A.I., and MacDonald, J.H., eds., Late Jurassic Margin of Laurasia—A Record of Faulting Accommodating Plate Rotation: GSA Special Paper 513, p. 89–105.
- Whiting, B.M., and Thomas, W.A., 1994, Three-dimensional controls on subsidence of a foreland basin associated with a thrust-belt recess: Black Warrior basin, Alabama and Mississippi: Geology, v. 22, p. 727–730.
- Whitmeyer, S.J., and Karlstrom, K.E., 2007, Tectonic model for the Proterozoic growth of North America: Geosphere, v. 3, p. 220–259.
- Wizevich, M.C., 1992, Sedimentology of Pennsylvanian quartzose sandstones of the Lee Formation, central Appalachian Basin: fluvial interpretation based on lateral profile analysis: Sedimentary Geology, v. 78, p. 1–47.
- Xie, X., Cains, W., and Manger, W.L., 2016a, U-Pb detrital zircon evidence of transcontinental sediment dispersal: provenance of Late Mississippian Wedington Sandstone member, NW Arkansas: International Geology Review, v. 58, p. 1951–1966.
- Xie, X., O'Connor, P.M., and Alsleben, H., 2016b, Carboniferous sediment dispersal in the Appalachian–Ouachita juncture: Provenance of selected late Mississippian sandstones in the Black Warrior Basin, Mississippi, United States: Sedimentary Geology, v. 342, p. 191–201.

- Xie, X., Buratowski, G., Manger, W.L., and Zachry, D., 2018, U-Pb Detrital-zircon
 Geochronology of the Middle Bloyd Sandstone (morrowan) of Northern Arkansas
 (USA): Implications For Early Pennsylvanian Sediment Dispersal in the Laurentian
 Foreland: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 88, p. 795–810.
- Zou, F., Slatt, R.M., Zhang, J., and Huang, T., 2017, An integrated chemo- and sequencestratigraphic framework of the Early Pennsylvanian deepwater outcrops near Kirby, Arkansas, USA, and its implications on remnant basin tectonics: Marine and Petroleum Geology, v. 81, p. 252–277.

Chapter 4: There and Back Again: Recycling of the Appalachian Signature in DZ U-Pb Records of Phanerozoic North America

Isaac Allred^{1, 2}, Mike Blum¹, Bruce Frederick¹

¹Earth, Energy & Environment Center, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS 66045 ²Indiana Geological and Water Survey, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN 47405

Keywords: detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb provenance analysis, Appalachian-age DZ, Grenvilleage DZ, DZ recycling, primary Appalachian DZ signature

Prepared for submission to the journal Lithosphere

Abstract

The detrital zircon (DZ) U-Pb signature of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system, which includes the Grenville (1250–950 Ma) and Appalachian (500–275 Ma) age groups, dominates the Phanerozoic record of North America. This study presents a comparison of Pennsylvanian to modern DZ samples across North America and demonstrates a persistent Appalachian signature in samples, including a recycled Appalachian signature in the West. Lower Pennsylvanian deposits proximal to the Appalachian orogen are composed of 50–75% Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ, representing the key component in the primary Appalachian signature. It remains unclear how the Appalachian signal was propagated to the West, but Appalachian-age DZ observed in Carboniferous western Laurentian strata may have been derived from the northern Appalachians in the US and Canada or the Ellesmerian orogen.

Triassic DZ samples document transcontinental fluvial systems that reached the western Laurentian margin, but subsequent Jurassic-Cretaceous samples indicate drainage reversal due to the rise of the Mesozoic Western Cordillera. A persistent Appalachian signature exists in these western-sourced, eastward-flowing systems—a phenomenon that continues to the present: samples are frequently composed of >40% Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ. However, none of these systems are interpreted to be sourced by primary Appalachian or Grenville terranes, suggesting a recycled Appalachian signature. The persistent Appalachian signature, originally sourced by the concatenation of two supercontinent-forming orogenic terranes, continues to be the dominant contributor in the DZ record of North America.

Introduction

Appalachian-derived detrital zircons with U-Pb ages from ca. 1300–275 Ma accumulated along the western Laurentian margin in the US during the Late Paleozoic and Early Mesozoic (Gehrels et al., 2011; May et al., 2013; Leary et al., 2020; Lawton et al., 2021). Then, following development of the Mesozoic Western Cordillera (hereafter MWC), this "Appalachian signature" (sensu Thomas et al., 2017) was recycled and transported back to the east, where it became an important component in the DZ U-Pb provenance and geochronological record of the US Western Interior foreland basin (Laskowski et al., 2013; Dickinson, 2018). Here we examine DZ U-Pb age distributions from Pennsylvanian to modern stratigraphic units across North America to illustrate the broader transcontinental scale and trajectory of the recycled Appalachian signature. We argue this broader trajectory reflects major continental- to regionalscale tectonic and geodynamic events, and has dominated the record of sediment dispersal to Mesozoic and Cenozoic basins across North America.

Routing of the Appalachian Signal to the Western Laurentian Margin

The western Laurentian passive margin of southern North America was an active depocenter from the Neoproterozoic through the Early Jurassic (Stewart and Suczek, 1977). DZ U-Pb data from the Grand Canyon in Arizona, the Big Horn Basin in Wyoming and elsewhere show that pre-Mississippian strata were generally derived from the Paleoproterozoic Great Plains orogens (Yavapai-Mazatzal and Midcontinent granite-rhyolite provinces, ca. 1800–1600 Ma and 1550– 1300 Ma, respectively) of the midcontinental and southwestern US (Fig. 1), and Mesoproterozoic Grenville sources that represent assembly of the supercontinent Rodinia (Gehrels and Pecha, 2014). DZ U-Pb ages from the Grenville orogen (Moecher and Samson, 2006) record several stages of orogenesis in eastern and southern Laurentia, and span the period ca. 1300–950 Ma. Grenville zircons first reached the western Laurentian margin of the US during the Neoproterozoic, and had been dispersed across Laurentia from the present-day Arctic to the SW US by the Early Paleozoic (e.g., Rainbird et al., 1997; Dehler et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2012; 2015; Mulder et al., 2017; Rainbird et al., 2017).

The Appalachian cordillera extends >5000 km from eastern Canada to West Texas and northern Mexico (Thomas, 2006; Hatcher, 2010), and formed after Neoproterozoic rifting of the post-Grenville Iapetus Ocean. Arc magmatism was common in the Ordovician Taconic (ca. 480-440 Ma) and Devonian to Mississippian Acadian phases (ca. 400–350 Ma), whereas the Mississippian through early Permian (ca. 320–275 Ma) witnessed the formation of the Alleghenian and Ouachita-Marathon collisional belts on Laurentia and magmatic arcs on Gondwana during the assembly of Pangea. The provincial "Appalachian" DZ U-Pb signature initially accumulated in clastic wedges of the Appalachian foredeep, and represents the integrated record of sediment sources within the Appalachian cordillera (sensu Lawton et al., 2021). This signature is dominated by what we refer to as the APG age group, composed of Paleozoic DZ U-Pb age groups that reflect the different phases of Appalachian orogenesis (10-15% of the total sample DZ), small (<5%) contributions from Neoproterozoic and Cambrian peri-Gondwanan terranes (ca. 850-510 Ma) that accreted to, or formed in, eastern and southern Laurentia prior to and during the assembly of Pangea, and Mesoproterozoic age groups that reflect erosion of Grenville inliers within the Appalachians (40–60% of the total) (e.g., Hibbard and Karabinos, 2013; Thomas et al., 2017).

Isotopic and DZ U-Pb data show that Appalachian-derived detritus reached western Laurentia by ca. 450 Ma (Patchett et al., 1999; Gehrels et al., 2011; May et al., 2013; Gehrels and Pecha, 2014; Gehrels et al., 2020; Leary et al., 2020; Lawton et al., 2021; Saylor and Sundell, 2021). On the initial stages of the journey west the provincial Appalachian signature, dominated by the APG age group, became increasingly cosmopolitan. For example, during the Carboniferous, the provincial Appalachian signature was initially diluted by contributions from the Paleoproterozoic Great Plains orogens that most likely represent recycling of sediments from Paleozoic rocks of the northern US (see Kissock et al., 2018; Allred and Blum, 2021). This diluted signal accumulated in backbulge and peripheral parts of the foreland-basin system, as well as the synorogenic Ouachita deepwater trough. The latter is especially important because collision during the Latest Pennsylvanian and Permian assembly of Pangea also resulted in transformation of the Ouachita deepwater sink into the Ouachita fold-and-thrust-belt source.

Although it is clear the Appalachian signature was transported to western Laurentia during the Carboniferous, the sediment-routing systems that transferred this signal remain poorly defined through the Permian (see Thomas, 2011). Chapman and Laskowski (2019) suggest that longshore drift along the southern Laurentian margin played a significant role. However, Allred and Blum (2021) consider it unlikely that sediment was routed directly to the West from the central and southern Appalachians since much of the eastern US drained to the Ouachita deepwater trough during sea-level lowstands, much of the midcontinent was flooded and dominated by carbonates during sea-level highstands, and the Ancestral Rocky Mountains represented a significant barrier to westward transport. An alternative view by Leary et al. (2020) suggests that part of the APG age group that populates the western Laurentian margin may have been derived

from the northern Appalachians in the US and Canada, and perhaps as far north as the Pangean Ellesmerian and Caledonian orogenies of present-day Arctic Canada and parts of Greenland (Trettin et al., 1991; Beranek et al., 2010) (Fig. 1). Leary et al. (2020) further argue this long-distance transfer may have occurred via transcontinental fluvial systems that have not yet been identified, and/or via north-to-south longshore drift along the western margin.

Breakup of Pangea during the Late Paleozoic to Early Mesozoic resulted in opening of a new rift basin that would later evolve to become the passive margin Gulf of Mexico (GoM) (Filina et al., 2022). Frederick et al. (2020) show the Late Triassic synrift Eagle Mills Formation represented deposition within an internally drained basin, with the provincial Appalachian signature dominating the northern and western extent of the rift system (Fig. 2 and 3). Farther west, however, DZ U-Pb data from the contemporaneous Late Triassic Chinle Formation in the US western interior fingerprints a transcontinental fluvial system that routed the Appalachian signature to the western Laurentian margin (Dickinson and Gehrels, 2008, 2010; Gehrels and Pecha, 2014; Umbarger, 2018; Gehrels et al., 2020). Along the way, the primary Appalachian signature was further diluted by the Paleoproterozoic Great Plains orogens age groups, first from recycling sedimentary rocks of the Ouachita-Marathon collision belts, and then directly from the Mogollon highlands of central Arizona. The Chinle also has a significant ca. 275–200 Ma age group derived from the early Western Cordillera magmatic arc (Gehrels et al., 2020).

Eastward Return and Recycling of the Appalachian Signature

The provincial Appalachian signature still characterizes DZ U-Pb records for river systems discharging to the eastern Gulf of Mexico from the Jurassic to the present day. However, in the
western US, development of the MWC resulted in uplift and incorporation of western Laurentian passive-margin strata into the eastward-propagating Sevier fold and thrust belt (Fuentes et al., 2009; LaMaskin, 2012; May et al., 2013), and formation of the retroarc Sevier foreland-basin system (DeCelles, 2004). By the middle Jurassic, river systems in the west were flowing generally eastward: this large-scale reversal of flow for river systems in the western US was the first stage in development of the modern template for North America sediment routing, and in the transport of a recycled and more cosmopolitan Appalachian signature back to the east. This recycled signature included additional contributions from the Paleoproterozoic Great Plains orogens exposed in the SW US, and volcanogenic zircon grains of Jurassic age from the MWC magmatic arc, which collectively represent the fingerprints that define this change in source and transport direction.

Through the Early Cretaceous, this cosmopolitan recycled Appalachian signature was sequestered within Sevier foreland-basin strata in the US (Laskowski et al., 2013; Dickinson, 2018), and/or merged with east-derived sediment characterized by the primary Appalachian signature within the US midcontinent, and was then routed north to the Alberta part of the foreland-basin system and the Boreal Sea (Blum and Pecha, 2014; Wahbi et al., in review). The zenith of this sediment-routing system is represented by the continental-scale river system that deposited the Aptian McMurray Fm and other members of the Early Cretaceous Mannville clastic wedge, which host the Alberta Oil Sands. In the Albian, the Western Interior Seaway then expanded in the north-south direction, connecting the Boreal Sea to the Gulf of Mexico, which disrupted the convergence of west- and east-derived tributary systems. During this time, Cenomanian fluvial systems of the Dakota group delivered a cosmopolitan recycled APG age group to the western shoreline of the seaway in Wyoming, Colorado, and New Mexico, and a

134

provincial primary APG age group to the eastern shoreline, which extended from South Dakota to Texas (Nazworth, 2019). However, prior to the latest Cretaceous, the GoM drainage area was restricted to the southeastern US, south of the Appalachian and Ouachita collision belts. To the east of the Mississippi embayment, the DZ U-Pb record is dominated by the provincial Appalachian signature, whereas to the west, the DZ U-Pb record is slightly more cosmopolitan because sediment was derived from erosion of the Ouachita fold and thrust belt, which represents sediments initially deposited in the Ouachita deepwater trough that included recycled sediments from Paleozoic sedimentary rocks of the northern US (Blum et al., 2017).

Beginning in the Late Cretaceous, the Sevier foreland basin in the US was undergoing Laramide deformation, but Late Cretaceous to Early Paleocene fluvial systems with headwaters in the fold and thrust belt continued to flow eastward into and through evolving Laramide topography to the western shore of the Western Interior Seaway. With withdrawal of the seaway, Sevier and Laramide-derived rivers flowed east and south, directly to the western GoM in Texas, or continued eastward to join an ancestral Mississippi River and its Appalachian-derived tributaries within the Mississippi embayment (Blum et al., 2017). DZ U-Pb data from the Paleocene Wilcox Group, which extends across the Gulf of Mexico coastal plain from Texas to Alabama, show two dominant sediment-routing systems. The western GoM was fed by a large fluvial system that drained the SW US: the cosmopolitan DZ U-Pb age distribution includes a small recycled APG age group, but is dominated by the Western Cordillera magmatic arc and Great Plains orogens age groups. Farther east within the Mississippi embayment, a west-derived and east-derived tributary network converged to form an ancestral Mississippi River. West-derived tributaries of this ancestral Mississippi River had headwaters that extended into and beyond the central and northern Rocky Mountains, and delivered sediments with a cosmopolitan recycled

135

APG age group to the Mississippi embayment and central GoM, where it comprises ~58% of the total age distribution, with the remainder dominated by zircons from the magmatic arc and Great Plains orogens age groups, which comprise ~10% and ~17%, respectively. East-derived tributaries delivered sediment with the provincial Appalachian signature and primary APG age group to the Mississippi embayment (~82% of the total; Fig. 3).

Headwaters of the Paleocene fluvial system that delivered sediment from the SW US to the western GoM were tectonically dismembered by the Oligocene, and the southwestern extent of GoM drainage was thereafter restricted to the southern Rockies in Colorado, New Mexico, and northern Mexico (Blum et al., 2017). However, DZ U-Pb data from Oligocene and Miocene strata show the pattern of convergence of west- vs. east-derived river systems within lowlands of the central US and the the Mississippi embayment continued (Blum et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2017). Moving forward in time, samples of Plio-Pleistocene age from the Mississippi embayment reflect this convergence as well. Samples from the western lower Mississippi valley margins in Missouri and Arkansas show a cosmopolitan DZ U-Pb signature, where the recycled APG age group comprises ~60% of the total, the Great Plains orogens age group comprises 20–25%, and the Western Cordillera magmatic arc age group comprises ~15–18%. By contrast, samples from the eastern valley margin in Illinois and Kentucky are dominated by the provincial primary APG age group, which comprises 78% of the total, contributions from the Great Plains orogens comprise <10% of the total, and there is no contribution from the MWC magmatic arc.

The modern Mississippi Valley also shows mixing of western and eastern signatures (Blum et al., 2017). DZ U-Pb data from the Rocky-Mountain-sourced Missouri, Platte, Kansas, and Arkansas Rivers, which provide most of the sediment load for the lower Mississippi River

(Meade and Moody, 2010), have a cosmopolitan age distribution that includes the recycled APG age group (~30% of the total), as well as contributions from the Great Plains orogens (~15–20%) and the Western Cordillera magmatic arc (~18% of the total) age groups. Contributions from the Great Plains orogens were likely augmented by erosion of basement rocks exposed in the Laramide Rockies, but Missouri River sediment supply is known to be dominated by erosion and recycling of Sevier foreland-basin strata (Meade and Moody, 2010), such that each of the contributing DZ U-Pb age groups in the Missouri system are likely recycled from older sedimentary rocks. By contrast, samples from the Ohio-Tennessee River system are exclusively dominated by the provincial Appalachian signature, derived directly from the Appalachians or by recycling in the Appalachian foreland-basin system (Fig. 3 and 4).

Discussion and Conclusions

The provincial Appalachian DZ U-Pb signature reflects the integrated contributions of sediment from the Appalachian cordillera (Fig. 3) and dominates the provenance of the Appalachian foreland-basin system and the associated Ouachita deepwater trough. Moreover, this signature was dispersed more broadly across North America during the late Paleozoic through middle Mesozoic where it became an important component of the Western Laurentian passive margin. Today, some 350 Myrs after the Appalachian signature commenced its journey to the west, 70– 85% of the DZ U-Pb ages in modern rivers that drain the Appalachians still belong to the provincial APG age group. By the middle-late Jurassic, ca. ~160 Ma, development of the MWC resulted in uplift of Western Laurentian margin strata, incorporation of sandstones containing the Appalachian signature into the eastward-migrating Sevier fold and thrust belt, and the initiation of eastward-flowing river systems. The APG age group was then recycled, diluted with contributions from the Paleoproterozoic Great Plains orogens and the Western Cordillera magmatic arc, and a very cosmopolitan DZ U-Pb signature was transported back to the east by rivers systems within the Sevier foreland-basin system. Today, some 150 Myrs after the recycled APG age group began making its way back to the east, the lower Mississippi River delivers a mixture of the recycled and primary APG age groups to the Gulf of Mexico, which collectively represent ~40% of the total DZ U-Pb age distribution.

The modern provenance fingerprint for the Mississippi River and Gulf of Mexico basin therefore reflects a convergence of primary and recycled sources that include sediments produced during the Nuna, Rodinia and Pangea supercontinent cycles, as well as the most recent orogenic system in western North America. The journey back to the east resulted in the Appalachian DZ U-Pb signature, and presumably Appalachian-sourced sediment, comprising important constituents in major Mesozoic and Cenozoic North American depocenters, including the middle Jurassic through Late Cretaceous Sevier foreland basin in the western US, the Cretaceous foreland-basin phase of the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, and the Late Cretaceous through Cenozoic Gulf of Mexico passive margin. Eastward propagation of the recycled APG age group took place in a stepwise manner that reflects major tectonic and geodynamic changes, as follows:

(1) During the middle to late Jurassic through Late Cretaceous, the recycled APG age group was dispersed by east-flowing rivers throughout the Sevier foreland-basin fill in the US.

Jurassic-Cretaceous Morrison, Lytle, and Dakota samples display APG characteristics, including a bimodal Grenville signature (Fig. 3). These samples also demonstrate a relatively high percentage of peri-Gondwanan-ages, a Mesozoic-long, western tendency that suddenly began in the Permian (Gehrels et al., 2011; Liu and Stockli, 2019), decreased during the Cretaceous, and abruptly ended in the Cenozoic (Fig. 3 and 4).

- (2) During the Early Cretaceous, the foreland-basin system was not generally flooded by the Western Interior Seaway. Hence the recycled APG age group, derived from the west, converged with the primary APG age group supplied by Appalachian-sourced rivers flowing from the east, and routed sediments to the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin. The foreland-basin system coincided with an axis of dynamic subsidence that has been inferred to have migrated eastward across the central US in the wake of flat-slab subduction along the western margin (Liu, 2015; Wang et al., 2020).
- (3) From the Albian through the Late Cretaceous, the Western Interior Seaway flooded,
 facilitated by both Sevier fold and thrust belt loading and dynamic subsidence (Liu et al., 2011; 2014). During times when the Seaway was at its greatest extent, the recycled APG was delivered only to the western shoreline, and the primary APG was sequestered along the eastern shoreline (Fig. 2, 3, and 4).
- (4) With withdrawal of the Seaway in the latest Cretaceous and early Paleocene, and the proposed evolution of mantle-driven dynamic topography, major river systems were steered southward to the Cenozoic GoM passive margin (Liu, 2015; Wang et al., 2020).

Late Cretaceous to Paleocene drainage reorganization produced the modern template for sediment routing to the GoM as the primary depocenter for the eastern 3/4ths of southern North America. There is no more routing of Appalachian-sourced sediment to the West, but the

recycled Appalachian signal delivered from the west is generally more significant than the Western Cordillera DZ U-Pb signature per se. We suggest the longevity and magnitude of the Appalachian signature throughout the Phanerozoic is due to the crustal concatenation of supercontinent-cycle provincial terranes and argue that the primary and recycled Appalachian-Grenville DZ U-Pb age groups are the most important components of North American sediment routing throughout the Phanerozoic.

Figures



Figure 1. Continental-scale sediment routing interpretations for Middle Pennsylvanian time based on Embry (1988), Peterson (1988), Patchett et al. (1999), Beranek et al. (2010), Gottlieb et al. (2014), Lawton et al. (2015), and Leary et al. (2020). Basemap of North American basement age provinces adapted and modified from Hoffman et al. (1989), Whitmeyer and Karlstrom (2007), Gehrels et al. (2011), Gehrels and Pecha (2014), and Leary et al. (2020). He—Hearne province; MH—Medicine Hat province; Mo—Mojave province; PRA—Peace River Arch region; Ra—Rae province; SI—Slave province; Su—Superior province; TH—Trans-Hudson province; Wo—Wopmay province; Wy—Wyoming province.



Figure 2. Map of North America showing DZ samples that exemplify the late Paleozoic-early Mesozoic westward propagation of the Appalachian signature and the subsequent return to the East. Dark Blue — Pennsylvanian; Purple — Triassic; Light Blue — Jurassic; Green — Cretaceous; Orange— Paleocene; Yellow — Pliocene; Black open circle — modern. General affiliation: Northern-derived—octagon; eastern-derived — triangle; mixed and/or central square; western-derived — circle. See appendix for location information and references.



Figure 3. Pie charts that show percentages of age groups for units from the Pennsylvanian to the Holocene, arranged by relative geography of North America (West to East). The Central column has samples located in the midcontinent or samples of a mixed provenance; the symbol ‡ denotes samples that may not perfectly fit in this three-column classification. Percentages in parenthesis indicate the Appalachian signature (Grenville + Appalachian) per unit. Grenville percentages labeled on charts. The symbol * denotes western samples that preceded the MWC; † denotes that the average of four Chinle samples, although two samples have Grenville and Appalachian ages representing 59% of the total ages.





Figure 4. Normalized kernel density estimates (KDE, bandwidth, 10 M.y.) for samples from the West (A) and East (B). Vertical dashed lines at 350, 450, 1050, and 1150 Ma for reference. The symbol * denotes western samples preceding the MWC; the symbol ‡ denotes samples that may not perfectly fit this West-East classification.

Supplemental Materials



Supplemental Material Figure. Multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) plot for select DZ samples from western and central North America, which typifies the recycled Appalachian signature and the primary Appalachian signature. The greater the distance between samples, the more dissimilar samples are. Samples in the orange, blue and bright purple polygons typify the primary Appalachian signature (>60%). Except for the Lower Missouri, all samples to the left of the above-mentioned polygons have the recycled APG signature. The Lower Missouri River sample has an anomalously high percentage of Grenville ages (53%), but a low Appalachian percentage (1%), and plots to the right. Samples from the East are excluded from this plot, all of which typify the primary Appalachian signature. Table S7: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Chinle, Morrison, Lytle, Dakota)

Table S8: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Rapid Acquisition, Pliocene Mississippi Valley 4 samples)

Table S9: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Rapid Acquisition, Pliocene Mississippi Valley EB-1)

Table S10: DZ and MDS Sample Key

See Appendix for supplemental files S7-S10

References

- Allred, I.J., and Blum, M.D., 2021, Early Pennsylvanian sediment routing to the Ouachita Basin (southeastern United States) and barriers to transcontinental sediment transport sourced from the Appalachian orogen based on detrital zircon U-Pb and Hf analysis: Geosphere, v. 18, p. 350–369.
- Beranek, L.P., Mortensen, J.K., Lane, L.S., Allen, T.L., Fraser, T.A., Hadlari, T., and Zantvoort,
 W.G., 2010, Detrital zircon geochronology of the western Ellesmerian clastic wedge,
 northwestern Canada: Insights on Arctic tectonics and the evolution of the northern
 Cordilleran miogeocline: GSA Bulletin, v. 122, p. 1899–1911.
- Blum, M.D., and Pecha, M., 2014, Mid-Cretaceous to Paleocene North American drainage reorganization from detrital zircons: Geology, v. 42, p. 607–610.
- Blum, M.D., Milliken, K.T., Pecha, M.A., Snedden, J.W., Frederick, B.C., and Galloway, W.E., 2017, Detrital-zircon records of Cenomanian, Paleocene, and Oligocene Gulf of Mexico drainage integration and sediment routing: Implications for scales of basin-floor fans: Geosphere, v. 13, p. 2169–2205.
- Chapman, A.D., and Laskowski, A.K., 2019, Detrital zircon U-Pb data reveal a Mississippian sediment dispersal network originating in the Appalachian orogen, traversing North America along its southern shelf, and reaching as far as the southwest United States:
 Lithosphere, v. 11, p. 581–587.
- DeCelles, P.G., 2004, Late Jurassic to Eocene evolution of the Cordilleran thrust belt and foreland basin system, western USA: American Journal of Science, v. 304, p. 105–168.
- Dehler, C.M., Fanning, C.M., Link, P.K., Kingsbury, E.M., and Rybczynski, D., 2010, Maximum depositional age and provenance of the Uinta Mountain Group and Big

Cottonwood Formation, northern Utah: Paleogeography of rifting western Laurentia: Bulletin, v. 122, p. 1686–1699.

- Dickinson, W.R., and Gehrels, G.E., 2008, U-Pb ages of detrital zircons in relation to paleogeography: Triassic paleodrainage networks and sediment dispersal across southwest Laurentia: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 78, p. 745–764.
- -, 2010, Insights into North American paleogeography and paleotectonics from U–Pb ages of detrital zircons in Mesozoic strata of the Colorado Plateau, USA: International Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 99, p. 1247–1265.
- Dickinson, W.R., 2018, Tectonosedimentary relations of pennsylvanian to Jurassic Strata on the Colorado Plateau, GSA Special Paper 533.
- Embry, A., 1988, Middle-Upper Devonian sedimentation in the Canadian Arctic Islands and the Ellesmerian Orogeny, *in* McMillan, N., Embry, A., and Glass, D.J., eds., Devonian of the World: Proceedings of the 2nd Internatinoal Symposium of the Devonian System Memoir 14, Volume II: Sedimentation: Calgary, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, p. 15–28.
- Filina, I., Austin, J., Doré, T., Johnson, E., Minguez, D., Norton, I., Snedden, J., and Stern, R.J., 2022, Opening of the Gulf of Mexico: What we know, what questions remain, and how we might answer them: Tectonophysics, v. 822, p. 1–30.
- Frederick, B.C., Blum, M.D., Snedden, J.W., and Fillon, R.H., 2020, Early Mesozoic synrift Eagle Mills Formation and coeval siliciclastic sources, sinks, and sediment routing, northern Gulf of Mexico basin: GSA Bulletin, v. 132, p. 2631–2650.
- Fuentes, F., DeCelles, P., and Gehrels, G., 2009, Jurassic onset of foreland basin deposition in northwestern Montana, USA: Implications for along-strike synchroneity of Cordilleran orogenic activity: Geology, v. 37, p. 379–382.

- Gehrels, G., and Pecha, M., 2014, Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology and Hf isotope geochemistry of Paleozoic and Triassic passive margin strata of western North America: Geosphere, v. 10, p. 49–65.
- Gehrels, G., Giesler, D., Olsen, P., Kent, D., Marsh, A., Parker, W., Rasmussen, C., Mundil, R.,
 Irmis, R., Geissman, J., and Lepre, C., 2020, LA-ICPMS U–Pb geochronology of detrital
 zircon grains from the Coconino, Moenkopi, and Chinle formations in the Petrified
 Forest National Park (Arizona): Geochronology, v. 2, p. 257–282.
- Gehrels, G.E., Blakey, R., Karlstrom, K.E., Timmons, J.M., Dickinson, B., and Pecha, M., 2011,
 Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology of Paleozoic strata in the Grand Canyon, Arizona:
 Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 183–200.
- Gottlieb, E.S., Meisling, K.E., Miller, E.L., and Mull, C.G.G., 2014, Closing the Canada Basin: Detrital zircon geochronology relationships between the North Slope of Arctic Alaska and the Franklinian mobile belt of Arctic Canada: Geosphere, v. 10, p. 1366–1384.
- Hatcher, R.D., 2010, The Appalachian orogen: A brief summary, *in* Tollo, R., Bartholomew, M.,Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., eds., From Rodinia to Pangea: The Lithotectonic Recordof the Appalachian Region: Geological Society of America Memoir 206, p. 1–19.
- Hibbard, J., and Karabinos, P., 2013, Disparate paths in the geologic evolution of the northern and southern Appalachians: A case for inherited contrasting crustal/lithospheric substrates: Geoscience Canada, v. 40, p. 303–317.
- Hoffman, P.F., Bally, A., and Palmer, A., 1989, Precambrian geology and tectonic history of North America, *in* Bally, A., and Palmer, A., eds., The geology of North America—an overview, Volume A: Boulder, CO, Geological Society of America, p. 447–512.
- Kissock, J.K., Finzel, E.S., Malone, D.H., and Craddock, J.P., 2018, Lower–Middle Pennsylvanian strata in the North American midcontinent record the interplay between

erosional unroofing of the Appalachians and eustatic sea-level rise: Geosphere, v. 14, p. 141–161.

- LaMaskin, T.A., 2012, Detrital zircon facies of Cordilleran terranes in western North America: GSA Today, v. 22, p. 4–11.
- Laskowski, A.K., DeCelles, P.G., and Gehrels, G.E., 2013, Detrital zircon geochronology of Cordilleran retroarc foreland basin strata, western North America: Tectonics, v. 32, p. 1027–1048.
- Lawton, T.F., Buller, C.D., and Parr, T.R., 2015, Provenance of a Permian erg on the western margin of Pangea: Depositional system of the Kungurian (late Leonardian) Castle Valley and White Rim sandstones and subjacent Cutler Group, Paradox Basin, Utah, USA: Geosphere, v. 11, p. 1475–1506.
- Lawton, T.F., Blakey, R.C., Stockli, D.F., and Liu, L., 2021, Late Paleozoic (Late Mississippian–Middle Permian) sediment provenance and dispersal in western equatorial Pangea: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 572, p. 1–35.
- Leary, R.J., Umhoefer, P., Smith, M.E., Smith, T.M., Saylor, J.E., Riggs, N., Burr, G., Lodes, E., Foley, D., Licht, A., Mueller, M., and Baird, C., 2020, Provenance of Pennsylvanian–
 Permian sedimentary rocks associated with the Ancestral Rocky Mountains orogeny in southwestern Laurentia: Implications for continental-scale Laurentian sediment transport systems: Lithosphere, v. 12, p. 88–121.
- Liu, L., 2015, The ups and downs of North America: Evaluating the role of mantle dynamic topography since the Mesozoic: Reviews of Geophysics, v. 53, p. 1022–1049.
- Liu, L., and Stockli, D.F., 2019, U-Pb ages of detrital zircons in Lower Permian sandstone and siltstone of the Permian Basin, west Texas, USA: Evidence of dominant Gondwanan and

peri-Gondwanan sediment input to Laurentia: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 132, p. 245–262.

- Liu, S., Nummedal, D., and Liu, L., 2011, Migration of dynamic subsidence across the Late Cretaceous United States Western Interior Basin in response to Farallon plate subduction: Geology, v. 39, p. 555–558.
- Liu, S., Nummedal, D., and Gurnis, M., 2014, Dynamic versus flexural controls of Late Cretaceous Western Interior Basin, USA: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 389, p. 221–229.
- May, S.R., Gray, G.G., Summa, L.L., Stewart, N.R., Gehrels, G.E., and Pecha, M.E., 2013,
 Detrital zircon geochronology from the Bighorn Basin, Wyoming, USA: Implications for
 tectonostratigraphic evolution and paleogeography: GSA Bulletin, v. 125, p. 1403–1422.
- Meade, R.H., and Moody, J.A., 2010, Causes for the decline of suspended-sediment discharge in the Mississippi River system, 1940–2007: Hydrological Processes: An International Journal, v. 24, p. 35-49.
- Moecher, D.P., and Samson, S.D., 2006, Differential zircon fertility of source terranes and natural bias in the detrital zircon record: Implications for sedimentary provenance analysis: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 247, p. 252–266.
- Mulder, J.A., Karlstrom, K.E., Fletcher, K., Heizler, M.T., Timmons, J.M., Crossey, L.J., Gehrels, G.E., and Pecha, M., 2017, The syn-orogenic sedimentary record of the Grenville Orogeny in southwest Laurentia: Precambrian Research, v. 294, p. 33–52.
- Nazworth, C., 2019, Evaluating Models for Cretaceous Paleodrainage and Sediment Routing using Detrital Zircon U-Pb Provenance and Geochronology in the Colorado Front Range [M.S. thesis]: Lawrence, Kansas, USA, University of Kansas, 136 p.

- Patchett, P.J., Ross, G.M., and Gleason, J.D., 1999, Continental drainage in North America during the Phanerozoic from Nd isotopes: Science, v. 283, p. 671–673.
- Peterson, F., 1988, Pennsylvanian to Jurassic eolian transportation systems in the western United States: Sedimentary Geology, v. 56, p. 207–260.

Rainbird, R.H., McNicoll, V., Theriault, R., Heaman, L., Abbott, J., Long, D., and Thorkelson,
D., 1997, Pan-continental river system draining Grenville Orogen recorded by U-Pb and
Sm-Nd geochronology of Neoproterozoic quartzarenites and mudrocks, northwestern
Canada: The Journal of Geology, v. 105, p. 1–17.

- Rainbird, R.H., Rayner, N., Hadlari, T., Heaman, L., Ielpi, A., Turner, E., and MacNaughton, R., 2017, Zircon provenance data record the lateral extent of pancontinental, early Neoproterozoic rivers and erosional unroofing history of the Grenville orogen: GSA Bulletin, v. 129, p. 1408–1423.
- Saylor, J.E., and Sundell, K.E., 2021, Tracking Proterozoic–Triassic sediment routing to western Laurentia via bivariate non-negative matrix factorization of detrital provenance data: Journal of the Geological Society, v. 178, p. 1–16.
- Spencer, C.J., Hoiland, C.W., Harris, R.A., Link, P.K., and Balgord, E.A., 2012, Constraining the timing and provenance of the Neoproterozoic Little Willow and Big Cottonwood Formations, Utah: Expanding the sedimentary record for early rifting of Rodinia:
 Precambrian Research, v. 204, p. 57–65.
- Spencer, C.J., Cawood, P.A., Hawkesworth, C.J., Prave, A.R., Roberts, N.M., Horstwood, M.S., and Whitehouse, M.J., 2015, Generation and preservation of continental crust in the Grenville Orogeny: Geoscience Frontiers, v. 6, p. 357–372.
- Stewart, J.H., and Suczek, C.A., 1977, Cambrian and latest Precambrian paleogeography and tectonics in the western United States, *in* Stewart, J.H., Stevens, C.H., and Fritsche, A.E.,

eds., Paleozoic paleogeography of the western United States: Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, Pacific Section, Pacific Coast Paleogeography Symposium I, p. 1–18.

Thomas, W.A., 2006, Tectonic inheritance at a continental margin: GSA today, v. 16, p. 4–11.

- -, 2011, Detrital-zircon geochronology and sedimentary provenance: Lithosphere, v. 3, p. 304–308.
- Thomas, W.A., Gehrels, G.E., Greb, S.F., Nadon, G.C., Satkoski, A.M., and Romero, M.C., 2017, Detrital zircons and sediment dispersal in the Appalachian foreland: Geosphere, v. 13, p. 2206–2230.
- Trettin, H.P., Okulitch, A., Harrison, J.C., Brent, T., Fox, F., Packard, J., Smith, G., and Zolnai,
 A., 1991, Silurian–Early Carboniferous deformational phases and associated
 metamorphism and plutonism, Arctic Islands, *in* Trettin, H.P., ed., Geology of the
 Innuitian Orogen and Arctic Platform of Canada and Greenland: Geological Survey of
 Canada, Geology of Canada, v. 3: 295–341.
- Umbarger, K.F., 2018, Late Triassic North American paleodrainage networks and sediment dispersal of the Chinle Formation: A quantitative approach utilizing detrital zircons [M.S. thesis]: Lawrence, Kansas, USA, University of Kansas, 139 p.
- Wahbi, A., Blum, M.D., and Nazworth Doerger, C., 2022, Early Cretaceous continental-scale sediment routing, the McMurray Formation, Western Canada Sedimentary Basin of Alberta, Canada: GSA Bulletin (in review).
- Wang, H., Gurnis, M., and Skogseid, J., 2020, Continent-wide drainage reorganization in North America driven by mantle flow: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 530, p. 1–8.
- Whitmeyer, S.J., and Karlstrom, K.E., 2007, Tectonic model for the Proterozoic growth of North America: Geosphere, v. 3, p. 220–259.

Xu, J., Snedden, J.W., Stockli, D.F., Fulthorpe, C.S., and Galloway, W.E., 2017, Early Miocene continental-scale sediment supply to the Gulf of Mexico Basin based on detrital zircon analysis: GSA Bulletin, v. 129, p. 3–22.

Chapter 5: Summary

Detrital zircons (DZ) are insensitive to chemical alternation during erosion and transport (Vermeesch, 2012), and thus DZ U-Pb analysis is an ideal tool for large-scale provenance studies (Dickinson and Gehrels, 2010). As a result the number of DZ studies has increased exponentially over the last few decades (Gehrels, 2014). As this technique became more widespread, DZ U-Pb provenance analysis has faced criticism regarding the role of DZ recycling in the rock record (e.g., Dickinson et al., 2009; Schwartz et al., 2019). As with any method, DZ must be contextualized with other geological data, yet DZ provenance analysis still provides a quantitative approach to sedimentology.

Concurrently, clastic sedimentology has experienced a paradigm shift from a multi-decadal focus on facies models and sequence stratigraphy to a broader process-based emphasis on quantifying sediment routing and storage within entire source-to-sink systems. Much progress has been made quantifying properties of modern systems (e.g., Syvitski and Milliman, 2007; Sømme et al., 2009; Blum et al., 2013; Romans et al., 2016; Nyberg et al., 2018a; Nyberg et al., 2018b), including quantitative relationships between fluxes and properties within and between different parts of the system, from tectonic highland source terranes to deepwater sinks.

Chapters 2 and 3 demonstrate that DZ provenance analysis dovetails with the source-to-sink approach by elucidating linkages between source areas and sediment sinks. Like studies of late Cenozoic deep-sea fans (e.g., Fildani et al., 2016; Mason et al., 2017; Blum et al., 2018; Mason et al., 2019), which show that DZ from basin-floor fans fingerprint paleodrainage feeder fluvial systems, DZ results from Early Pennsylvanian fluvial and marginal-marine environments of eastern Laurentia (Chapter 3) and deep-sea fans (Chapter 2) also demonstrate fidelity between source-to-sink. The results of this DZ U-Pb provenance analysis of a late Paleozoic fluvial-todeepwater system indicate that this approach is applicable to other ancient deep-sea fan deposits in other basins.

After the culmination of the Appalachian-Ouachita orogenic system, Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ were disseminated across Laurentia, dominating the subsequent DZ record of North America. The first Appalachian-age DZ to reach western Laurentia may have been derived from the northern Appalachians in the U.S. and Canada, and perhaps from as far north as the Ellesmerian orogen in northern Canada (Leary et al., 2020), which is in contrast to previously interpreted sources from the southern Appalachians (Gehrels et al., 2011; Chapman and Laskowski, 2019). The results of an east-to-west comparison of DZ samples across North America (Chapter 4) demonstrate a persistent, continent-wide Appalachian signature (composed of a high percentage of Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ), including a recycled Appalachian signature from samples in western North America. Western samples, representative of west-toeast flowing Jurassic to Holocene rivers, frequently are composed of >40% Appalachian- and Grenville-age DZ, accompanied by western age groups (e.g., Yavapai-Mazatzal and Western Cordillera). The examination of DZ U-Pb data from Pennsylvanian to modern stratigraphic units (Chapter 4) illustrates the broader trajectory of primary and, especially, recycled Appalachian DZ U-Pb signals. This trajectory reflects major tectonic and geodynamic events, and has dominated the stratigraphic record of sediment dispersal to North American Mesozoic and Cenozoic sedimentary basins. The longevity and magnitude of the Appalachian DZ U-Pb signature is attributed to the close affinity of two source terranes formed by supercontinent cycles.

159

References

- Blum, M., Martin, J., Milliken, K., and Garvin, M., 2013, Paleovalley systems: insights from Quaternary analogs and experiments: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 116, p. 128–169.
- Blum, M.D., Rogers, K., Gleason, J., Najman, Y., Cruz, J., and Fox, L., 2018, Allogenic and autogenic signals in the stratigraphic record of the deep-sea Bengal Fan: Scientific reports, v. 8, p. 1–13.
- Dickinson, W.R., Lawton, T.F., and Gehrels, G.E., 2009, Recycling detrital zircons: A case study from the Cretaceous Bisbee Group of southern Arizona: Geology, v. 37, p. 503– 506.
- Dickinson, W.R., and Gehrels, G.E., 2010, Insights into North American paleogeography and paleotectonics from U–Pb ages of detrital zircons in Mesozoic strata of the Colorado Plateau, USA: International Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 99, p. 1247–1265.
- Fildani, A., McKay, M.P., Stockli, D., Clark, J., Dykstra, M.L., Stockli, L., and Hessler, A.M., 2016, The ancestral Mississippi drainage archived in the late Wisconsin Mississippi deep-sea fan: Geology, v. 44, p. 479–482.
- Gehrels, G., 2014, Detrital zircon U-Pb geochronology applied to tectonics: Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, v. 42, p. 127–149.
- Leary, R.J., Umhoefer, P., Smith, M.E., Smith, T.M., Saylor, J.E., Riggs, N., Burr, G., Lodes, E., Foley, D., Licht, A., Mueller, M., and Baird, C., 2020, Provenance of Pennsylvanian–
 Permian sedimentary rocks associated with the Ancestral Rocky Mountains orogeny in southwestern Laurentia: Implications for continental-scale Laurentian sediment transport systems: Lithosphere, v. 12, p. 88–121.

- Mason, C.C., Fildani, A., Gerber, T., Blum, M.D., Clark, J.D., and Dykstra, M., 2017, Climatic and anthropogenic influences on sediment mixing in the Mississippi source-to-sink system using detrital zircons: Late Pleistocene to recent: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 466, p. 70–79.
- Mason, C.C., Romans, B.W., Stockli, D.F., Mapes, R.W., and Fildani, A., 2019, Detrital zircons reveal sea-level and hydroclimate controls on Amazon River to deep-sea fan sediment transfer: Geology, v. 47, p. 563–567.
- Nyberg, B., Gawthorpe, R.L., and Helland-Hansen, W., 2018a, The distribution of rivers to terrestrial sinks: Implications for sediment routing systems: Geomorphology, p. 1–23.
- Nyberg, B., Helland-Hansen, W., Gawthorpe, R.L., Sandbakken, P., Eide, C.H., Sømme, T., Hadler-Jacobsen, F., and Leiknes, S., 2018b, Revisiting morphological relationships of modern source-to-sink segments as a first-order approach to scale ancient sedimentary systems: Sedimentary Geology, p. 111–133.
- Romans, B.W., Castelltort, S., Covault, J.A., Fildani, A., and Walsh, J., 2016, Environmental signal propagation in sedimentary systems across timescales: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 153, p. 7–29.
- Schwartz, T., Schwartz, R., and Weislogel, A., 2019, Orogenic recycling of detrital zircons characterizes age distributions of North American Cordilleran strata: Tectonics, v. 38, p. 4320–4334.
- Sømme, T.O., Helland-Hansen, W., Martinsen, O.J., and Thurmond, J.B., 2009, Relationships between morphological and sedimentological parameters in source-to-sink systems: A basis for predicting semi-quantitative characteristics in subsurface systems: Basin Research, v. 21, p. 361–387.

- Syvitski, J.P., and Milliman, J.D., 2007, Geology, geography, and humans battle for dominance over the delivery of fluvial sediment to the coastal ocean: The Journal of Geology, v. 115, p. 1–19.
- Vermeesch, P., 2012, On the visualisation of detrital age distributions: Chemical Geology, v. 312, p. 190–194.

Appendix

Supplemental Material Tables

Chapter 2

Please visit <u>https://doi.org/10.1130/GEOS.S.16709722</u> to access the supplemental material for Chapter 2.

Chapter 3

Table S1: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data

- Table S2: DZ Hf Isotopic Data
- Table S3: Petrographic Data
- Table S4: MDS Sample Key
- Table S5: Sources for DZ Age Groups
- Table S6: DZ Percentage per Age Group

Chapter 4

Table S7: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Chinle, Morrison, Lytle, Dakota)

Table S8: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Rapid Acquisition, Pliocene Mississippi Valley 4 samples)

Table S9: DZ U-Pb Isotopic Data (Rapid Acquisition, Pliocene Mississippi Valley EB-1)

Table S10: DZ and MDS Sample Key

Note that Supplemental Material Figures from Chapter 3 and 4 are listed with Chapter 3 and 4

Supplemental Materials (before References).